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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEH

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2731 0000

Fax: (852) 2722 6266

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HM08

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Hong Kong

E-MAIL ADDRESS
info@hkcholdings.com

WEBSITE

www.hkcholdings.com

STOCK CODE
190

=R
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

BEEANEERETBEEMR

EBENERPER

[t 7 55% ¥ AL — HI S
3% 1 (852) 2731 0000

{EE : (852) 2722 6266

B F B R E

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HM08

Bermuda

BEROBFERTDRE

EEPRESELERAF
HE

2 REFR183%

AP 461

BH

info@hkcholdings.com

bl

www.hkcholdings.com

BRAD 15

190

BRERR(EZER)ERARA —FT— \FFH



NATAN
NRTAN
aaaan
H0AN
HEREN
HEREN

-

China’ property sector is cooling given restriction on mortgages,
rising interest rates, and a slowing economy. The trade war with

the U.S. is also dampening sentiment. As a result, residential
sales volume began declining in the second half of 2018, with
declines of 1% year on year in September and October and
4% in November. It increased by 2.5% in December, but poor
Chinese New Year's data suggest that the decline will continue
into 2019. Moreover, the price rise growth for new residential
properties has decelerated for the third straight month. In
January, residential prices for 70 major cities increased only
0.61% compared to December, the slowest pace in nine months.

While the government is beginning to increase liquidity for
favored sectors such as those involved with infrastructure,
there is no indication that credit will be significantly relaxed
for the property sector. The government emphasizes that
"houses should be for living in rather than for speculation.”
With prices high relative to incomes, the government wants to
be careful about any hints that it will reignite another property
bubble. Therefore, the government’s latest policies appear
more to stabilize the market rather than to stimulate it. As a
result, although the government has loosened policy slightly
with regards to the property sector, we do not anticipate any
significant easing of the Loan-to-Value requirements, purchase
or selling restrictions, lowering of housing transaction taxes, etc.

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERES

Given the optimism from the previous property cycle, many
Chinese developers have been heavily leveraged in order to
finance property projects. With the decline in sales volume and
prices, many property developers are now facing a liquidity
issue, with a large amount of bonds maturing over the next
several years.

HKC IS WELL POSITIONED TO TAKE ADVANTAGE
OF THIS DIFFICULT ENVIRONMENT GIVEN LOW
DEBT AND INCREASING RECURRENT REVENUES
FROM COMPLETION OF COMMERCIAL
BUILDINGS IN SHANGHAI.

While this environment is not favorable for heavily indebted
property developers, HKC is well positioned. The Group
has anticipated that this heavily speculative environment
was unsustainable. Therefore, the Group has focused on
profitability rather than sales turnover and has avoided entering
into competitive bids for expensive parcels of land meant for
residential properties. Instead of investing in land in which
returns are expected to only be in the single digits, the Group
has decided to preserve its cash. Therefore, unlike many other
developers, the Group has a strong balance sheet, with a net
debt/equity ratio of only 2%.

The Group's strategy to balance residential sales with leasing
revenues from office and commercial buildings is beginning
to pay off as leasing revenues increased 67% during the year
compared to 2017. China’s residential property markets are
highly volatile, and leasing revenues can reduce some of
that volatility, providing secure cashflows that can be used to
take advantage of opportunities that may periodically arise.
Leasing revenues improved as the Group's two new commercial
buildings in Shanghai: Landmark Center and Sinar Mas Plaza, are
starting to contribute. The two commercial projects are located
in a prime area of Shanghai with outstanding, panoramic views of
the Huangpu River.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERES

UNDERLYING PRE-TAX PROFITS INCREASE 41% BEEANEEGWREBD T NE - BB
ALTHOUGH NET PROFIT DECLINES BECAUSE OF  HAI=FIEmM41% -
LOWER REVALUATION GAINS.

With increased revenues from the Group's recently completed  BEEAREETERTH HEWMEERAMELEM - &
Shanghai properties, HKC's underlying pre-tax profits, defined = EREZRMOEAT AN (ERBEHIEN - &
as profit before income tax excluding fair value adjustments ~ #EREVEQFEARE —AUFELER)H-F
on investment properties and one-off non-operating items,  —-+t % #J387,000,000/& 7T M41%%E —F — \FH)
increased 41% from HK$387.0 million in 2017 to HK$544.4 544,400,000/ 7T, - HE WL T A EBEXR
million in 2018. Higher leasing revenues compensated for lower % » &5 KT P IR EFEE &3 REEEEKRHETH
residential sales as the Group depletes its inventory in Tianjin, & RB& o A - BRBEWERD - =l A ARG
Shenyang, and Jiangmen and given lower demand. However,  @H| ~f&18% °

because of lower revaluation gains, net profit attributable to

equity holders declined by 18%.
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As the following graph illustrates, the Group's underlying pre-tax BT EFR - ANEEEEBT AN FIBEE N EH
profits have steadily improved as the Group has executed on its ~ HE&HEIMIBL T
plans.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERES

RENEWABLE ENERGY PROFITS RELATIVELY
STABLE.

Renewable energy revenues increased 14% to HK$149.5
million. Although wind resources were at similar levels as in
2017, lower overall curtailment and new contributions from the
Group's distributed solar project led to the increase. With lower
operational costs, gross profit for the period increased 14% to
HK$51.9 million. Wind conditions of our wind farms operating
under the associates were similar to 2017. However, net profit for
the year increased only 3% to HK$63.0 million due to a HK$4.2
million foreign exchange loss stemming from depreciation of

Renminbi.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincerest
thanks to each of our business partners, employees,
management and shareholders for their dedication and support,
so critical to the long-term growth of the Group.

OEl Tjie Goan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2019
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, turnover amounted
to HK$1,270.0 million, a decrease of 29% over turnover of
HK$1,789.1 million for the same period in 2017. Gross profit
for the period decreased 5% to HK$640.8 million compared
to HK$676.9 million in 2017. The Group sold fewer residential
properties given credit tightening in the property sector and as
it depletes the inventory of its completed residential properties.
However, focusing on profitability rather than sales turnover,
the Group raised prices an average of 17% on its residential
units, and focused on selling higher margin units, such as villas
and larger apartments. As a result, gross margins on residential
properties sold increased to 35% during the year compared to
25% in 2017.

Gross profit also benefitted from increased leasing revenues
as leasing will increasingly become a greater percentage of
the turnover mix as the Group seeks a balanced approach
between residential sales and commercial and office properties.
During the year, leasing revenues increased 67% to HK$338.0
million, compared to HK$202.8 million in 2017. The Group
started to generate significant leasing revenues from its newly
opened Landmark Center in Shanghai and leasing revenues
also improved at Shenzhen South Ocean Center and Nanxun
International Building Materials City.

The Group recorded a net profit attributable to the equity
holders of HK$734.1 million for the period under review, a
decline of 18% over the previous year as the Group recorded
lower revaluation gains from its Shanghai Landmark Center and
Sinar Mas Plaza (HK$556.1 million gain in 2018 compared to
HK$1,110.5 million gain in 2017). Basic earnings per share for the
year amounted to HK138.8 cents, while basic earnings per share
for the same period in 2017 was HK170.0 cents. Book value per
share was HK$25.0. The Group's attributable value in Landmark
Center is valued at HK$3,797.8 million or HK$7.2 per share, while
Sinar Mas Center Plaza is valued at HK$1,626.7 million or HK$3.1
per share.

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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As at 31 December 2018, the Group's total borrowings and
amount due to a shareholder amounted to HK$3,442.8 million,
representing an increase of 14% when compared with the
equivalent figure of HK$3,022.3 million as at 31 December
2017. The Group's borrowings have increased because of an
additional drawdown on a bank loan related to the Shanghai
Landmark Center. Total borrowings and amount due to a
shareholder as at 31 December 2018 included Hong Kong Dollar
borrowings of HK$385.5 million (31 December 2017: HK$229.2
million) and Renminbi borrowings are equivalent to HK$3,057.3
million (31 December 2017: HK$2,793.1 million).

For the maturity dates of the Group’s outstanding borrowings
and amount due to a shareholder, HK$674.5 million are
repayable within one year or on demand, HK$2,391.1 million
repayable within two to five years, and HK$377.2 million
repayable after five years.

Most of the Group's outstanding borrowings take the form of
interest-bearing loans, with floating interest rates.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had restricted cash of
HK$478.9 million (31 December 2017: HK$398.0 million), mainly
related to the increase on the drawdown of bank loans for
designated purposes. Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
(includes short-term bank deposits) amounted to HK$2,601.9
million (31 December 2017: HK$2,497.4 million).

The Group did not use any financial instruments for financial
hedging purposes during the period under review.

The Group will continue its efforts to create an optimum
financial structure that best reflects the long-term interests of
its shareholders and will actively consider a variety of alternative
sources of funding to finance its future investments.

During the period under review, the Group and certain of its
subsidiaries had charged certain assets worth HK$11,047.6
million (31 December 2017: HK$10,625.8 million) as security for
bank and other loans.
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The Group's gearing ratio, defined as total borrowings plus
amount due to a shareholder divided by total equity as at 31
December 2018 was 22%, compared with 19% as at 31 December
2017. The Group's net debt ratio for the same period was 2%,
compared with 1% as at 31 December 2017. This ratio represents
total borrowings plus amount due to a shareholder minus cash
and divided by total equity.

The Group is a Hong Kong based property developer focusing
on investing and developing property projects in the Mainland
China and aims to develop high quality products to create
sustainable value for its shareholders.

The Group has a diversified property portfolio model with
investments in both residential projects for sale and commercial
projects mainly for rental income. The residential projects
currently are located in Tianjin, Jiangmen and Shenyang. The
Group's commercial projects, which are primarily involved in
office buildings and retail malls, are located in prime business
areas in Shanghai, Shenzhen, Beijing and Guangzhou. The
Group also has commercial property in Nanxun, Zhejiang
province.

Over the long term, the Group seeks to maintain a balance
between residential development for sale and commercial
investment properties for lease in order to create a sustainable
model with growth potential. Residential properties for sale
generate fast turnover, which should enhance return on equity.
Investment properties for lease, on the other hand, create
steady recurring income and cash flow as well as long term
capital appreciation, and are relatively immune from the periodic
restrictions on residential properties.

The Group adopts a very prudent financial policy, and given
the volatility of the property industry, HKC aims to maintain a
conservative net debt/equity ratio. While most of the Group's
projects are in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
Group may consider diversifying by investing in other countries.

The Group has also made an investment in the renewable energy

sector and believes shareholders may benefit from China’s need
to develop non-polluting sources of energy.
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As a China property developer, the Group is subject to Chinese
government property policies, development, marketing, and
other execution risks.

Most of the Group's assets are in Renminbi. The Group conducts
a majority of its business operations in the PRC. The major
portion of revenue, expenses and debts are denominated in
Renminbi. Fluctuation in the exchange rates of Renminbi would
have limited impact on the Group's operations. However,
depreciation of the Renminbi may have an adverse impact on the
Group's book value.

The Group aspires to be a leading sustainable Group, and has
therefore invested in the renewable energy sector, and uses
sustainable technologies in some of its property developments,
such as solar panels.

Revenues from property leasing have increased sharply as the
Group leases out its newly constructed commercial properties in
Shanghai. Leasing revenues in 2018 increased 67% to HK$338.0
million. With occupancy rates at these properties expected
to continue rising in 2019, and the Group having completed
renovations at its Shenzhen Shun Hing Square, leasing revenues
are likely to continue rising in 2019.

However, revenues from residential sales in Tianjin, Shenyang,
and Jiangmen have declined. The Tianjin and Shenyang
economies performed poorly in 2018 and sentiment towards
residential properties deteriorated. Revenues also declined in
Jiangmen as the Group has sold most of its inventory.
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Leasing revenues are expected to increase significantly over
the next couple of years as the occupancy rates of the Group's
two commercial buildings in North Bund increase. The area is
benefitting from the improvement in infrastructure, including the
completion of the International Cruise Terminal, an underground
road connecting to the Bund and a new tunnel linking Hongkou
and Pudong. A continuous pedestrian riverside path starting
from Waibaidu Bridge at the northern end of the historical Bund,
and near the Group's Landmark Center, all the way to Sinar Mas
Plaza, was opened in 2017, making the North Bund area much
more attractive and more closely linked to the historical Bund
district.

Moreover, the area is set to gain from an increasing tendency
of price sensitive tenants to move from the central business
district ("CBD") to nearby fringe districts such as the North Bund.
Eventually, the North Bund, particularly given its proximity and
improving infrastructure, is expected to gradually merge with
the CBD. According to Knight Frank, Shanghai’s office market
remains stable. Grade A lease rates during the third quarter of
2018 in Shanghai stayed flat and Grade A office vacancy rates
dropped 0.5 percentage points to 5% quarter on quarter.

Landmark Center

The Group has a 60% interest in Landmark Center, which is a
commercial complex consisting of two Grade A office towers
and a retail shopping mall, with the total volume of gross floor
area ("GFA") of approximately 246,000 square meters. The
project is located at the junction of North Sichuan and Tiantong
Road, just a few minutes walk from the metro station (Tian Tong
Road connects metro line 10 and line 12), and is also near the
CBD and the historical Bund, and offers panoramic views of
the Huangpu River, the Bund, and Lujiazui. The surrounding
blocks are becoming an increasingly fashionable area with the
recent openings of MGM'’s Bellagio Hotel, located across the
street, and the Bvlgari Hotel. The Peninsula Hotel is also nearby.
Construction of Landmark Center was fully completed during the
period. As a result, the value of the property has increased, and
the Group recorded a HK$552.6 million revaluation gain.
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Landmark Center started generating significant leasing
revenues during the year, with leasing revenues rising to
HK$164.8 million compared to HK$58.5 million in 2017. Despite
continued oversupply of office space in the Shanghai market,
Landmark Center is benefitting from strong demand from
well-known domestic corporations and also multinational
corporations seeking to increase their market share in the local
market. Relaxation of restrictions on some industries previously
dominated by state owned companies such as the insurance
industry, has resulted in increased demand from companies
such as Metlife and AIA, who have both committed to leasing
out significant amounts of space at Landmark Center. Demand
is also strong from co-working space operators, with both
Weworks and Mcentury entering into leasing arrangements. The
Group has also confirmed an office leasing deal with Equinix, a
leading international data center. The Group’s achieved lease
rates at Landmark Center have met with original expectations.
Over 40% of the office space has now been leased out.

Sinar Mas Plaza

Sinar Mas Plaza, in which the Group has a 25% interest, has
a GFA of approximately 257,000 square meters (GFA of
approximately 410,000 square meters including basement) of
office, hotel, and retail spaces. Construction was completed
during the year. The office tower offers highly panoramic views
of the Shanghai skyline. The hotel commenced operation in
2017 and is run by the Starwood Group under the W brand.
While Sinar Mas Plaza is still loss making given it is only partially
occupied, the Group anticipates that it will soon become
profitable as occupancy rates increase.

The Group's property investment portfolio also includes
premium commercial and retail developments in Shenzhen,
Guangzhou, Beijing, and Nanxun. In Shenzhen, the Group
operates Shun Hing Square and South Ocean Center. During the
year, the Group completed renovation of Shun Hing Square, and
held a soft opening on 6 July 2018. Because of the renovation,
leasing revenues were reduced in 2017 but is expected to
increase as new tenants move in at higher lease rates. South
Ocean Center performed well as its occupancy increased to
100% compared to 72% as at 31 December 2017.
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In Guangzhou, the Group owns CITIC Plaza. In Beijing, the
Group operates a retail complex at Legation Quarters, the
former site of the United States diplomatic compound in Beijing.
The Group also owns a trading center for furniture and building
materials in Nanxun, Zhejiang Province, with occupancy currently
at 80%. The Group is in the process of expanding the complex,
with the superstructure completed in January 2019. The 26,900
square meters (including basement) expansion will be launched
in the first quarter of 2019, and is expected to be completed by
the second quarter of 2019.

Tianjin Eka Garden is on a prime location in the Nankai District
of Tianjin. The project consists of villas and high-rise apartments
with total GFA of approximately 150,000 square meters.
Construction for all three phases has been completed.

The market environment for Tianjin has slowed down recently,
with GDP growing 3.4% during the first half of the year,
compared to 9% in 2016 and 3.6% in 2017. Growth declined
primarily because of lower GDP growth in Binhai New Area.
In addition, buying sentiment has been depressed after the
government moved to dampen the speculative environment that
existed in 2017 with the announcement to move many of the
government functions to Xiongan. However, efforts continue to
coordinate the economic development of Beijing, Tianjin and
Hebei province.

During the year, the Group sold approximately 9,100 square
meters of GFA, resulting in contracted sales of RMB211.8 million,
a decline of 57% compared to RMB496.1 million during the
same period in 2017. Sales were slower given limited available
inventory and dampened demand for the remaining higher
priced inventory as some banks are restricting mortgages to
those seeking to upgrade to larger units. However, residential
units were sold at a higher committed price than in previous
years. Prices for service apartments, for example, increased 14%
year-over-year during the period. In addition, the Group sold
more profitable villas. As a result, gross margins rose to 43%
during the year compared to 37% during the corresponding
period in 2017.
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The Group has initiated master planning for its Tuanbo Lake
land bank in Tianjin. The land area can support the development
of approximately 836,000 square meters of what the Group
believes will be a world class residential community and will
provide the Group a substantial development pipeline. The
plan is to develop the site over five phases. The Group has hired
the renowned design firm Chapman Taylor to do the master
planning. However, there has been a delay in submitting this
plan as the Group is waiting for the official completion of the
Tianjin city master plan.

Jiangmen Eka Garden is a residential project with GFA of
approximately 189,000 square meters of villas and high-rise
apartments. The project is located on an excellent site along
a river bank, within a few minutes walk to the Jiangmen/Hong
Kong ferry terminal, an international school, and a marina
club. The site is also close to the Guangzhu Intercity Railway’s
Waihai Station connecting Jiangmen to Guangzhou and Zhuhai.
Jiangmen is part of the Greater Bay Area which is benefitting
from improved infrastructure.

Purchase restrictions during the year dampened demand in
Jiangmen. The Group sold approximately 8,600 square meters
of villas and apartment units, recording contracted sales of
RMB74.3 million, a 62% decrease compared to RMB195.2 million
during the same period in 2017. During the year, the Group
increased the sales price for phase three apartments by 18%
compared to the same period in 2017, and sold more villas at
higher profit-margins. As a result, gross margins increased to
31% compared to 11% in 2017.

RNEBBEREN R ZE R L FBOARZIAE o &t
@A) FAE 2 IR EREE L A836,000F 77K » AL
EiEEZEAKNATR—RHEE NG - WARER
RHEANZEEE - 2ETEE A% - A%
B ZREZZ MR FChapman TaylorETT4RRE R
£l o A - ARAEEESFREMAEBREENT
K B ERIRRZAE -

VT PIZEHEAE R /51 T A2 1 75 49189,000F J3 K Bl 2 Ko
BEETHEKRZEEIER - ZIABLEAFEEM
B IF BERERISE - —FBR SRR RS E
AR Zi& » (SR BRI SEamE R TP Z B
RIkgz BRBEBES 2 NG - JIFIRNERE —
=

7 RERTEHER RN -

AEZORBIASIIFINER  AEESELFIER
BFELB 00T TR - HEEENHEEARYK
74,300,0007C - =T —+F R H A K 195,200,000
TURD62% - WAFE - AEERSE=HAEHNE
B BW-_Z—tFRBEMN% - BB SHFIEE
HEEZHIE - Bt - EMEREAE3N%  BE-F
—EFARN% -

BEER(ER)BRLT —T—/\FFR



NATAN
NRTAN
aaaan
H0AN
HEREN
HEREN

-

Shenyang Eka Garden, located in one of Shenyang'’s prime
residential areas, is adjacent to Shenyang’s Nanhu Park in
the center of city. The project, subdivided into sites A, B, and
C, comprises GFA of approximately 266,000 square meters
of townhouses, high-rise apartments, and a few commercial
shops. For site B (GFA: approximately 133,500 square meters),
construction of all four high-rise towers and townhouses have
been completed. Site C (GFA: approximately 57,500 square
meters) is divided into two portions. One completed portion
consists of two high-rise blocks (mainly for housing resettled
residents) with ground floor shops and a small communal block.
A second portion, with a GFA of approximately 6,400 square
meters (GFA of approximately 9,590 square meters including
basement) is now being developed into low-rise apartments.
The basement construction was completed just before the
winter. Construction of the superstructure will commence in
April 2019. Pre-sales is scheduled for the first quarter of 2019.
Construction is expected to be completed by the first quarter
of 2020. Preparation for development of site A, with GFA of
approximately 75,000 square meters, is underway. The Group
continues to work with the local government to complete the
relocation of the residents on site A.

The market environment for Shenyang was subdued during the
year as a weak economy and purchase restrictions adversely
impacted demand. Upgrade demand for the Group's larger
units were impacted by government restrictions on providing
mortgages for second units. For the year, the Group sold
approximately 17,100 square meters of GFA, resulting in
contracted sales of RMB239.2 million, a decrease of 55%
compared to RMB532.6 million in the same period in 2017.
During the year, the Group increased the sales price for its
apartments by over 5%. Gross margins rose to 36% compared to
28% in 2017.
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All of the Group's renewable energy projects are under its
subsidiary, China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
("CRE"). Although wind resources were at similar levels as in
2017, lower overall curtailment and new contributions from the
Group's distributed solar project has led to a 14% increase in
revenues. In 2018, curtailment at Mudanjiang has been reduced
from 16% to 7%; and at Siziwanggqi, from 28% to 17%. However,
net profit for the year only increased 3% to HK$63.0 million as
currency exchange loss of HK$4.2 million was recorded due to
Renminbi depreciation. Please refer to CRE's annual report for
more details.

The Group expects leasing revenues to continually improve as
the Group leases out its properties at the Landmark Center and
Sinar Mas Plaza. These two properties will provide the Group
with steady cash flow over the long term and are relatively
immune from residential focused credit tightening by the
government. Leasing revenues should also improve at Shun Hing
Square in Shenzhen as the Group completed renovation in 2018.
With completion of renovation, leasing revenues are expected to
increase as the commercial complex is expected to attract more
quality tenants.

However, the Group believes that the sales outlook for
residential properties in 2019 will remain subdued given a
weakening Chinese economy. There have been some indications
that the government is relaxing its policies toward the property
sector, however, the Group does not expect these changes to be
significant as the government remains highly concerned over the
speculative nature of the property markets.

With regard to existing residential properties, the Group will
continue focusing on sales of its residential properties in Tianjin,
Shenyang and Jiangmen. For future residential development,
the Group is focusing on its Tuanbo Lake land bank. The site
can support the development of approximately 836,000 square
meters of residential development and will be developed over
five phases. However, the Group needs to wait until the official
completion of the Tianjin City master plan before obtaining the
necessary development permits. In Shenyang, work is continuing
on the construction of additional low-rise apartments, with target
completion by early 2020.
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In Nanxun, the Group still has one plot of land that can be
developed. The land has been approved for the construction
of a commercial building offering high-end furniture outlets.
This extension area will be synergistic with the existing building
materials and furniture trading center that is adjacent to the land.
Construction has begun, the 26,900 square meters (including
basement) expansion will be launched in the first quarter of 2019,
and with target project completion expected by the second
quarter of 2019.

Over the last couple of years, the Group has been reluctant to
purchase land bank at what it perceives to be at inflated values.
Property markets are inherently cyclical, and the Group looks for
opportunities that will increase shareholder value rather than just
building a large land bank. As a result, the Group does not face
the financial pressures that other property developers face given
the current severe credit tightening environment. Therefore, the
Group views the current environment as an opportunity rather
than a crisis. The Group has a very strong balance sheet, and
unlike many property developers that have a large net debt/
equity ratio, the Group's net debt ratio was only 2% as at 31
December 2018. In 2019, the Group hopes to leverage its strong
balance sheet to take advantage of any opportunities that might
arise given the many companies that are seeking to deleverage.

Curtailment is expected to continue declining in 2019 as new
transmission lines are completed and new policies to encourage
the usage of renewable energy are implemented. The Group is
continuing to construct its Songxian project in Henan Province.
Completion of this project was delayed and it is now expected to
be completed by the first half of 2019. Upon completion, CRE's
net wind power generation capacity is expected to increase
by 21%. In addition, the Group has received approval from the
Luoyang Development and Reform Commission to construct
an additional 40 MW of wind power at Songxian. The Group is
now waiting to obtain the grid interconnection approval. CRE
is optimistic over this project given the curtailment rate in this
region is relatively low and wind tariff rate is relatively high.

Please refer to CRE's annual report for more information.
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As of 31 December 2018, the Group employed approximately
240 employees across its operations in Hong Kong and the
Mainland China. All employees are remunerated according
to the nature of their jobs, their individual performances, the
Group's overall performance and prevailing market conditions.

Through CRE, the Group has been one of the earliest investors
in China’s renewable energy sector. As such, the Group has been
heavily involved in environmental protection and support for
the low carbon development of China. CRE has over 660 MW of
operating wind farms in Hebei, Heilongjiang, Gansu and Inner
Mongolia provinces. With a total electricity generation of 1,362.2
GWh, CRE has reduced coal assumption by approximately
443,000 tons and carbon emission by 1,054,000 tons.

As a responsible property developer, the Group strictly complies
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
and has adopted effective environmental technologies to ensure
its projects meet the construction standards and ethics in respect
of environmental protection. Measures have been put in place
to control solid waste, waste water and waste gas emissions;
and also to control noise pollution. Reflecting its belief in the
importance of renewable energy, the Group recently installed
solar panels on the rooftops of its commercial buildings in
Nanxun.

The Group's emphasis on sustainability is reflected in its
construction projects. The Group imposes strict controls to
ensure adherence to the relevant construction regulations. The
overall project designs focus on fitting in with the surrounding
natural environment and fully utilising local natural resources.
The construction should be sustainable, eco-friendly and
integrated into nature, with high energy efficiency and should
not harm the local eco-system. The interior design of its
buildings is designed to create a healthy living environment and
to make full use of daylight in order to conserve energy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group regards people as its most important asset. Over
the years, the Group has put considerable effort to provide a
safe and healthy staff environment for its employees. The Group
offers a comprehensive and competitive package of benefits
to attract and retain talent. The Group is committed to provide
a safe, effective and congenial work environment. Adequate
arrangements, training and guidelines are implemented to
ensure the working environment is healthy and safe. Different
safety-related initiatives and measures have been rolled out in
the Company’s operations. Risk assessments are also conducted
to identify risks in special working environments, while detailed
safety instructions have been formulated and communicated to
workers as part of their safety training sessions. Safety officers
are appointed to coordinate and communicate safety-related
matters to workers on site.

The Group has issued a “Code of Conduct & Business Ethics”
(the “Code”) to all the directors and employees of the Group
and has been uploaded to the Company’s website. The Code
sets out the principles to guide the directors and employees
of the Group to conduct all the business affairs in accordance
with the highest business ethical standards. A “Whistle-blowing
Guideline” has been created for the reporting of any illegal
activities.

The Group is committed to participate in the community where
we operate with an aim to the improvement of community well-
being and social services. Through the hiring of locals using
market compatible remuneration packages, the Group is able
to share its operational returns with the local community and

contribute back to society.
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(Non-executive Director and Chairman)

Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, aged 74, is the Chairman and an Non-
executive Director of the Group since April 2004. Mr. OEl was a
graduate of the Mathematics & Dynamics Department of Beijing
University where he majored in Computational Mathematics.
Involved in Asia’s pulp and paper, finance, banking, property and
agricultural industries since 1974, Mr. OEl sits on the board of
two listed companies in Indonesia: PT. Indah Kiat Pulp & Paper
Tbk. and PT. Pabrik Kertas Tjiwi Kimia Thk. Mr. OEl is the father
of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

(Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, aged 48, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Group since April 2004. Mr. OEl is the Chief
Executive Officer and the chairman of the Executive Committee
of the Company. Mr. OEl was appointed as a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company on 20 March 2019. Mr. OEl also holds several
directorships in other members of the Group. Mr. OEl was
educated in the USA, and obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Economics (with a minor in Electrical Engineering) and a Master's
Degree in Business Administration. Earlier in his career, Mr. OEIl
worked with Peregrine Securities Ltd. and PCCW in Hong Kong,
the LG Group in Seoul and McKinsey & Co. in Los Angeles,
USA. Mr. OEl is a son of Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, the Chairman of the
Group. Mr. OEl is also the sole director and the sole shareholder
of Claudio Holdings Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Mr. OEl is currently an Executive Director, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited, a subsidiary of the Company and the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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(Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel, aged 55, is an Executive Director
of the Company since September 2015. Mr. LEUNG also serves
as a director of certain members of the Group and Chief
Financial Officer and a member of the Executive Committee of
the Company. Mr. LEUNG has been appointed as an Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (“CRE"), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, the shares of which are also listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange since 1 December 2008. He joined
the CRE Group in April 2008 as Qualified Accountant. He also
holds several directorships in other members of CRE Group
and is a member of the Executive Committee of CRE. Mr.
LEUNG is a certified practising accountant of CPA Australia. He
obtained a Master’'s Degree in Business from RMIT University
of Australia. He has over 20 years’ experience in auditing and
finance management with an international audit firm and other
major conglomerates in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the CRE
Group, Mr. LEUNG was a director of internal control and risk
management of the Company.

(Executive Director)

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel, aged 53, is an Executive Director of the
Company since January 2014. Mr. LEE also serves as a director
of certain members of the Group and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company. Mr. LEE is the Project Director of
Property Department of the Group since December 2010. Mr.
LEE holds a Professional Diploma in Quantity Surveying (Hong
Kong Polytechnic), a Bachelor of Laws (LLB) degree with honours
(City University, Hong Kong) and an MSc degree in Construction
Management (Reading University, UK). He is a Registered
Professional Surveyor, a member of The Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors and a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors. Mr. LEE has over twenty years of project
management experience in property developments in Hong
Kong and China. Before joining the Group, Mr. LEE was the
General Manager (Property Projects) of the Property Department
of CITIC Pacific Limited.
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(Executive Director)

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy, aged 58, has been appointed
as Executive Director of the Company since January 2014. He
has been instrumental in raising funds for the Group and is
currently serving as a member of the Executive Committee
of the Company. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. WONG is the Investor Relations Director of
the Group and has been with the Group since 2007. He has
also served as a former Chief Financial Officer. Mr. WONG is
an Executive Director of China Renewable Energy Investment
Limited, a listed subsidiary of the Company, the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. WONG received a Bachelor's degree in the geophysical
sciences from the University of Chicago and an MBA from
the Yale School of Management. He started his career as an
investment banker at Kidder, Peabody in New York, where
he was involved in project finance. He moved to Hong Kong
with Bear Stearns, and was involved in a variety of corporate
finance activities, and was involved in some of the first H share
IPOs out of China. Mr. WONG then worked in equity research
at Societe Generale where he was in charge of the research
efforts in Shanghai; and later as Vice President and head of
China Research at Credit Suisse in Hong Kong. Before joining
the Company, Mr. WONG served as a Chief Financial Officer for
DVN Holdings Limited (now known as “Frontier Services Group
Limited”), where he was involved in fund raising and introducing
strategic investors to the company.
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(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico, aged 58, is an independent non-
executive director of the Group since April 2004. Mr. CHUNG
graduated from the University College, University of London,
England with a Law Degree in 1983. After qualifying as a solicitor
in Hong Kong in 1986, Mr. CHUNG spent 2 years working with
the commercial department of a local law firm. He subsequently
joined the corporate finance department of Standard Chartered
Asia Ltd., the investment banking arm of Standard Chartered
Bank, in 1988.

In 1990, Mr. CHUNG became a director and General Manager
of Bond Corporation International Ltd., leaving to join China
Strategic Holdings Ltd in 1992. In March 1999, he joined the
Pacific Century Group as executive director with responsibility
for the group’s merger and acquisition activities. Mr. CHUNG
is currently the executive chairman of CSI Properties Limited,
a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, and a non-executive director of HKT Limited and HKT
Management Limited (in its capacity as the trustee — manager of
the HKT Trust).
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(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 58, is an independent non-executive
director of the Group since July 2004. Mr. CHENG holds a Master
of Science Degree in Economics, Accounting and Finance and
a Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) Degree in Accounting. He is a fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Ontario. His career includes more than 20 years' accounting and
corporate advisory services expertise in several listed companies
in Hong Kong. The co-founder of a Hong Kong merchant
banking firm, Mr. CHENG is the proprietor of a certified public
accountancy practice in Hong Kong.

Mr. CHENG is currently an independent non-executive director
of CSI Properties Limited, Goldbond Group Holdings Limited,
C.P. Lotus Corporation, Chia Tai Enterprises International
Limited, Chong Hing Bank Limited, CPMC Holdings Limited,
Top Spring International Holdings Limited, Liu Chong Hing
Investment Limited, DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings
Company Limited, Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited,
Somerley Capital Holdings Limited and Kidsland International
Holdings Limited, all being Hong Kong listed companies.
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(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior (alias: Alberto Thomaz DA
ROSA, Junior ZE#l1A), aged 65, is an independent non-executive
director of the Group since September 2004. Mr. DA ROSA holds
both Bachelor's and Master’s Law Degrees from The University
of Hong Kong. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1980.
He is currently a practicing solicitor and a partner of Messrs.
Cheung Tong & Rosa Solicitors, Hong Kong.

Mr. DA ROSA is a fellow of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, a member of the Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute and an accredited
mediator with certain institutions in the U.K. and Hong Kong.

Mr. DA ROSA is a non-executive director of TCL Electronics
Holdings Limited and the company secretary of Y.T. Realty
Group Limited and Yugang International Limited, all of which are
companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. DA ROSA serves as the chairman of the Board of Review
(Inland Revenue Ordinance) Panel. He is a member of the
Standing Committee on Standards and Development of The
Law Society of Hong Kong. He served as chairman of the
Appeal Tribunal (Buildings) Panel from 2009 to 2017. He served
the Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal Panel from 1998 to 2014 as
member, deputy tribunal convenor and ultimately the tribunal
convenor. He also served as member of the Academic and
Accreditation Advisory Committee of the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong from 2003 to 2009.
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HKC (Holdings) Limited (the “"Company”, and with its
subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is committed to good
corporate governance principles and practices and its board of
directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) recognizes that it is
essential to safeguard the interests of shareholders, customers
and employees and uphold accountability, transparency and
responsibility of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
the code provisions and certain recommended best practices
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”),
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during the year ended 31
December 2018, save for the deviations with considered reasons
as explained stated in the following relevant paragraphs.

The Company has at all time during the year ended 31
December 2018 maintained a balanced board with strong
independent element. The Board currently comprises eight
Directors with four Executive Directors, one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors. Each
Director possesses expertise and experience and provides
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Group
and the shareholders as a whole. In addition, the Company had
maintained three Independent Non-executive Directors which
formed at least one-third of the full Board. Biographical details
of the Directors and their relationships, where applicable, are set
out in pages 21 to 26 of this Annual Report.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three Independent Non-executive Directors with at least one
Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors was assessed in accordance with the
applicable Listing Rules. Each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors has provided to the Company an annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of them are independent.
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The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company
were exercised by two different individuals. Mr. OEl Tjie Goan
is the Chairman and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ") of the Company. Their responsibilities had
been clearly set out and approved by the Board. The Board
considers that this arrangement facilitates the execution of the
Group's business strategies and maximizes effectiveness of its
operation. The Board shall nevertheless review its structure from
time to time and will consider appropriate move to take should
circumstances so required. Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, the Chairman of
the Company, is the father of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, CEO.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Group by directing and supervising the Group's affairs
and formulating business strategies with a view to maximizing its
financial performance and shareholders’ value.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities and powers
to the Board committees to assist it in efficiently implementing
those functions specified in written terms of reference.

Decisions relating to the long-term objectives and viability of
the Company, and any acquisitions or disposal of transactions
and investments of any kind with value exceeding the authority
of the Executive Committee set out in its terms of reference or
the threshold for discloseable transactions for the Company as
defined in the Listing Rules from time to time are reserved for
the Board; whereas decisions on matters set out in the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee and those not specifically
reserved for the Board are delegated to the Executive
Committee and management, as applicable.

Directors are provided with sufficient resources to seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties
at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to consult
with the Company’s senior management independently. The
management provides monthly management accounts of the
Group to the Directors to apprise them of the Group's latest
performance and financial position.
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Directors are requested to disclose to the Company at the time
of his appointment and in a timely manner for any change,
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments. Such changes
will be updated and published in the annual and interim reports
as appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Group's Directors for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

All new appointment of Directors and nomination of Directors
proposed for re-election at the annual general meeting are first
considered by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent on criteria
such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. Having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board, the Nomination
Committee will then put recommendations to the Board for
decision. Details of the role and function as well as a summary of
the work performed by the Nomination Committee are set out
under the heading of “Nomination Committee” below.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws (“Bye-laws”), the
nearest to but not less than one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation but are eligible for re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting provided that every
Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. New appointments to the Board are also subject to
re-election by shareholders at the next following annual general
meeting (in the case of an addition to the Board) or at the
following general meeting (in the case filling the casual vacancy).

All Non-executive Directors of the Company were appointed
with no specific term, but are subject to the aforesaid rotation
requirement in the Bye-laws, accomplishing the same purpose as
being appointed for a specific term pursuant to code provision
A.4.1 of the CG Code. The rotating Directors who are subject to
retirement and re-election at the 2019 annual general meeting
are set out on page 64 of this Annual Report.
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The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and exchange
ideas on the affairs of the Company. The Board has set up
various Board Committees, among others, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Executive Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the
Group's affairs. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
are available on both the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee were held and the attendance of the individual
Directors at these meetings is set out in the table below:

Name of Directors =
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric ERIEE
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel FEREAE
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy BEREE
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel PERFHE
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. OEl Tjie Goan BHERELE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkQTES
Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico BREEEE
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo Lfpiib it
Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior FATE

Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as
invitees.
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Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular
board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to
attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers
are dispatched to the Directors or committee members at
least three days before the meetings to ensure that they have
sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately prepared
for the meetings. When Directors or committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they are advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to
the Chairman and/or the CEO prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the
Board and the committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each
board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the Directors
for comments within a reasonable time after the date of the
meeting. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary,
who is responsible for ensuring that the board procedures are
complied with and advising the Board on compliance matters.

The Board continues to maintain a culture of openness and
constructive relations between Executive and Non-executive
Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors).
In the absence of the Chairman, the CEQO is in the position to
facilitate the effective contribution of Non-executive Directors,
and ensure their views are communicated and heard by the
Board. During the year, the Chairman did not hold any formal
meeting with Independent Non-executive Directors and Non-
executive Director without the Executive Directors present (as
provided for in code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code) due to the
tight schedule of the Chairman and Non-executive Directors.
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The Company has established a Remuneration Committee
with written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee,
chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director, comprises
four members namely Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico, Mr. CHENG
Yuk Wo and Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior, who are
Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric
who is the Executive Director and CEO and was appointed as a
member on 20 March 2019.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policy and structure for Directors and senior management,
and reviewing their remuneration packages. In arriving at its
recommendations, the Remuneration Committee will consult
with the Chairman and/or the CEO whenever it thinks fit and
take into consideration factors such as the remuneration paid
by comparable companies, skill, knowledge, time commitment
and responsibilities of Directors. The Remuneration Committee
has the responsibility, powers and discretion to determine,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting to review, inter alia, the remuneration policy
and structure of Directors including those retired and re-
elected at the 2018 annual general meeting of the Company
and approve the year-end bonus and salary increment of the
Executive Directors. No Director was involved in deciding his
own remuneration. The attendance records of each member
at the meetings of the Remuneration Committee held during
his term of office are set out on page 30 of this Annual Report.
Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in Note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company has established a Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference. The Nomination Committee, chaired
by an Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four
members namely Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico, Mr. CHENG Yuk
Wo and Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior, all of whom are
Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric
who is the Executive Director and CEO was appointed as a
member on 20 March 2019. The Nomination Committee held
one meeting during the year, and the attendance details of each
member are set out on page 30 of this Annual Report.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually,
identifying suitable candidates for directorship, assessing
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors,
and making recommendations to the Board on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy.

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee includes the following:

. reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;
° reviewing the structure of board committees;
o assessing the independence of Independent Non-

executive Directors and sufficient number of independent
directors to maintain a balanced board;

o making recommendation to the Board relating to the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors; and

o reviewing the progress report from the management in
relation to the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company had provided the Nomination Committee
sufficient resources to perform its duties. Where necessary,
the Nomination Committee could seek independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its
responsibilities.
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The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 8 July 2013.

Below is the summary of the Board Diversity Policy:

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as
an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. All
appointments of the members of the Board are made on merit,
in the context of the skills and experience the Board as a whole
requires to be effective. In designing the Board composition,
the Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all
aspects and does not discriminate on the grounds, including
but not limited to, ethnicity, gender, age, cultural and religious
background.

The Nomination Committee discussed and agreed the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommended them to the Board for adoption. During the year,
the Committee reviewed the existing composition of the Board
and identified the key business skills and experience required in
line with the business strategy. It also monitored the review of
the Company’s recruitment process to reinforce its commitment
to the principle of equal opportunity.

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference which have been updated from time to time
to align with the code provisions set out in the CG Code. The
Audit Committee, chaired by an Independent Non-executive
Director, comprised three members namely Mr. CHUNG Cho
Yee, Mico, Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo and Mr. Albert Thomas DA
ROSA, Junior, all of whom are Independent Non-executive
Directors at all time during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to,
inter alia, review and supervise the Group's financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management procedures, as
well as oversee the adequacy of the accounting and financial
reporting resources. While recognized corporate governance
is the collective responsibility of all Directors, the Board has
delegated the corporate governance functions to the members
of Audit Committee who are in an objective and independent
position to oversee the corporate governance compliance.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings together with senior management and external
auditor. The attendance details of each member are set out on
page 30 of this Annual Report. The major work performed by the
Audit Committee during the year included reviewing interim and
annual financial statements, continuing connected transactions,
internal audit reports on the internal control and risk
management matters, the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance as well as reviewing and recommending
re-appointment of external auditor.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy for
employees to raise concerns, in confidence, with the designated
executive who is accountable to the Audit Committee about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, unlawful activities,
or activities violating the Group's Code of Conduct and Business
Ethics or otherwise amounting to serious improper conduct and
to ensure protection from possible retaliation against any of our
employees who has reported concerns in good faith.

The Company has established an Executive Committee with the
key initiatives to manage the Group’s business activities, and
oversee the operating performance and financial position of the
Group and all strategic business units. The Executive Committee
comprises all Executive Directors of the Company and chaired by
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee met
regularly to review the performance of various business units of
the Group, co-ordinate overall resources, made financial and
operation decisions delegated by the Board, review and develop
investment strategy and policies of the Company and make
relevant recommendations to the Board.
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The management, consisting of the Executive Directors
and other executives of the Company, is delegated with
responsibilities for implementing the strategy and direction as
adopted by the Board from time to time, and conducting the
day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive Directors and
senior executives meet regularly to review the performance
of the businesses of various business units of the Group as a
whole, co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and
operation decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as
to their powers of management including circumstances where
management should report back, and will review the delegation
arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the needs of the Group.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
Having made specific enquiries, the Company has obtained
confirmation from all Directors that they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the
Company'’s securities by relevant employees, who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished inside information in relation to
the securities of the Group, on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 which
give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the Group's results and cash flows. In preparing
the financial statements, the Directors have adopted generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable
and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 82 to 91 of this
Annual Report.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the fees in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by the
auditor amounted to approximately HK$4.8 million and HK$1.5
million respectively. The non-audit services mainly consist of
interim results review services and tax advisory services.

During the year, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The training programmes included
seminars and courses, reviewed the updated laws, rules and
regulations and materials on topics relevant to the director’s
duties and responsibilities. A summary of training received by
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 according to
the records provided by the Directors is as follows:

Name of Directors EEHE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric =l et
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel TERGE
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy EFHER LA
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel PRI
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. OEI Tjie Goan |mEREE
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico ERRTE
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo BRGNS A
Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior BYIEELE
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Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and
other relevant topics
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DIRECTORS' TRAINING (continued)

The Company continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and
the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. In addition, the Directors are regularly
encouraged to enroll in a wide range of professional
development courses and seminars regarding the Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements to enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness,
while management is charged with the responsibility to design,
implement and monitor the risk management and internal
control systems to manage risks and compliance.

Risk Management Model

BEEEI @)
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BRERZEHMER - ABBREBITIA o thoh - K
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FERBHREE -

B e A BB B A

EERBEERAREZABEEMABEIZRS
Wikt HARR - MERERERRE - SUITREREA
RERMANMEZERSAERRRMREEE -

b E AR

The Board/Audit Committee EE& ERXESE

Senior Management SR EEE

(Own and Manage Risks)

(Oversee Risks)

(Independent Assurance)

(BIRE)

Internal Audit
AEBEET

(AR EERRE) (EEs= )
Internal Financial Control B 75 &84
Management Control
Controls Measures Risk Management BB EIE
BB ELE A EBERE
it Compliance & &S

As the first line of defense, operational management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal controls and
for executing risk and control procedures on day-to-day
operation. Management of Head Office establishes various risk
management and compliance functions to provide direction on
the importance of risk management and monitor the first line
of defense controls. The Internal Audit and Risk Management
("IARM") Department reviews and provides independent
assurance on the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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The Group has in place an integrated internal control framework A& B B 3% v/ 8 COSO (Committee of Sponsoring
that is consistent with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring  Organisations of the Treadway Commission)iEZ28 —
Organisations of the Treadway Commission) framework as  BZ4Fa ANEREIEER - FFROAT ¢

illustrated below:

] Set the right tone of the Group influencing control consciousness and risk awareness of the staff.
M ASE IENEIAET - bR ENERER R AR

] Factors include integrity, ethical values, competence, delegation of authority and responsibility.
REEARST - EREE  BERH REREEHEZRE -

o Foundation for all other components of internal control.

YRR Bt A BR SR AR BB D O EETE -

J Identification, evaluation and analysis of the key risks underlying the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, including the risks relating to the changing regulatory and operating environment; conducted
regularly, forming the basis for determining control activities.

EHHER - FHERATEERASE R REBEN I 2R (B REE MELRBE(CNRR) - WAULERSIE EE
TR ERE

o Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried out and necessary actions are
taken to address the risks that may hinder the achievement of the Group's objectives.

HIEBRNIER » REEE 2R SAATARRBV 2THEE S EFEASEER AR AR

. Control activities include authorisations, approvals, verifications, performance reviews, segregation of
duties, asset security, access control, documentation and records.
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TEERRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL JeEL B T FEE T P B BE A ()

(continued)

Internal Control Framework (continued) R EPESIRAE 2R ()

Information and Communication
B RkiEa

Pertinent information is identified, captured and provided to the right person in a timely manner.
BRI - BER K B E A TIREEEER -

Channels of communication across the Group and with external parties are established.

B AREEEEPI 2 MAREINAA T2 BBRE -

Channels of communication exist for people to report suspected malpractices or improprieties relating to
the Group.

RBPREAREEBEENERFHRTETRARLEBRE -

o
B

Monitoring

Combination of ongoing and separate evaluations of control system’s performance.
58 S A B R B E R VAR R

Management and supervisory activities.

EERERTE-

Internal audit activities.

WEPERT T -
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The actions of management and its demonstrated commitment
to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices within the Group are transparent to all. The Group
strives to conduct all business affairs based on good business
ethics and accountability. We have in place a formal Code
of Conduct & Business Ethics that is communicated to all
staff members. We aim to build risk awareness and control
responsibility into our culture and regard them as the foundation
of our risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to monitor the Group's ability to achieve its business objectives;
and can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

We maintain an effective internal audit function, the IARM
Department, whose main features include:

(i) independence from operational management;

(i) fully empowered auditors with access to all data and every
operation of the Group;

(iii)  adequate resources and well qualified and capable staff;

(iv)  risk-based auditing, concentrating on areas with significant
risks or where significant changes have been made.

Management has an ongoing process to identify and evaluate
the significant risks facing the Group and to prioritise resources
to manage those that arise. Mitigation strategies and plans
with respect to each key risk identified are developed and
implemented with regular review and update, which include
establishing or enhancing internal controls.

Heads of the departments, projects and business units regularly
review and analyse the key risks associated with achieving
the objectives of their particular departments, activities and
businesses to provide reasonable assurance that internal
controls are both embedded and effective within their areas of
accountability.
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The Board maintains sound and effective risk management and

internal control systems through the following:

i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

The Board reviews the Group's strategic plans and
objectives on an annual basis.

An organisational structure with defined lines of
responsibility and delegation of authority is devised.

Systems and procedures are in place to identify and
evaluate risks on an ongoing basis. Senior executives
review the risk assessment process and monitor the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems.

Appropriate policies and key control activities are
maintained with regular review on their effectiveness.

Financial performance is analysed against budget with
variances being accounted for and appropriate actions
taken to rectify deficiencies.

Senior executives ensure compliance with relevant laws,
regulations, standards and ordinances, including Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the Listing Rules and
the Companies Ordinance, under their responsibility.

The IARM Department reports directly to the Audit
Committee and the CEO, and carries out independent
reviews on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems
in accordance with its annual audit plan approved by the
Audit Committee. Key audit findings and implementation
progress of internal control recommendations are regularly
reported to the Board through the Audit Committee. Head
of the IARM Department also serves as the contact person
under the Whistleblowing Guideline of the Company.
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The Executive Directors of the Company conduct reviews
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, and submit to the Audit Committee
a certification of compliance for effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, reliability of financial reporting, and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations bi-annually. The scope of this
review covers the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Audit Committee regularly reviews the audit findings and
implementation progress of internal control recommendations,
and opinion of the IARM Department on the performance of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. External
auditor also reports on any control issues identified in the course
of their audit work.

Taking the above into consideration, the Audit Committee
reviews the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems at least once each year and reports to
the Board on such reviews.

The Board has, through the Audit Committee, reviewed
and considered the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate for the year ended 31
December 2018. No significant areas of concern that might
affect the operational, financial, and compliance controls and risk
management function of the Group were identified.
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With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company:

(i) is aware of the obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, the applicable Listing Rules and other statutory
regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure
of inside information, announcements and financial
disclosures and authorises their publication as required.

(i)  has adopted and implemented its Inside Information
Disclosure Policy.

(i) has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing
the securities transactions of those employees who,
because of their positions, are likely to have access to
confidential or inside information.

(iv) identifies and authorises members of the Group's senior
management to act as the Company’s spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.

The Company Secretary reports to the CEO on Board or
committee matters. All Directors have direct access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary for the ongoing
discharge of their duties and responsibilities. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2018, the Company Secretary took
more than 15 hours of relevant professional training organized
by the Stock Exchange and various professional bodies.

The Company has published its updated and consolidated
version of Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws at the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. During the
year, there was no alteration on the constitutional documents of
the Company.

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

FERIE R B M ARIE S 2R
Al

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

RABEETE - AR

MABMRRE S LB GRD - B ETRARE
MEEERTE  AHENZEZREARER 2
MEFBREERNER  TEFERRET
2 o

BRI E SR AR B BB -

ETi“é” Frsrhl EE%E%?IIVEEW?F@
AR E AR EEZ B THESRS

_JFU

EREAKESREEEKE  WREREE
EARRBEFA - AEESNRERRA -

NAMEREFTSRLEGFTENTTHRARER - 2
REFVEERBBEARNESKERLRE - UER

BROTNSZBELEBE  -NEE-T
=t+—BLFRFE

By R BSE 32 P e 25 (8 55 SE A A 28 i 2 AR S5 260 ) -

RA/NCIIRNN: BT E /N
RN BRAR 2 &R E

—N\F+=A

NEIMELRNT BB 15E )

AT AR R 2 HEE
ARAS £ - AAFZ

BB BB -



The last annual general meeting of the Company was held on 29
May 2018 (the “2018 AGM"). The CEO chaired the 2018 AGM in
the absence of the Chairman of the Board due to the Chairman's
prior business engagement. The external auditor attended
the 2018 AGM to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditors’ report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

The attendance record of the individual Directors at the 2018
AGM is set out in the table below:

Name of Directors EENR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. OEI Kang, Eric =S4
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel TEE\R
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy EHERILE
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel REETRTE
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. OEl Tjie Goan mERSEE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFHITES
Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico EREEE
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo ERERANSTAE
Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior ZEYIELE

Note: Independent Non-executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors are required to attend general meetings pursuant
to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code. All Independent
Non-executive Directors and Non-executive Directors were
encouraged to attend the general meetings to inter-face with
shareholders of the Company but certain of them were not in a
position to attend the 2018 AGM due to overseas commitment
and pre-arranged business engagements.
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Under section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, any members holding
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition
("Requisitionists”).

The written request must state the resolution, preferably
accompanied by a statement of not more than one
thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
the proposed resolution for the Company’s reference and
consideration, signed by the all Requisitionists concerned.

The written request must be deposited at the head office
of the Company at 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75
Mody Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer agent in Hong Kong (the
“Branch Share Registrars”). Upon the Branch Share
Registrars’ confirmation that the request is proper and
in order, the Company will convene a special general
meeting within two months after the deposit of such
requisition, and will serve sufficient notice in accordance
with the statutory and regulatory requirements to all
members of the Company.
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Pursuant to sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act of
Bermuda, either any number of members representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of
all the members, or not less than one hundred members
("Requisitionists”) can submit a written request to move a
resolution at an annual general meeting or to circulate a
statement of not more than one thousand words in relation
to business to be dealt with in any general meeting to
members of the Company.

If a resolution is proposed by the members, the written
request must state the resolution (preferably accompanied
by a statement of not more than one thousand words
with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution), signed by all the Requisitionists concerned.

The written request must be deposited at the registered
office of the Company and preferably with a copy of such
request sent to the head office of the Company at 9/F.,
Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui
East, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary not less than six weeks before the
meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, and not less than one week in the case of any
other requisition.

The request will be verified by the Branch Share
Registrars. Upon the Share Registrars’ confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, and the Requisitionists
have deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s expenses in giving effect thereto, the
Company will send the notice of resolution or the
statement to its members.

The procedures for the shareholders of the Company to
propose a person for election as a director of the Company
are available and accessible on the Company’s website at
www.hkcholdings.com.
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The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group's effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory and
regulatory requirements and also to interested parties recorded
in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications of the Company,
including financial reports, circulars and announcements, are also
available on the Company's website at www.hkcholdings.com.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual directors,
and the poll procedures are clearly explained. The CEO
attended the 2018 AGM in the absence of the Chairman of
the Board due to the Chairman'’s prior business engagement.
Other members of the Board, the Chairmen of the relevant
Board Committees and the external auditor of the Company
also attended the annual general meeting to inter-face with, and
answer questions from the shareholders of the Company.

Shareholders can send their enquiry to the Board by the
following ways:

Post:  9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,

Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
E-mail: info@hkcholdings.com

Fax: (852) 2722 6266
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HKC (Holdings) Limited (the “"Company”, and with its
subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to present its
annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) with disclosure reference made to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) as contained in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The ESG Report covers the financial year ended 31
December 2018.

This ESG Report describes the Group's environmental, social
and governance management approach, strategy, priorities and
objectives. It explains how the Group complies with the “comply
or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide. This ESG
Report covers the Group’s governance on the Environmental
and Social aspect. The corporate governance aspect is
addressed in more detailed in the Corporate Governance
Report.

Through China Renewable Energy Investment Limited ("CRE"),
the listed subsidiary of the Company, the Group has been one
of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy sector. As
such, the Group has been heavily involved in environmental
protection and support for the low carbon development of
China. CRE has seven wind farms and one distributed solar
project under operation with a total gross power generating
capacity of 664 Mega-Watt in Hebei, Heilongjiang, Gansu,
Inner Mongolia and Zhejiang provinces. With a total electricity
generation of 1,362.2 Giga-Watt-hours (“"GWh") (2017:
1,325.2GWh), CRE has reduced approximately 443,000 tons
(2017: 431,000 tons) of coal consumption and 1,054,000 tons
(2017: 1,025,000 tons) of carbon emission.

As a responsible property developer, the Group strictly
complies with laws, regulations and good practices regarding
environmental protection. During the construction stage, the
Group has ensured that its contractors have complied with the
laws and contractual requirements in respect to environmental
protection and construction safety standards. The Group also
endeavours to minimize environmental impact as early as the
design stage by adopting eco-friendly and energy efficient
designs.
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Pollutants are generated in the process construction of all
property development projects. These mainly include: (i)
various kinds of machinery noise; (ii) dust and exhaust, and
also gas emitted from organic waste left during renovation; (iii)
wastewater generated from construction sites and domestic
sewage generated by construction workers; and (iv) remaining
waste material left in the construction site and garbage disposed
of by construction workers. All these will adversely affect the
surrounding environment. Corresponding pollution prevention
and environmental management measures have been taken to
reduce such impact.

Noise Emissions

Construction noise come from various kinds of machinery such as
foundation piling machines, excavators, and bulldozers. In order
to reduce the impact to neighbours, the construction teams are
required to take the following measures:

o Operation of machinery with high noise levels are
prohibited during breaks, noon time and night time; and
any extension of operations due to special circumstances
must be reported and approved by the relevant
department.

o Use mechanical equipment with low noise levels or those
equipped with attenuators as much as possible.

° The entrances and exits for the construction trucks at the

construction sites should be arranged at places away from
the sensitive area.
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Waste Gas Emissions

Waste gas emission during operation includes mainly the dust
resulting from construction, the exhaust gas emitted from
various construction machinery and transportation vehicles, and
organic waste gas generated during renovation. To minimize the
impact of the dust to the surrounding atmosphere, the Group
has adopted the following measures:

° Construction sites should be 100% enclosed, and road
surfaces within the construction sites should be 100%

hardened.

o Certain wetness should be maintained during the
excavation and drilling process by watering the operation
surface; watering should be carried out regularly on loose
and dry soil in the construction site; and proper watering
should be carried out on the dry surface of soil when
backfilling the soil.

o Dedicated locations should be set up with enclosures
for the stacking and storing of building materials and
misplacements are not allowed. Unwanted and spoiled
materials should be transported away as soon as possible
and accumulation of such waste is not allowed. When not
used, sand and soil in the construction site should be 100%
covered.

. When not in use, machinery should be turned off to
reduce the generation of exhaust gas from combustion.
During the construction process, using disposed building
materials as fuel is strictly prohibited. Accommodation
and canteen facilities should not be set up on construction
sites.
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Wastewater Emissions

Wastewater discharged during operation mainly comes from
surface runoff of heavy rain, domestic sewage from construction
workers, and waste water from rinsing of the ground surface. In
order to minimize the impact of wastewater discharged during
operation, the Group has adopted the following measures:

o Wastewater generated during foundation piling work must
be treated immediately by paying attention to dredging
and discharge management. Pollutants in wastewater
generated from the washing and rinsing of machinery
and construction vehicles are mainly suspended solids.
The rinsing and washing facilities should be set up at
designated locations. The ground surface water ditches
should be directed to temporary sedimentation tanks.

o Muddy water generated during operation and sludge
produced by punching pile drivers and bored piles
must not be discharged without treatment. Temporary
settling basins should be provided at backfill dumps and
at locations where sludge is produced. Discharge of rain
water containing sediments and muddy water must be
organized and planned. They should only be discharged
after all solid particles have settled in the settling basins so
as to prevent any sewer blockage.
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Solid Waste Emissions

Solid waste generated during construction consists of large
qguantities of silt, muck, and sludge resulting from surface
excavation. There is residual waste construction materials and
domestic garbage from workers. Resided waste such as mortar
surface cement, interior and exterior wall coating, plastic, flexible
packaging, scrap metal wire, sawdust, etc, is also generated
from renovation. In order to reduce the accumulation of solid
waste during the construction period as well as the impact to
the environment during transportation, the following measures
should be taken:

o Different types of solid waste generated from construction
should be placed separated.

o Domestic garbage should be regularly cleaned and
delivered to the environmental health department.

o Construction waste that may cause airborne dust should be
covered with an enclosure.

o Waste should be only dumped in landfill sites designated
by the relevant authorities. The Group strictly complied
with the aforesaid principle, relevant laws, rules and
regulations throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

Under the KPIs A1.1 to A1.6 of the ESG Reporting Guide, as a
property developer and all the Group’s construction works are
outsourced to contractors, KPIs A1.1 (types of direct emissions
and emissions data), A1.2 (greenhouse gas emissions in total
and intensity), A1.4 (total non-hazardous waste produced),
A1.5 (description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved) and A1.6 (description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved) are immaterial to the Group's operation and have not
been disclosed in this report. Further, as there is no hazardous
waste produced from the Group’s operation, KPI A1.3 (total
hazardous waste produced) is not applicable to the Group.
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The Group has incorporated energy saving and eco-friendly
designs in its residential and commercial developments so as
to protect the environment and improve air quality within the
community. Such designs include:

o Occupancy sensors to turn off lighting in common areas.

J LED and energy saving lighting.

. Water cooled chillers (in lieu of air cooled chillers).

o Air purification system that filters PM2.5 particles to
provide superior indoor air quality.

o Smart temperature control and fresh air system that cleans
and renews air while realizing energy saving.

o Ground Source Heat Pumps.

J Lifts and escalators with variable voltage variable frequency
drives to save energy.

J Variable speed drive in electrical system to allow supply on
demand for motor driven systems to save energy in water
supply systems, chilled water pumps and condensed water

pumps.

J Low-E insulated glass to reduce reliance on air-conditioning.
J Provision of roller blinds for office tenants.

J South-North natural ventilation concept included in living

room design.

o Provision of balconies and sky gardens in residential units
to improve air ventilation and capture of daylight. The
Group is also planning to install electric vehicles chargers
to carparks and solar panels in some of its properties.
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The Group is also committed to implementing energy

conservation and environmental protection measures in its

offices:

Water resources control

The Group educates each employee to save water, and
to encourage the reuse of water in order to reduce water
consumption, so as to reduce sewage from the source.

The Group is committed to the guarantee of water supply
installation and maintenance, and to ensure that water
supply is always available. When leakage is discovered, it
will be quickly repaired.

Electricity control

The use of electricity in production must strictly comply
with the Electricity Power Law of the PRC, encouraging
power saving, safety, high efficiency and low consumption.

Lights and electrical appliances in workplace must be
turned off when not in use.

Every member of the staff and management must turn off
the power for each department’s computers, photocopy
machines and printers machines when they are off duty or

on leave.

Staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning
in meeting rooms and to turn off the computer at the
workstation when it is not in use. The room temperature is
maintained at 25°C to save energy.

To ensure no unnecessary use of resources at production
lines.

REBTHE AR

ERNEEEERERIRIEHE

IKEIRIES

o FEEHEREESHHAK  BEBMEEES
IKER - ARREIERE - {EIRTE LR A I57KEE
i g

FEBBNNREFRRGN LR L E#E
BRERMK - —BERRR - IRBE -

EhEH

EEBETHNENERVABRRETHEES
E o BEEE  RE - BMRER -

THs
F,ﬁ °

BRI K R REEME AR LA

IRERBAER THSMAKERE - 515
RRARASEFIRERS - RPEIME R ITENME -

RES TENMEAREAEREENE LR
AR TR ERY o R EHERIE25°C L/{
HIBEIR

WREEG DRAETVENERER -

BEER(ER)BRLT —T—/\FFR



Office consumables consumption management

o The Group encourages employees to reduce the use
of paper by assessing the necessity of printing, by
encouraging duplex printing where appropriate, and by
reusing the blank side of single-side printed paper.

o No printing and photocopying of materials unrelated to

work.

Based on these energy use efficiency initiatives, use of resources
can be effectively controlled and efficiently reduced.

Under the KPIs A2.1 to A2.4 of the ESG Reporting Guide, as
only a minimum amount of electricity and water were used in
the office, KPIs A2.1 (energy consumption in total and intensity),
A2.2 water consumption in total and intensity), A2.3 (description
of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved) and
A2.4 (description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved) are immaterial to the Group’s operation. For the
Group's investment properties in 2018, the energy consumption
and water consumption of Shenzhen Shun Hing Square was
15,732,190 KWh (2017: 16,693,087 KWh) in total and 397,336m?
(2017: 371,181m3) in total respectively. The energy consumption
and water consumption of Shenzhen South Ocean Centre
was 880,026 KWh (2017: 1,587,776 KWh) in total and 123,831
tonnes (2017: 250,366 tonnes) in total respectively. The energy
consumption and water consumption of Beijing Legation
Quarter was 1,321,317 KWh (2017: 1,555,450 KWHh) in total and
28,524m3 (2017: 25,441m3) in total respectively. After the grand
opening of Shanghai Landmark Center during the year, the
energy consumption and water consumption was 10,430,127
KWh in total and 56,267m3 in total respectively.

Further, as no packaging material was used in the Group's

operation, KPI A2.5 (total packaging material used for finished
products) is not applicable to the Group.
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The Group is committed to minimizing environmental impact
from its property developments. Building layouts and heights
are optimized and subject to rigorous sunlight analysis to
avoid reduction in sunlight hours to neighbours. Extensive soft
landscaping have been provided to create a green environment
for building users and neighbours. The concept of vehicles
and pedestrian separation are included in the design of all
open areas. The overall project designs focus on minimizing
environmental impact and fitting in with the surrounding natural
environment and fully utilizing natural resources. The properties
should be sustainable, eco-friendly and integrated into nature,
with high energy efficiency and should not harm the local
ecosystem.

As the Group’s environmental impact and use of natural
resources is minimal, KPI A3.1 of the ESG Reporting Guide is not
applicable to the Group’s operation.
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The Group regards people as its most important asset. Over
the years, the Group has put considerable effort to provide a
safe and healthy staff environment for its employees. The Group
offers a comprehensive and competitive package of benefits to
attract and retain talent.

The Group has adopted an "Employee Handbook” which
sets out the practices and policies of human resources. The
Employee Handbook is in compliance with PRC Labour law,
PRC Labour Contract Law, Hong Kong employment laws, and
other relevant laws and regulations. The Employee Handbook
covers areas such as compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, diversity, and other
benefits and welfare for the benefit of the employees.

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics. Regardless
of race, color, descent, ethnic background, ethnic origin, gender,
age, nationality, disability, veteran status, citizenship and
religion, all job applicants and current employees enjoy equal
opportunities and fair treatment. The Group values the input and
contributions made by employees of all backgrounds.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has

complied with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation to
employment.
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The Group is committed to providing a safe, effective and
congenial work environment. Adequate arrangements, training
and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. Different safety-related
initiatives and measures have been rolled out in the Group's
operations. Risk assessments are also conducted to identify
risks in special working environments, while detailed safety
instructions have been formulated and communicated to workers
as part of their safety training sessions. For employees working
on construction sites, safety equipment such as safety helmets,
safety shoes, ear plugs and dusk masks are provided. Safety
officers are appointed by the main contractors to coordinate and
communicate safety-related matters to workers on site.

The Company offers its employees comprehensive health care
coverage and also provides medical insurance coverage.

The Group encourages employees to attend training and
development programs to strengthen their job skills, to update
their professionalism, to improve their operational efficiency and
productivity, and to develop their potential and other talents. In
addition, the Group encourages and assists employees to further
develop their technical or professional standards knowledge by
sponsoring them for professional membership. All applications
for membership fee reimbursement will be considered
depending on their degree of importance to the employee’s
job and their relevance to the operational requirements of the
employee’s department. Continuous professional development
training for directors and senior management are required
and the Group encourages them to attend training programs
organised by various professional bodies.

The Group's employment practices has strictly complied with the
Labor Contract law of PRC, the Hong Kong employment laws
and other relevant laws and regulations to avoid child or forced
labour and other potential irregularities. During recruitment, all
job applicants are required to complete a job application form
and declare that all personal data provided (including age and
personal particulars) are true and correct. The Group undertakes
a detailed job reference check, if needed.
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The Group is committed to ensuring that its supply chain
management is socially responsible. The Group has adopted
procurement procedures to identify eligible bidders. Factors
considered include: company size, financial strength, statutory
qualifications, reputation, previous track record and ongoing
projects. Satisfaction of past co-operation is also an important
determining factor.

Suppliers are chosen based on the supplier’'s continuous ability
to guarantee satisfactory product quantity and quality, price, and
ability to deliver services on time. The Group closely monitors
supplier’s performance and provides feedback where necessary.

The Group's construction of office and residential properties
have been closely supervised by internal and external
professionals. The Group and its consultants and contractors
strictly adhered to the national and local standards and the
respective codes for construction inspection and acceptance.
During the construction process, the Group and its consultants
conducted systematic inspection and acceptance on each part of
the construction.

Strict procedures in respect to examination and rectification
have been carried out in the handover of properties to
purchasers. Customer service teams have also been set up to

resolve queries from customers.

Maintaining high quality and standards are crucial to the Group's
sustainable development. Reliability, safety and quality of our
energy generation are crucial to the Group's success. Therefore,
maintaining consistency in quality and precision of our energy
generation are the Group's major priorities.

The Group strictly complied with the aforesaid principle, relevant

laws, rules and regulations throughout the year ended 31
December 2018.
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The Group has issued the “Code of Conduct & Business
Ethics” (the "Code”) to all the directors and employees of the
Group and the Code has been uploaded on to the Company’s
website. The Code sets out the principles to guide the directors
and employees of the Group to conduct business affairs in
accordance with the highest business ethical standards. The
Group strives to preserve honesty, fairness and impartiality. In
accordance with the “Whistle-blowing Guideline”, all employees
can report for investigation any suspected bribery, extortion,
fraudulent and money laundering cases. Once confirmed, it
will be reported to the police or other regulatory bodies for
prosecution. The Group has also issued a “Policy on Advantages
Handling” with regard to guidelines for soliciting, accepting or
offering advantages and gifts by the directors and employees.
The Policy also provides guidelines for the avoidance of any
potential conflicts of interest or breaches of any local laws, rules
or regulations.

The Group strictly complied with the aforesaid principle, relevant
laws, rules and regulations throughout the year ended 31
December 2018.

The Group is committed to participating in the community
where we operate with an aim to improve the community’s
wellbeing. Through the hiring of locals using market compatible
remuneration packages, the Group is able to share its
operational returns with the local community and to contribute
back to the society. The Group will explore other means to
contribute more to the environment and to society once the
Group achieves higher profitability. To create shared values with
the community and stakeholders, the Group will continue to
consider ESG factors in selecting future investment projects.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the “Board”)
have pleasure in presenting to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The principal activities of the Group are property development
and investment and renewable energy investment and
operation. The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates
and a joint venture are set out in pages 235 to 242 of the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31
December 2018 by geographical and business segments is set
out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 92.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK13 cents (2017: HK11 cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 31 May
2019. Subject to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company which will be held on
Monday, 20 May 2019 (“2019 AGM”"), the final dividend will be
paid on Friday, 14 June 2019.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to 20 of this annual report.

The Group have complied the relevant laws and regulations
during the year.
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Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the principal properties held for development and
investment purposes are set out on pages 245 to 248.

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws
of the Company (“Bye-laws”) and there is no restriction against
such rights under the law of Bermuda.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 39 and Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2018, the distributable reserves of the Company
available for distribution was HK$623.4 million (2017: HK$656.7
million), calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended).

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 243.

During the year, the Group made no charitable and other
donation (2017: Nil).
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The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Mr. OEl Tjie Goan (Chairman)

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo
Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior

In accordance with bye-law 85 of the Bye-laws, Mr. LEUNG Wing
Sum, Samuel, Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel and Mr. Albert Thomas
DA ROSA, Junior will retire by rotation at 2019 AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Directors.

The Company has also received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company
considers that all of them to be independent.

Mr. OEIl Tjie Goan, a Non-executive Director and Chairman
of the Company, has voluntarily agreed to waive his annual
director’s fees with effect from 1 January 2010 until further notice
to the Company, and the director’s fee he waived for the year
ended 31 December 2018 amounted to HK$100,000.

No Director proposed for re-election at 2019 AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

FARHEARESARZEENT

HERELE(EE)

E M (TR AR E)
FERKLE

BEREL
RERFE(EEMHEE)

BEMELE
#EIEELE

RIBEIZMAFESF - REKREE - FEREER
FINBEEBR _Z-NFRRBFREHESR -
EITFAERLBEEESTES -

AABERESBY N TEERETBR AR
BRAR ([ ESF ETRANT EHRRDE
JSVMEHEBLHNEL 2 FEHERE - ARARR
ERBYIFMTESIRBEIAL

AAREMITESREFEZSRCE BBRBEMER
B ZF—A-BRZEEEFHE  HEEST
BANARR AL REBEE=Z—N\F+=-A=+—8
LIEFE - RNEZEEHE4100,00087T °

BMERR _T-hFRRBFAGBERET EEH
ARRIKEACATHE ARG LA RENRR—FAT
LA | E T B/RRR B 2 BRI & #) CEERBERRSN) -



China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (“CRE"), a

subsidiary of the Company, adopted a share option scheme (the
"CRE Option Scheme”) on 27 May 2008. Particulars of the CRE
Option Scheme are set out below:

(a)

Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high calibre
Eligible Persons (as defined below) and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or any entity in
which any member of the Group holds an equity interest
("Invested Entity” or “Invested Entities”), to recognise
the significant contributions of the Eligible Persons to the
growth of the Group or Invested Entities by rewarding
them with opportunities to obtain ownership interest in
the Company and to further motivate and give incentives
to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the
long term success and prosperity of the Group or Invested
Entities.

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
executive or officer, manager, director (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
director) or consultant of any members of the Group or any
Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
have contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

The CRE Option Scheme has been expired on 27 May
2018.
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(f)

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of options (whether exercised or
outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to:

()  each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue; and

(i) a substantial shareholder or an independent
nonexecutive director of the Company must not
exceed 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
and not exceed HK$5 million in aggregate value.

Period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date
on which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board
may specify at the time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and amount
payable upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of ten business days from the date
of offer and a consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid upon
acceptance.
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(h)  Basis of determining the subscription price of an option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant;
(ii) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

(i) Remaining life

CRE Option Scheme has a life of ten years and has been
expired on 27 May 2018.

No share option is outstanding under the CRE Option Scheme as
at 27 May 2018.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled nor lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2018 under the CRE Option
Scheme.

At 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the Company were
as follows:
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Name of Directors

Nature of interest

EEpE BEME
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate
ERIEE NG

Joint

H#AE
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel Personal
FEREE fEA
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy Personal
BEREE A

Notes:

Number of shares

Approximate
percentage of the

and underlying existing issued
shares of share capital of
the Company the Company
ARERBR ERRRARAERT
HERBHE BAHAT DL
363,924,938 68.816%
11,154,9872 2.109%
7,200° 0.001%
5,145,000 0.973%

BiRE

The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents
(i) an interest in 203,445,407 shares of the Company held
by Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”); (ii) an interest
in 143,212,531 shares of the Company held by Genesis
Capital Group Limited (“"Genesis"); and (iii) an interest in
17,267,000 shares of the Company held by Great Nation
International Limited (“Great Nation”) (via its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Genesis Ventures Limited (“Genesis Ventures”)),
a company owned as to 50% by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and as
to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau. Both
Creator and Genesis are wholly-owned by Claudio Holdings
Limited (“Claudio”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. OEl
Kang, Eric.

The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an
interest in 11,154,987 shares of the Company jointly held
with his wife, Mrs. OE| Valonia Lau.

The personal interest of Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel represents
an interest in 7,200 shares of the Company.

The personal interest of Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy
represents an interest in 5,145,000 shares of the Company.
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Name of
associated
corporation

Name of Director

Nature of interest

Number of shares
and underlying
shares of the
associated
corporation
HEEE 2R DR
HERGHE

1,826,026,937

41,661,439

Approximate
percentage of the
existing issued
share capital of

the associated
corporation
ERBEEREERT
BRABAE DL

72.862%

1.662%

HEEEERE BEEpE EEitE
China Renewable Energy ~ Mr. OEl Kang, Eric ~ Corporate
Investment Limited =LA NG|
FEELERRERRAR
Joint
£
Notes:
1. Since as at 31 December 2018, the Company was held as to

(i) approximately 65.551% by Claudio (via its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Creator and Genesis), a company wholly-owned by Mr.
OEl Kang, Eric; and (i) approximately 3.265% by Great Nation (via its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Genesis Ventures). As thus, Mr. OEIl Kang,
Eric is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares of CRE
in which the Company is interested. The corporate interest of Mr.
OEI Kang, Eric represents (i) an interest in 1,395,682,050 shares of
CRE held by the Company; (i) an interest in 276,065,897 shares of
CRE held by Genesis; and (iii) an interest in 154,278,990 shares of
CRE held by Creator.

2. The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
41,661,439 shares of CRE jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OE| Valonia

Lau.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent
company or its other associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors and chief executives of the
company (including their spouse and children under 18 years
of age) to hold any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the company or its
specified undertakings or other associated corporation.
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
that enabled the Directors or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

Mr. OEl Tjie Goan is the chairman and a director of PT. Sinar
Mas, a company together with its subsidiaries, associates,
including Asia Pulp & Paper Company, Ltd., and its holding
companies (if any) (the “Sinar Mas Group”) are engaged in,
among other things, general trading and property development
and investment. Save as disclosed above, Mr. OEI Tjie Goan
is not interested in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group. Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, a member of the OE| Family and the
son of Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, does not hold any directorship in the
Sinar Mas Group. Having considered that the Company itself has
its own management supervising the daily operation and making
financial and business decisions, the Company can operate its
business independently from the Sinar Mas Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their
respective associate(s) was interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group during the year.

Save as disclosed under the sections “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this Report of the Directors and “Related
Party Transactions” in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.
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At 31 December 2018, the following persons (other than a RZZ—N\F+ZA=+—8 A TAL(EFHAK
Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests  RAEIEZ2ITHABRIN RA R A Z &G KB
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the H#EAEBEERLRRESF LBEKHIEIB6HKETATHF
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under ~ EfERMz#EmalokR

section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
Number of shares percentage of
and underlying existing issued
shares of share capital of
Name Nature of interest the Company the Company
ARARARBR EAEDNERBECRIT
HE/ LB REME HERHHE RABLAE DL
Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau Family 363,924,938 68.816%
ABLt EN3
Joint 11,154,9872 2.109%
XA
Claudio Holdings Limited Corporate 346,657,938 65.551%
N
Creator Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 203,445,4074 38.471%
BEEEARAF BHERA
Genesis Capital Group Limited Beneficial owner 143,212,531° 27.081%
FREEERLA EafAA

BEER(ER)BRLT —T—/\FFR



Notes:

1. Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau is deemed to be interested in the same
parcel of shares of the Company in which Mr. OEI Kang, Eric
is taken to be interested (as detailed in “Directors’ Interests in
Securities” section above).

2. The joint interest of Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau represents an interest in
11,154,987 shares of the Company jointly held with Mr. OEl Kang,
Eric.

3. The corporate interest of Claudio includes an interest in

203,445,407 shares of the Company held by Creator, and an
interest in 143,212,531 shares of the Company held by Genesis.

4. The beneficial interest of Creator includes an interest in
203,445,407 shares of the Company.

5. The beneficial interest of Genesis includes an interest in
143,212,531 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Company
had not been notified by any person, other than Directors and
chief executive of the Company, who had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which are required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.
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The Company and its subsidiaries entered into certain
transactions in the ordinary course of business and on normal
commercial terms which were “Related Parties Transactions”,
the details of which are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements. Some of these transactions also constitute
"Continuing Connected Transactions” under the Listing Rules as
summarized below.

Details of the continuing connected transactions entered into by
the Group during the year are set out below:

The Company has provided, by itself directly or its wholly-
owned subsidiary indirectly, guarantees in respect of
project loan facilities granted by banks to the relevant
project companies, which are subsidiaries of CRE (the
“Guarantees”). CRE is a subsidiary of the Company
and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company) and his associates
held approximately 18.83% direct interest in CRE as at 31
December 2018. The provision of the Guarantees is subject
to reporting, annual review and disclosure requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the
Guarantees were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 30 September 2011.

ARAFREMBARERSERBRES MIZEREE
BRI E TR (B (BB RS |  FEREaH
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The salient particulars of the Guarantees are set out below: ERZEBBHBHNMT -

M Date
=i

Project company
(borrower)
BERR(ERS)

Amount secured

EREHE

Repayment and
maturity dates
of loan facility

ENREZER
RE#A

: 28 August 2006

“TERENAZTNR

o ZEME ) E (M FHT) B R A Fl(Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) Company

Limited), which is currently a non-wholly owned subsidiary of CRE.

TMRANBEEHMT)BERAR - BRAIATEBLERRIFZENBAF -

. The Guarantee provided for this project company was given in favour of the

bank to secure repayment of all monies due from the operating company to
the lending bank under the loan facility, including the principals, interests
accrued and other losses, damages and monies payable under the loan
facility.

FUEIEE RAIPMER 2 BRTIDVARITRERA - BREEERREE TERRITREK
BERAZAENE PEERREBETAS  EAMERHEMER « B8R RERNK
B o

The loan in the sum of RMB200.0 million (approximately HK$227.7 million)
was originally granted and utilized. The loan was a term loan and carried
interest at such annual rate as agreed with lending bank, determined by
reference to PBOC Benchmark Rate for loans of the same grade and tenure.
The interest rate will be adjusted annually on each anniversary of the related
advancement (and, in relation to an extended term agreed by lending bank,
on each anniversary of the date falling immediately after the original maturity
date) based on the PBOC Benchmark Rate then in effect as prescribed in the
facility agreement.

JRIIR M R 8 Fl 2 B S48 58 & A R 6 200,000,0007T (49227,700,0007 7T ) © B/ TE A
B REESRRITBECBRAENETS - K2EHEARRITHER SR KL FH
ZER EEREETE - BB HHTTA - MEFRBETEARRTERER 2 E
EHNXR  REHBRZE-AFER (UMERRTHEZLEREBRE  BRRINHAB®%
ZBTEFER)RFRE

As at 31 December 2018, the total outstanding principal was RMB42.0 million
(approximately HK$47.8 million); and the extent of the Guarantee was for the
same amount.

REZZE-N\F+ZA=+—0  REEREERARBEA2,000,0007T(4747,800,0007%
TL) - EREFEIEMER o

. The loan is repayable by installments scheduled over the term of the loan as

provided in the facility agreement, with the final maturity date falling on 30
August 2021.
RRMEBHRT  EFRETHADMER  RIPAR T —F/\A=1H-
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Date
=R

Project company
(borrower)

BEARER)

Amount secured

BERE®E

Repayment and
maturity dates
of loan facility

EFRE ZERK

2HH

. 3 March 2006

—ZTTRF=A=H

: BERNEE(BE) BR A F(Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) Company

Limited), which is currently a non-wholly owned subsidiary of CRE.

BERNBEE(BB)ARLDF - BAIRATEBERRZIEZEMNBLRR -

. The Guarantee provided for this project company was given in favour of the

bank to secure repayment of all monies due from the operating company to
the bank under the loan facility, including the principals, interests accrued
and losses, damages and other monies payable under the loan facility.
MUEIEE RAIPMER 2 BRIDVARITRERA - BREEZERREE M RITRKEE
REZFAERE  BREFXMEETAS  BREREE - BEAREMERNRE -

The loan in the sum of RMB200.0 million (approximately HK$227.7 million)
was originally granted and utilized. The loan was a term loan and carried
interest, settled quarterly, at such annual rate as agreed with lending
bank, determined by reference to PBOC Benchmark Rate for loans of the
same grade and tenure. The interest rate will be adjusted annually on
each anniversary of the date of related advancement (and, in relation to an
extended term agreed by lending bank, on each anniversary of the date
falling immediately after the original maturity date) based on the PBOC
Benchmark Rate then in effect, as prescribed in the facility agreement.
JRIIX M R 6 Al 2 B 4858 & AR 6 200,000,0007T (49227,700,000 7T ) * B TE HA
B REBHRBITHEZBEBFR XA BALRFEE - £2EFEARRITHAR
ERRFHER EENEETE - BRREBRHAMETA - FIEBREFEAREITE
Rz 2EFE - RNERRRB—AFE R (UERRITHE 2 CREPHE - BEE
REHBER 2T AFER)IRFHE -

As at 31 December 2018, the total outstanding principal was RMB42.0 million
(approximately HK$47.8 million); and the extent of the Guarantee was for the
same amount.

RZZE-—NFF+ZA=+—0 ' REEXS LA ARKEA42,000,0007T (4747,800,0007%
7T)  EREFEIEER o

: The loan is repayable by installments scheduled over the term of the loan

as provided in the facility agreement over the term of the loan, with the final
maturity date falling on 27 February 2021.

REFHPNIZRERZERT - ERRNERBPADHEER  SRIBER T —F—
HA=—++8-
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(3) Date
=R

Project company
(borrower)

BEARER)

Amount secured

BERE®E

Repayment and
maturity dates
of loan facility

ENRE 2 EA K
ZIEAH

. 22 December 2008

T N\F+A=+=H

» BRI ee R F EER e AR A Fl(Hong Kong New Energy Si Zi Wang Qi

Wind Power Ltd.), which is currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRE.
BEIERIN T EEREEERAR - BRIRTEBLERRZ 2EMBAR -

. The Guarantee provided for this project company was given in favour of the

bank to secure repayment of all monies due from the operating company to
the bank under the loan facility, including the principals, interests accrued
and other losses, damages and monies payable under the loan facility.
MUEIEE RAIPMER 2 BRIDVARITRERA - BREEZERREE M RITRKEE
REZFAERE  BREFXMEETAS  BMEREMERE  BRREMNRE -

The loan in the sum of RMB300.0 million (approximately HK$341.6 million)
was originally granted and utilized. The loan was a term loan and carried
interest at such annual rate as agreed with lending bank, determined by
reference to PBOC Benchmark Rate for loans of the same grade and tenure.
The interest rate will be adjusted annually on each anniversary of the date of
related advancement based on the PBOC Benchmark Rate then in effect, as
prescribed in the facility agreement.

REF L RFER 2 ERB5 A AR 300,000,0007T (49341,600,000% 7T ) © B 5K A TE &
B REEFRTHBEZBBFEMNES - K2EZHEARRITHERSRKLFH
ZER EERKRETF - RBE WS > FIEHBRETRARRTERERZE
ERE RERBRE—BFERIRFRHE -

As at 31 December 2018, the total outstanding principal was RMB75.0 million
(approximately HK$85.4 million); and the extent of the Guarantee was for the
same amount.

RZZF-N\F+ZA=1+—H  KEEXRSEFERARE?5000,0007T (47854000007
7T) - BREEINEHEE o

. The loan is repayable by installments scheduled over the term of the loan

as provided in the facility agreement over the term of the loan, with the final
maturity date falling on 22 December 2021.

REFBRNRREDRZRT - EFRERBADHPEER  HEINHES-ZT-—F
+TZHZ-+=H-
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Opinion from the Independent Non-executive Directors
on the continuing connected transactions

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
were given sufficient information to discharge their duties
in monitoring the continuing connected transactions
described above (“Continuing Connected Transactions”).
The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
had assessed that the Continuing Connected Transactions
were conducted in accordance with the terms of the
relevant agreements governing the Continuing Connected
Transactions and on normal commercial terms. The
internal audit had reviewed the Continuing Connected
Transactions and the internal control procedures and
provide the finds to the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company to assist them in performing
their annual review, The internal control systems and
procedures of the Company had provided an internal audit
function to ensure that the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company had sufficient information to
properly review the Continuing Connected Transactions.
The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
had ensured that the methods and procedures established
by the Group are sufficient to ensure that the Continuing
Connected Transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of
the Group and its minority shareholders and appropriate
internal control procedures are in place and the Group's
internal audit would review the Continuing Connected
Transactions.
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Opinion from the Independent Non-executive Directors
on the continuing connected transactions (continued)

In accordance with rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed and approved the Continuing Connected
Transactions and confirmed that the Continuing
Connected Transactions were carried out in accordance
with the following principles:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms no less favourable
than terms available to (or from) independent third
parties;

() in accordance with the terms of the relevant
agreements governing the Continuing Connected
Transactions; and

(d)  on a fair and reasonable basis and in the interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Report from the auditor on the continuing connected
transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions
in respect of the abovementioned continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with
the Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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Apart from those disclosed under the heading “Related
Party Transactions” in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
year.

The percentages of the Group's purchases and sales for the year
attributable to its major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

The largest supplier 28%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 50%
Sales

The largest customer 8%
Five largest customers in aggregate 16%

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, any of
their associates, or shareholders of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers noted above.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, neither the Company
nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 27 to 48.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specified
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.
A Code for Securities Dealings by Employees has also been
adopted in this regard.

Information on the Group's retirement benefits schemes is set
out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float of more than
25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

The audit committee of the Company comprises three
independent non-executive Directors with written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules, and reports to the Board. The audit committee has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at 2019 AGM.
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Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director and other officers of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she
may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of
his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that the
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud
or dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Group'’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in the
information of the Directors since the date of the 2018 Interim
Report is set out below:

Mr. OEI Kang, Eric
(Executive Director, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. OEl was appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company with
effect from 20 March 2019.

On behalf of the Board

HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

OEIl Kang, Eric

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 20 March 2019
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of HKC (Holdings) Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the "Group”) set out on
pages 92 to 242, which comprise:

- the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;
-  the consolidated income statement for the year then

ended;

- the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

- the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

- the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then

ended; and

= the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as

follows:

- Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and

its joint venture

- Recoverability of prepaid land lease payments, properties
under development and properties held for sale

- Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and prepaid land lease payments related
to power plants in the Mainland China.
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Key Audit Matter
BRETER

Valuation of investment properties held by the
Group and its joint venture
BEEERAESEARMBANRENENMGE

Refer to note 2.6, 4(a) and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements
F2HREVBMENTE2.6 - 4@F14

Management estimated the fair value of the
investment properties held by its subsidiaries and a
joint venture to be HK$12,345 million and HK$3,832
million respectively at 31 December 2018, with a
revaluation gain for the year ended 31 December
2018 recorded in fair value adjustments on investment
properties of HK$697 million and share of profits less
losses of joint ventures of HK$3 million respectively.
EREMAEMBATN R -—FALRAHANREMENR
FER=ZZ—N\F+=A=+—H8%55/A12,345,000,0007%
JLH13,832,000,000/ 7T * HE_FT—N\F+-_A=+—HI
FE - HIRIREYE A FERENEM W 5697,000,0007
7T - MRRERRE EG& &2 R)E F1&3,000,000 7T ©

Independent external valuations are obtained to
support management’s estimates, with income
capitalisation method and direct comparison method
being applied for the valuation of completed
investment properties. These valuations are
dependent on certain key assumptions that require
significant management judgments, among other
things, capitalisation rates, fair market rental and
market unit rate.

BRBIMIMEEEERENG - BT ITREMERA
WABARER BRI RETHE - SEAEIRARETEE
BEFLHERAABNELERRBRR - APBFENEEE
ANFmERSRTISEMAEE -

Due to the significant judgment and estimates
involved, specific audit focus was placed on this area.
BE RER GGG - BHt =R SR IZER -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEANAEEBRRENER

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of investment properties included:
B ERBHREMENBEATHERBE

e Evaluation of the independent external valuer’s
qualifications, expertise, competence, capabilities
and objectivity;
AHEBIMIMBEERNER - X)) - BEHREFEIL

e Assessed the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the property industry and using
our valuation specialists; and
BREBRMEMETENERR - ERRMOAIEESR
K AHEPTERANMAERERERBRNEEE ARk

e Checked, on a sample basis, the published
external market data for the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used by the
independent external valuer.

AR T A M A INER T35 B R A SE RV IA 2 I8 S50 AR
HERTFTE A A B R -

We found that the assumptions used in the valuations

were supported by the available evidence.

HAERAEPEANRREEEIS -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



Key Audit Matter
BRETER

Recoverability of prepaid land lease payments,
properties under development and properties held
for sale
BANTHEER
3

BRTUERFEEERR ZWEN TR

Refer to note 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 4(a), 4(b), 4(c), 15, 18 and 24
to the consolidated financial statements
FBLBRAMBREMTE27 - 2.8 2.9 4() ~4(b) * 4c) *
15+ 1824

Included in the Group's balance sheet were prepaid
land lease payments, property under development
and properties held for sale which amounted to
HK$1,472 million, HK$556 million and HK$920 million
respectively as at 31 December 2018 and which were
related to property projects in the Mainland China.
BHE_ZT—)\F+-A=+—RH  BiFt BEXEEEAE
REPHEMLHEER  BRTPOENEHEREZWED
Al 4 1,472,000,0007% 7T * 556,000,0007% 7T F1920,000,000 7%
7 - EAEAMEEIR R B

Given their financial significance, management
assessed the recoverability of prepaid land lease
payments and net realisable value assessment in
respect of the properties under development and
held for sale, where applicable, taking into account
the estimated costs to completion and estimated net
sales value at prevailing market conditions.
ERNEMBESR - ERENE T RN LS FA AT e
AR ERAPMEHE RG22 WMEN R ZEFERFG - 08
A WEETRITHSRG TR TRAMGEHHEF
B

In respect of properties held for sale, management
assessed the recoverability based on the estimated
net sales value at prevailing market conditions.
EHERGZWETH - ERERERITHSGRA T EEtH
HEFERE T AN

Provision is made when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. The assessment requires
management judgment and estimates.
BESEHLRABEANEMBETRREERN EEEROE - &
RREER - ST - FEEREEHABAMEET -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEANAEEBRRENER

Our procedures in relation to management's
assessment on recoverability of the prepaid land
lease, properties under development and properties
held for sale included:

BREREHREMN I HAER ERPYENEHEER G
PR AT L R ETE - FAPIERITRORZ B R ¢

e Evaluation of management’s assessment which
was prepared based on the estimated selling price
and cost to completion. We had benchmarked
the estimated selling price, on a sample basis,
to recent transactions or available market
information. While on the construction cost to
completion, we had vouched significant items to
the relevant supporting documents; and
B EERBMAETHHEBBMT IR AL
o BHPIE B NHEBREAHRR SRR ATSAL
BT T LR - MAETIAARSE @ BM%E T7HE
BAXHHPNEESIE UK

e Discussed with management on the latest status
and development plans of the underlying property
projects, such as expected dates in obtaining the
completion certificates and expected completion
dates of the projects.

HEREN mAMYEIRE DR MFARGE - ES
LB ENTE B AFIEE T IHEA R -

We found the carrying amounts were supported by
the available evidence.

HPIERBRmEN AU E S SIS -



Key Audit Matter
BRETER

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land lease
payments related to power plants in the Mainland
China

TEIRG SRR EERRE BREENES
T E AR AR

Refer to note 2.5, 2.7, 2.11(b), 4(c), 15, 16 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements
BLMEAMBRERME25 27 2.11(0) * 4(0) * 15+ 16 %

AR Z

17

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's non-current
assets principally comprised property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land lease
payments related to power plants in the Mainland
China.
BHE_Z—)/\+_HA=+—8H"
%@%q:lmtmafﬁ%%@m@%% :
M L HAER -

BERENIERBEET
Mozl - BIPEE

Management assessed whether there was any
impairment of the carrying values of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land
lease payments by calculating the recoverable
amount under value-in-use method, where
applicable. The impairment assessment requires
management to exercise significant management
judgment and estimates, among other things,
estimating correspondingly tariff rates, future sales
volume and discount rate.

EEERBRACAEERDNEEN LS - SFEYE -

e MR - BPEENBAN T HEERNEREESSFE
ERDRUE - BUERHEERER B L B RE R A R MAE

BEGEEEE  RARHERURE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEANAEEBRRENER

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land lease
payments related to relevant power plants in the
Mainland China included:
MEREBHTBEAMMAMESHNOYE - B LRE BT
EEMEN LA ERARERNE - HFIBTHENEE

e Assessed the impairment assessment
methodology used by the management to
estimate value in use;

SHEEEERNHEEREERBAOREN S

e Assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
relevant business and industry and with the
involvement of our valuations specialists;
RIBRPIEHBRGINITENER AR MO AEEE
ERHSH - FHERRERRNESEME

e Reconciled input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considered the
reasonableness of these budgets;

LB ABBNZFIERE  NENEEUNREEE
WRER SR

e Evaluated the management's sensitivity analysis to
assess the potential impact of reasonable possible
downside changes in the key assumptions.
FHEERENSRESIT - UFFERREBRPSER
WM LR EEZE

We found the assumptions made by management
in relation to the value in use assessment to be
supportable based on available evidence.
RIFRAERE - BPIEER - EEEHEREENTEMER
BREBEHF o

The significant inputs have been appropriately

disclosed in note 4c.

ZEENBERABBEEN FachARRKE -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

BMWER  SHRAUBBREBRS MrEHR
HRF AR M RN BAHERRARSERMRE - I
HABERMAERNZEESRS - RABRRERE
—NAN—FRARNE) E0MKR BT (ERER)R
SHMOEBR - BRI ZIMREREEM B A9 o Fff
TERARRENAD R EMA TR SR EER
BE - ABRBFRSKTHRE - BTRRBER
(BRENERDETNET - EX —ERERBLET
FERFABREEEIR o SARRIRA F] A s BRFF S BE AR B » 4D
REBRHCMEFERERA R RS UBHR
RIEMERRER S WBMRAMELOEERE - AlF
RA RV SRR AT RAR (E X ©

ERBECEBENERNDETEHBET - RIER
TEERHE - REFTBERIEREE - BRI

c BRI MEF G B R EREE SRR T B AR B B TS
RIEFEEREREAH AR - Ret RAITEE
RFAREELRR - ARERFTENEEK
FiURE - FRRAIERMER - ARAEFA
B EH - BE FEER ERRM %
EERAEESZ £ B REE R E LM
BB RERER A R SRR 3 H E 58
RN B E R HERER A RS ©

o THREBIM0NBEN - ARHEEGHE
sH2R - EEMLIEY BEEAHLHNE
BUEHRER -

S HEEEMRAEFEENEEERELEF
A AIER R S IR -
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Pong Fei Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March, 2019
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

meEBEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-T-N\GF+_A=1+—HILEE

2018 2017
—E-NF —T—tF
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
B s BEBT BEAT
Revenue = 5 1,270.0 1,789.1
Cost of sales SHERAR (629.2) (1,112.2)
Gross profit EF 640.8 676.9
Other income EHugA 6 135.2 235.6
Fair value adjustments on REENFERHE
investment properties 696.5 1,110.0
Selling and distribution costs S T 5 SRR (36.6) (54.5)
Administrative expenses THRER (155.0) (199.8)
Other and general expenses Hihf—iRE B (43.3) (94.0)
Operating profit SR 7 1,237.6 1,674.2
Finance income g1 ON 8 41.8 32.1
Finance costs AR AR 8 (33.4) (40.7)
Finance income/(costs) — net B (BVERKAR) — %58 8 8.4 (8.6)
Share of profits less losses of FEARES & A )i RS 1B
associates 20 89.4 97.1
Share of loss of a joint venture FEIE—ME g RREE 21 (65.9) (47.8)
Profit before income tax Fri8BianaER 1,269.5 1,714.9
Income tax expense FriSfisz 11 (312.3) (470.5)
Profit for the year IRE R 957.2 1,244 .4
Profit attributable to: BAT PE(ESS5R
Equity holders of the Company RATERTAA 734.1 898.8
Non-controlling interests ISR A RS 223.1 345.6
957.2 1,244.4
Earnings per share attributable to  RATEREFBEA
equity holders of the Company EEERER
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AFRBNZ)R) 12
Basic HAK 138.8 170.0
Diluted s 138.3 170.0
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-T-N\GF+_A=1+—HILEE

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Translation of financial statements of
foreign operations
— Currency translation differences of
the Company and its subsidiaries
— Currency translation differences of
associates and a joint venture
Investments available for sale
— Gain in fair value
Item that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Gain on property revaluation

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

A E R

Htt2m(ER) WA
AREREH D EERHE2EE

BE BN RIS IR

—ARARENBRARZ
[ I R
—BERF L -HAERARZ
ERREEE
AHHERE
— R FERES

HATEEN2BEBE2EHE

E ARl

FEEHEMR2E(EE), WA -
HIBRBLE

REERHBALE
BUN S 2 E A -

RAFHEEEA
ESRl g

2018 2017

e —E—t
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEBT

1,244.4

953.2

151.4

3.2

52.3

1,160.1
2,404.5

1,870.0
534.5

2,404.5

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



As at 31 December 2018
R=FE—-N\FE+=A=+—H

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment properties
Prepaid land lease payments
Property, plant and equipment

— Other property,

plant and equipment

— Construction in progress
Intangible assets
Properties under development
Interests in associates
Interest in a joint venture
Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income
Prepayments and other receivables

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Properties held for sale
Trade and other receivables
Restricted cash

Short-term bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

BE

FRBEE

REMH

AL EER

M - R R
—HAfPE

—ERTE

AR

L ES

RBEAR 2 3

N—Ma ARz S

A E S RAE

BATEER b2 TERTIEY
eRmEE

HHR LA AR

FRDAESE

REEE

i

(R E MR 2 %

BB 3 L B

SRHRS

EERITR

RERRESEN

REBEELE

BEERE
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Note
Bi7E

14
15

16
16
17
18
20
21
22

22
25

24
25
26
27
28

2018

S
HK$ Million
BEBT

2017
—F—+tF
HK$ Million
BEBT

12,280.5
1,579.6

998.2
36.1
1.6
529.9
1,251.0
1,780.3
28.0

194.1
18,679.3

9.0
1,461.9
230.1
398.0

2,497.4
4,596.4
23,275.7



As at 31 December 2018
R=FE—-N\FE+=A=+—H

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to

equity holders of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings

Deferred income tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Amount due to a shareholder

Current income tax liabilities

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

OEIl Kang, Eric
=i
Director

EF

s

RAREBRFEARGEER
K fttE

B

s

FAREEFEARGLES

FEIEMR R
EREE

&fE
FRBEE

BN

ELFREHAR
FREB A EAE

REAE
TR AF B35 e LA B £+ 35K

RN

e — R R AR
BB AR

REIEEAE
BERRE
EERREAR

2018 2017

= WV —T—t5

Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
k=4 BEBT BEBT
29 132.2
30 13,138.7
13,270.9

2,685.3

15,956.2

31 2,508.1
33 1,790.5
4,298.6

32 2,187.0
31 288.0
34 226.2
319.7

3,020.9

7,319.5

23,275.7

LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
Director

EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

BE-F—\F+-A=—BLFE

Balance at 1 January 2017

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Translation of financial statements of
foreign operations
— Currency translation differences of
the Company and its subsidiaries
— Currency translation differences of
associates and a joint venture
Investments available for sale
- Gain in fair value
Gain on property revaluation

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners
Changes in ownership interests in
a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control arising from
the following factor
- Exercise of a listed subsidiary's
warrants
Dividends paid
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 31 December 2017

Balance at 1 January 2018

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss
Translation of financial statements of
foreign operations
- Currency translation differences of
the Company and its subsidiaries
- Currency translation differences of
associates and a joint venture

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners
Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in
a loss of control arising from
the following factor
- Exercise of a listed subsidiary’s
warrants

R-B-t5-A-R&H
2EBA

REE M

Hfr2ERA
BEBINEBHBRER

—ARFREMBARZER
Bz®
—BEARR-HAERAL
ERBEEE
AHEERE
—AFERE
ELAT 6
FEEXARAAR

BRAAZRS
ATSIRESHMBAR 2 #E
B2 BERERREEHE

—itE M LTHEAT

PEd T
S
RERAZXAAE
R=F—tEt=A=t-AkH
R=-\F-A-AEH
2EkA
R
£ 2 EA
BRI EIHTRR

—AATREMEATZ BN
gzg

—BEAAR-HARARZE
KAEEE

EYTES TN T

BRAAZRS

ATSIRASHMBAR
BEEREHEREHAE
il

—{Te—R LB AR 2Bk

A
3

- Acquisition of non-controlling interests —uﬂz,ﬂ%:?ﬁﬁWEQEZiH?Hﬁ

of a subsidiary
Dividends paid
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 31 December 2018

=

BERE
HREAZXSER
R=B—N\F+-A=t-ARH
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Note
B =E

30
30
30

30
30

30
30

30

30
30

Attributable
to equity
holders of
the Company
PUNGE
BEAER

HK$ Million
BEBT

11,477.2

898.8

764.3
1514

32
52.3
1,870.0

(2.3)
(74.0)

(76.3)
13,270.9

Non-
controlling
interests
FER

BE

HK$ Million
BEET

21499

3456

188.9

534.5

2,685.3

Total
equity

B8R

HK$ Million
BEBT

13,627.1

1,244.4

9532
151.4

3.2
52.3
2,404.5

1.9
(77.3)

(75.4)
15,956.2



For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-T-N\GF+_A=1+—HILEE

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid, net

Net cash generated from
operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Dividend received from associates
Development costs paid for
investment properties
under development
Development costs paid for
construction in progress
Additions to prepayment for
property, plant and
equipment and
investment properties
under development
Purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from the disposal of
property, plant and equipment
Return of capital from a financial
asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Disposal of a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss
Decrease in advances to
a joint venture
(Increase)/decrease in short-term
bank deposits

Net cash used in investing activities

REEBRBZRER
RERBHERS
B AETHE

REXRBAGHSFHE

REFHZRERE

RIS

B2 €A NEI) S,
ENERPIREMEZERRAR

ENERETRZ ERKA

ME - R RRE ARERD
REMEMIRIMNENERR

BEME  HERRE

BEEPEE

HEME - BB NRE
FSHRIR

BAFEEEMEERRSIR
ZEREEZERKD

HERAFEERERIIEZ
EREE
N —F&ERRZBFRD

FEHIRITIE AR (48 00), R

REDRBAARSFER

Note
BiaE

38

2018 2017

e —E—t
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT

1,566.8
(105.4)

1,461.4

23.8

(208.3)

(28.9)

(186.2)

(24.3)

1.0

36.8

246.8

14.5
(124.8)

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-T-N\GF+_A=1+—HILEE

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of bank borrowings and
other loans

(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash

Increase in bank borrowings and
other loans

(Decrease)/increase in advance
from a shareholder

Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders

Dividends paid to equity holders
of the Company

Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders

Repayment of loan from a
non-controlling shareholder

Settlement of a financial liability
at fair value through profit or loss

Interest paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in
cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
at 1 January
Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
31 December

Note
BiaE

MEFH2RERE
BEBITERMEMBER

ERHIRSEM), R
HRITHE A Eo Al B RRAE

—BRERBFKORL), 0
FEERRBIR 2 EE
ENARRREGEITEAZKRE
BN IRERRBIR 2 S
BRI R E
EEENFEERSERIRZ
ERAE
ENHE
BREZBDME(FIR)RLFE
ReRBSZEWRD)

N
R—RA—RZBRERRSEFEY

Rt A=+—RzH2ERE
EEY
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2018

S
HK$ Million
BEBT

2017
—F—+tF
HK$ Million
BEBT

(742.2)
265.3

388.4

220.0

1.9

(77.3)

(163.7)
(152.4)

(260.0)

1,076.6

1,296.3

124.5

2,497.4



HKC (Holdings) Limited (the “Company” or “HKC") is a
limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
"Group”) are principally engaged in the business of
property development and investment and renewable
energy investment and operation. The investments of the
Group are mainly located in the Mainland China.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The ultimate holding company is Claudio
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in million of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ Million), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements
were approved for issue by the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) on 20 March 2019.

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of HKC have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”)
and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of investment properties, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, available-for-sale financial assets, and
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, which are carried at fair value.
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed
in Note 4.

(@) New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations adopted by the Group

Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property
HKAS 40
Amendments to Classification and Measurement
HKFRS 2 of Share-based Payment
Transactions
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Amendments to Clarifications to HKFRS 15
HKFRS 15

Annual Improvements  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

HK (IFRIC) Foreign Currency Transactions
~ Interpretation 22 and Advance Consideration
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(a)

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations adopted by the Group
(continued)

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact

of adoption

Classification and measurement

Following the adoption of HKFRS 9
and in accordance with the transitional
provisions, comparative figures of the
Group's financial statements have not
been restated. The reclassifications and
the adjustments arising from the new
standards are therefore not restated in
the balance sheet as at 31 December
2017, but are recognised in the opening

balance sheet on 1 January 2018.

The Group has elected to present changes
in the fair value of the investments in
other comprehensive income (previously
classified as available-for-sale financial
assets) as they are not expected to be

sold in the short to medium term.

Under this election, changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not eligible to be
recycled to profit and loss, even if the
asset is impaired, sold or otherwise

derecognised.

As a result, the comparatives continue
to be accounted as available-for-sale
financial assets while its opening balances
were reclassified to financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) with no adjustments
on carrying amount on the date of initial

adoption (i.e. 1 January 2018).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations adopted by the Group
(continued)

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact
of adoption (continued)

Classification and measurement
(continued)

The following tables show the impact on
each individual line item. Line items that
were not affected by the changes have
not been included.

2
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2.1 wREEEE)
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AT R ()
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()
AEREE ()

MR EERIEE W
TR BEBEIRED
FEMAR -

Available-for-sale Financial assets

financial assets at FVOCI
RATEEEMZE
HHECREE REJIRCEREE
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEATL BEETL
Closing balance as at 31 December 2017 A=Z—+45+—f
- HKAS 39 =t—BzHeEs
—ERETERIE9% 280 =
Reclassify investments from available-  BREMTHEELFREE
for-sale financial assets to financial BN EERATER
assets at FVOCI Hit2EIBRIR2 £/
BE (28.0) 28.0
Opening balance as at 1 January 2018 H=Z—)\&—A—Hz
- HKFRS 9 BIER—BBHBRE
EBIE9H - 280
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations adopted by the Group
(continued)

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact
of adoption (continued)
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Classification and measurement DEREE(E)
(continued)
Available-for-sale Financial assets
investments reserve  at FVOCl reserve
BRATEE
Eth2EERR
AHHEREHE SHEERE
HKS Million HK$ Million
BEET BEAT
Closing balance as at 31 December 2017 HA=Z—+45+—A
- HKAS 39 = =
—BREERIE395 9.2 =
Reclassify investments from available-  BRERTHEELFREE
for-sale financial assets to financial ENHBRERATHEE
assets at FVOCI Hin2EERIIR &/
BE 9.2) 9.2
Opening balance as at 1 January 2018 H=Z—)\&—A—Az
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HERIE95 - 9.2
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(a)

New standards, amendments to standards

and interpretations adopted by the Group
(continued)

(i)

(ii)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact
of adoption (continued)

Impairment

The Group's financial assets classified
at amortised cost, including trade and
other receivables are subject to the
new expected credit loss model for
impairment assessment. The adoption of
new impairment model as at 1 January
2018 has not resulted in any material
impact on the carrying amount of the
Group's financial assets.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers — Impact of adoption

HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18 which covers
contracts for goods and services. The
Group has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers from 1
January 2018. The Group has elected
to apply the modified retrospective
approach by adjusting opening retained
earnings when it adopted HKFRS 15
effective on 1 January 2018 without
restatement of prior periods.
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(a)

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations adopted by the Group
(continued)

(i) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers — Impact of adoption
(continued)

The adoption does not have any impact
on the recognition of the Group's
revenue streams. Rental income from
lease arrangements is excluded from
the scope of HKFRS 15. For the sales
of properties, the revenue continues to
be recognised at the point in time of
transfer of ownership. Revenue from the
sales of electricity is recognised on the
same basis, which is the transmission of
electricity to customers. As a result, the
adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have
any impact on the Group's revenue
recognition and therefore adjustments of
the Group’s opening retained earnings
to reflect the adoption of HKFRS 15 is not
required.

Other than HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, the
adoption of these amendments to standards
and interpretations does not have any
significant impact on the Group.

FEBATRNZ HER - ERIE
TR ()

(i) BB BEHRELERFE 155
[EPEHMA ] —FRE
HE(E)

75 [ BR A 4 7 5 3 Wy 2 2R
TR FERIL ET ML -
REHERENRS KA
PN BB B RS ER
EISSRZBEI - FRWE
HEMS  WeSBEERSE
RIEAERERR - BN
SHE U S IR AR R B 2E (B
BEOHETEPR)ER
Eit - BB IS RE
ERIFEISHREARER 2K
SHERAVETATE &
AEBBEFHEHRE
S P DA Bt L R 4 7 s B
TEHREAERIZE 155K -

BEEVBRERAEIT REE
B R A SERIE 1558 5N - BN Z
SEAEFT RRBIREHAE
BIEREMNEARE -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



New standards, amendments to standards (b)
and interpretations have been issued but are
not effective for the financial year beginning

on 1 January 2018 and have not been early B

adopted

The following standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations have been
published and are mandatory for the Group's
accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019 or later periods, but the Group
has not early adopted them:

Amendments to HKAS 19

BRI ENF 195 2 B3]

Amendments to HKAS 28

BREGERNEBR BT

Amendments to HKFRS 9

EREBREENEIR 2T

HKFRS 16

BRUBREERNE 165

HKFRS 17

ERRBEREENETHR

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

BANBREER  FELE

HK (IFRIC) - Interpretation 23

EE(ERUBREREZEE)
—REE23,

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

s RERS1ESR2018

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
SHEIERT - RS EE

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
BERRARA SRR REER

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
AR AMENRMERSL

Leases

il

Insurance Contracts

REAH

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle
ERAMBREEN _2-1FE "B FRHvFEYE
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

MR < TREE IE

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

B RERSER 2 B5]

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

BRMBREENF R LELENEN REFEREREARRAERFIHZEENENTE

F2RZERT
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New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations have been issued but are
not effective for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2018 and have not been early
adopted (continued)

The Group has not early adopted the new
standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations, which have been issued but are
not effective for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2018. Further information
about those new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations that are not yet
effective but are expected to be applicable to
the Group is set out below:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will
result in almost all leases being recognised on
the balance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases is removed. Under
the new standard, an asset (the right to use
the leased item) and a financial liability to pay
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are
short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the
accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
HK$0.3 million. Based on current assessment,
it is estimated that the change in accounting
for the Group's operating leases will not result
in a significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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(b) New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations have been issued but are
not effective for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2018 and have not been early
adopted (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

HKFRS 16 is mandatory for first annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019. The Group intends to apply
the simplified transition approach and will
not restate comparative amounts for the year
prior to first adoption. The Group has not
early adopted HKFRS 16 for the year ended 31
December 2018.

There are no other standards that are not yet
effective and that would be expected to have
a material impact on the entity in current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and all its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

(@) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.
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(a)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The Group uses the acquisition method
of accounting to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either
fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRS.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is
less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in profit or loss.
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(a)

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments
in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. It is adjusted to reflect
changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.
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Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary
in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss.
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Associates

Associates are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not control,
generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method of accounting, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased
to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or
loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The Group's investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an
associate, any difference between the cost of
the associate and the Group's share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

The Group's share of its associates’ post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in
profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income
with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group's share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Associates (continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value and recognises
the amount adjacent to “share of profits less
losses of associates” in the income statement.

Unrealised gains on transactions between
the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's interests in
the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments
in associates are recognised in profit or loss.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing the proceeds with the carrying
amount and are recognised within other
income or other and general expenses in profit
or loss.
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(e) Joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement
whereby the Group and other parties undertake
an economic activity which is subject to joint
control and none of the participating parties
has unilateral control over the economic
activity.

Investments in joint ventures are accounted
for by the equity method of accounting. The
consolidated income statement includes the
Group's share of the results of joint ventures for
the year, and the consolidated balance sheet
includes the Group's share of the net assets
of the joint ventures and goodwill (net of any
accumulated impairment loss) on acquisition.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's interest in the joint
ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Group’s most
senior executive management that makes strategic
decisions.
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(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The Group's functional
currency is Renminbi and the Group's
presentation currency is Hong Kong dollars to
facilitate analysis of the financial information of
the Group, which is listed in Hong Kong.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are remeasured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.
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(c)  Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income. Goodwill and fair value
adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

FEAH

SEETHAERIFSEHRI®R
BBz R (Hh Y E
ERRABRFABREE 2 EER
R2E%) - HEENMP ARG
BATHERBRERE

() BREEBERZEER
BEURRZEERER
ZWERGE

(i) HEBERR WAL
BIRBFERBE - 2
EUFIERREAREM
RMERZH A ZEXRMH
K2 RAAFE  QARRE
RPAZERBE P EZR
AMBS &

(i) FBEELZEREZRIRN
Hip 2E B AP HER - F
WEBINARIMEL 2R
BRRFEBPE  HRE
ZBIRRIZEERARE
Bz 3B - 3 LA T BE X i
H-EXBREZEREM
EEPWANFTER o



Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the
equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that
do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control) the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange difference
is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Properties are interests in land and buildings other
than investment properties. Leasehold land classified
as finance lease, buildings, electric utility plant and
equipment, other plant and equipment, comprising
plant and machineries, motor vehicles and furniture
and fixtures are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest
becomes available for its intended use. Amortisation
on leasehold land classified as finance lease and
depreciation on other assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as

follows:
Leasehold land classified Shorter of remaining lease
as finance lease term or useful life
Buildings 50 years
Electric utility plant and Shorter of the
equipment remaining operation

period or 20 years
Other plant and equipment 3 to 15 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.
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Subsequent costs are included in the carrying
amount of the asset or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

An asset's carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within other income or other and
general expenses in profit or loss.

Investment property, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, is held for long-term
rental yields and is not occupied by the Group. Land
held under operating leases are accounted for as
investment properties when the rest of the definition
of an investment property is met. In such cases, the
operating leases concerned are accounted for as if
they were finance leases.

Property that is being constructed or developed as
investment property is carried at fair value. Where
fair value is not determinable, such investment
property under construction is measured at cost until
either its fair value becomes reliably determinable or
construction is completed (whichever is earlier).
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Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition
at cost, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined
at each reporting date by external valuers. Fair
value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if
necessary, for any difference in the nature, location
or condition of the specific asset. If the information
is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active markets
or discounted cash flow projections. These valuations
are reviewed annually by Knight Frank Petty Limited
("Knight Frank”), an independent professional
valuer.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among
other things, rental income from current leases and
assumptions about rental income from future leases
in the light of current market conditions.

The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any
cash outflows that could be expected in respect of
the property. Some of those outflows are recognised
as a liability, including finance lease liabilities in
respect of land classified as investment property,
others, including contingent rent payments, are not
recognised in the financial statements.

Subsequently expenditure is included in the asset’s
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the asset will
flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
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Changes in fair values are recorded as part of a
valuation gain or loss in fair value adjustments on
investment properties in profit or loss.

The Group transfers a property from investment
property to property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments when and only
when there is a change in use, evidenced by
commencement of owner-occupation. The deemed
cost of the property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments is the fair value of the
property at the date of change in use.

The Group transfers a property from property, plant
and equipment to investment property when and
only when there is a change in use, evidenced by
end of owner-occupation. Any difference resulting
between carrying amount and the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer is treated as the
same way as a revaluation under HKAS 16. Any
resulting increase in the carrying amount of the
property is recognised in income statement to the
extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss,
with any remaining increase recognised in other
comprehensive income and increase directly to
equity in revaluation surplus within equity. Any
resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the
property is initially charged in other comprehensive
income against any previously recognised
revaluation surplus, with any remaining decrease
charged to income statement.
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Prepaid land lease payments represent prepayments
for leasehold land held under operating leases, which
are stated at cost and subsequently are amortised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease or when there is impairment,
the impairment is expensed in profit or loss. During
the course of the properties development, the
amortisation is included as part of the costs of the
properties under development.

Properties held for sale are initially measured at
the carrying amount of the property at the date of
reclassification from properties under development.
Properties remaining unsold at the end of the year
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost comprises land and development costs
attributable to the unsold properties.

Net realisable value represents the management’s
estimated selling price based on prevailing market
conditions less costs to be incurred in selling the

property.

The Group transfers a property from investment
property to properties held for sale when and
only when there is a change in use, evidenced by
commencement of development with a view to sale.
The deemed cost of the properties held for sale
transferred from investment property is the fair value
of the property at the date of change in use.
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Properties under development including the
properties developed for resale comprises
development cost of properties which are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Properties under development are classified under
current assets when they are expected to be realised
in the Group's normal operating cycle and comprise
development costs of properties and the costs
paid to acquire land use rights which are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. On
completion, the properties under development are
transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Net realisable value takes into account the price
ultimately expected to be realised, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to
completion.

Development cost of properties comprises
construction costs, borrowing costs and professional
fees incurred during the development period.

Costs directly attributable to the construction of
property, plant and equipment including borrowing
costs during the construction period are capitalised
as the costs of the assets, which are classified
as construction in progress. On completion, the
construction in progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. No depreciation is provided
on construction in progress until such items as the
relevant assets are completed and available for
intended use.
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(a)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination. Each unit or group of units
to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGUs
containing the goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs
of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Other intangible assets have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment and amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives of
five years.

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

[

RSB I B A RIS E VB B4R
FrEg i (E - RiE T e Em
FEEREE B RBEN B
77 VBT W B B e X AR
HAT U A BRI B E R ER AT
BzZ% -

MREAAME - RBAGE
SHOEESESREEMEREN
BHBRMENSRESELEN
(TReELSEMXRSELSE
fr#A7) - FEM D MBI
BUARNSEBARAREER
MmESRAENRERER - B2
TR E DR EIETTE SR -

HESFETRER  XEH
SHHRNIE R ER A B
HRER  (FHEATRE - R
SEAEM(ZERHE) REEHR
A E S FRELLE - AT O R
RERBEARXTERDEXA
HBREE o ERREERERR
fix - BEZE D SEM -

HittE\REE

EBEHREBZEMBEE
RURES B iR A TP ERR - Hib
BEEAERFHAR - XA
FRASB R FHRE M E AR - #
HRAET A ERFEHAF - KA
BHAORRTHE o



Assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets which are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(a) Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its

financial assets in the following measurement

categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at
FVOCI and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will be recorded in other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at FVOCI.
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Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset.

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group's right to receive
payments is established.
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Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group applies the
simplified approach on assessing the expected
credit losses associated with trade receivables
as permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the receivables, see Note
25 for further details.

Accounting policies applied until 31
December 2017

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively,
but has elected not to restate comparative
information. As a result, the comparative
information provided continues to be
accounted for in accordance with the Group's
previous accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following categories:

o financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss,

. loans and receivables, and

. available-for-sale financial assets

(d)

(e)
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The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at

initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term. Derivatives are classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than twelve
months after the balance sheet date. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group's loans and receivables comprise

"o

“trade and other receivables”, “cash and cash

equivalents”, “short-term bank deposits” and
“restricted cash” in the balance sheet.
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(ili)  Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in
this category or not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless the investment matures
or management intends to dispose of the
investment within twelve months of the balance
sheet date.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are
initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
of the “financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss” category are presented in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise. Dividend income from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency and classified as
available-for-sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in amortised
cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. Changes in the
fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities
classified as available for sale are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in
profit or loss as other income or other and general

expenses.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in
profit or loss as part of other income. Dividends on
available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss as part of other income which the
Group's right to receive payments is established.
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Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Company or the counterparty.

For the purposes of assessing the fair value of
unlisted securities, the Group established fair value
by using valuation techniques. These include the
use of recent arm'’s length transactions, reference
to other instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing
models, making maximum use of market inputs and
relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In
the case of equity securities classified as available
for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the security below its cost is considered
as an indicator that the securities are impaired.
If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss
— is removed from equity and recognised in profit or
loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on
equity instruments are not reversed through profit or
loss.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out (FIFO) method. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. They are generally due for
settlement within 30 days and therefore are all
classified as current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. See
Note 25 for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1 for a
description of the Group's impairment policies.
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Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the balance sheet date.
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General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the
asset for its intended use. Other borrowing costs are
expensed.

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less.
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Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss is
financial liability held for trading. A financial liability is
classified in this category as designated by the Group
upon initial recognition.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the “financial liability at fair value through profit or
loss” category are presented in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are derecognised from the consolidated balance
sheet when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
at fair value through profit or loss that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss as
other income.
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The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date in the countries where
the Company’s subsidiaries and associates and joint
ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

(@) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the balance sheet date.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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Defined contribution plans

The Group uses a mandatory provident fund
scheme ("MPF") and employee pension
schemes established by municipal government
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") for
the eligible employees in Hong Kong and the
PRC respectively.

The Group's and the employees’ contributions
to the MPF comply with the related statutory
requirements. The Group has no further
payments obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The Group's contributions to
the MPF are expensed as incurred and are not
reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave MPF prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available. The assets of MPF are held separately
from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

The Group's contribution to the employee
pension schemes in the PRC is at a percentage
in compliance with the requirements of

respective municipal governments.
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Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier
of the following dates: (a) when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises
costs for a restructuring that is within the
scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy,
the termination benefits are measured based
on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than
twelve months after the balance sheet date are
discounted to their present value.
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Where
the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed,
for example under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods,
properties and services in the ordinary course of the
Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-
added tax and after eliminating sales within the
Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group's activities as described below. The amount of
revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable
until all contingencies relating to the sale have
been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on
historical results, taking into consideration the type of
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of

each arrangement.

(@) Revenues from renewable energy refers
to power dispatched during commercial
operation. Revenues from sales of electricity
is recognised at a point of time when it is
transmitted to the customers. Commercial
operation starts upon obtaining a Power
Purchase Agreement, safety certificate from
the State Electricity Regulatory Commission
("SERC") or Provincial Grid Authority, and 240
hours commissioning. Revenue attributable
to the sales of electricity generated during
construction and testing period is not included
in the electricity sales revenue, but is offset
against the cost of property, plant and
equipment.
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Rental income from investment properties
is recognised in the income statement on
a straight-line basis over the terms of the
respective leases.

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised
when control over the properties has been
transferred to the customer. The properties
have generally no alternative use for the Group
due to contractual restrictions. However, the
Group does not have an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the ownership of the properties has
been passed to the customer. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to
date of revenue recognition are included under
current liabilities.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset except for financial
assets, that subsequently become credit-
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after
deduction of the loss allowance).

Property management fee income is recognised
when the services are rendered.
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(a)

Finance leases (leasee)

Leases that substantially transfer to the
Group all the risks and rewards of ownership
of assets are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant
rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in liabilities. The
finance charges are charged to the income
statement over the lease periods so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the
risks and rewards of ownership are retained by
the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net
of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

BMEREEAA)

RIS EERE EREEBAR
SRBEERZEESEABE
HE - EHENHERIBRR
HEMEATFEESEESRE
ZBEEBEFTER - FEEER
REERBERZ 2R - A
EREEAREERESRBEEELL
R RHHSEENREERMX
BETARE  -BERXNEEH
Bt ABamR - UEtERHEE
{EERER 2 TEHAR K o

KEAE

BERAR BRI AR LT
HENHBEEZHE  BHREA
REHE - BREEEEXNZ
FIRFEMNG B & WERZ R
BEE  RNEERARNERERE
B RPN -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. It can also be a present
obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company'’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved.
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The Group's activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s major financial
instruments include trade and other receivables,
amounts due from an associate and a joint venture,
restricted cash, short-term bank deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, derivative financial instrument,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
financial assets at FVOCI, available-for-sale financial
assets, trade and other payables, bank loans and
loans from non-controlling shareholders. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes.

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into
derivative transactions for speculative purposes.

The Board focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. The
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

(@) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in the
Mainland China. Entities within the
Group are exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in a
currency that is not the Group's functional

currency.
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(a)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have any
foreign currency hedging activities.
However, the management of the Group
monitors the foreign exchange exposure
closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

If Renminbi had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against the Hong Kong dollars
and US dollars as at 31 December 2018
with all other variables held constant, the
Group's profit before income tax would
have been HK$58.9 million higher/lower
(2017: HK$23.6 million).

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from
bank borrowings. Borrowings issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk due to fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rate. The
Group's results and operating cash flows
are substantially dependent of changes in
market interest rates.
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(a)

Market risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, management
will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposures should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2018, if the interest
rate had increased/decreased 100 basis
points with all other variables held
constant, the Group's profit before
income tax would have decreased/
increased by HK$31.1 million (2017:
HK$6.5 million).

Price risk

The Group has minimal exposure to price
risk during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.
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(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in its short-
term bank deposits, restricted cash, cash
and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables.

The carrying amount of short-term bank
deposits, restricted cash, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables,
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

(i) Risk management

To manage the credit risk associated
with short-term bank deposits, restricted
cash and cash and cash equivalents, most
of the deposits are mainly placed with
certain state-owned banks in the PRC
which are high-credit quality financial
institutions and banks with high credit
rankings in Hong Kong.

To manage the credit risk associated
with trade and other receivables, the
Group adopts risk control to assess
the credit quality of the customers
and debtors, taking into account their
financial positions and past experience.
The Group has monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.
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(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Risk management (continued)

For renewable energy business,
the Group is exposed to significant
concentration of credit risk in terms of
electricity sales as the Group’s sales of
electricity were made to state-owned
provincial power grid companies.
The Group normally does not require
collateral from trade debtors. It normally
grants credit terms of 30 days to these
power grid companies. However, part
of the trade receivables, including those
held through associates, due from
the power grid companies relate to
government subsidy which are subject
to government allocation of the tariff
surcharge for renewable energy. Based
on past experience and industry practice,
these tariff premiums are generally paid
in 6 to 12 months from the date of the
sales recognition through it may take
longer to get paid in some circumstances
where the government needs more time
to allocate the tariff subsidies. Ageing
analysis of the Group's trade receivables
is disclosed in Note 25. Management
makes periodic collective assessment
as well as individual assessment of the
recoverability of trade receivables based
on historical payment records, the length
of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the debtors and whether
there are any disputes with the relevant
debtors.
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(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Risk management (continued)

Other than renewable energy business,
there is no concentration of credit risk
with respect to trade receivables from
third party customers as the customer
bases are widely dispersed in different
sectors and industries.

In addition, the Group monitors the
exposure to credit risk in respect
of the financial assistance provided
to subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures through exercising control
significant influence or joint control
(where applicable) over their financial and
operating policy decisions and reviewing
their financial positions on a regular basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group's trade receivables are subject
to the expected credit loss model.

While short-term deposits, restricted cash
and cash and cash equivalents, amount
due from an associate and amount due
from a joint venture are also subject
to impairment requirements of HKFRS
9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.
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(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected
loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation.

The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of customers and
the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information
on the inflation rate and the economic
environment of the PRC.
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(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
On that basis, the provision for
impairment of trade receivables as at 31
December 2018 and 1 January 2018 (on
adoption of HKFRS 9) was determined as

follows:-
Not yet due Az HA
Past due for: By
— Less than 2 months — DR 2{E A
— 2 to less than 6 months —2F LR6AE A
— 6 to less than 12 months —6Z L 12(8 A
— 12 months and more —121E A & E

Less: provision for impairment  J& : BB

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a
customer to engage in a repayment plan
with the Group.

(b) fEERMEE)

(i) ZBEEZFEE)
RIBUEE  R-F—N
F+ZA=+—RBR=Z
—N\EFE—-A—RBZREEER
HHORERE (RAEEY
BHREERESR)ILIAT
EE

31 December 1 January
2018 2018
—E-N\F —E-N\F
+=A=+—8 —A—H
HK$ Million  HK$ Million
HERET BEETT

15.0

3.2
1.5
0.6
7.9

28.2
(7.9)
20.3

ENEEARENAER
HiES - AR EEZHER
R - NMEERREN G
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B EPERAREBIER
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FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable
to meet its current obligations when they
fall due. The Group measures and monitors
its liquidity through the maintenance of
prudent ratios regarding the liquidity structure
of the overall assets, liabilities, loans and
commitments of the Group. The Group also
maintains a conservative level of liquid assets
to ensure the availability of sufficient cash
flows to meet any unexpected and material
cash requirements in the course of ordinary
business.

During the year, the Group complied
with all externally imposed loan covenant
requirements to which it is subject to.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHRRME

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBEBREE@m

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued) () HEBELRS(E)
The table below analyses the Group's contractual TROMAEBEEHEBEZEH
maturity for its financial liabilities. The amounts FER - TREBZREHZE
disclosed in the table have been drawn up with AEEANFZZREHERA
reference to the undiscounted cash flows of the BZARMRREREBRER -

financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay.

Between Between
Less than Tand2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
—£R -EWE -3 3 BERE a5
HKS Million  HKS Million ~ HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million  HKS Million
BEER BERT BEER BERT BEET

At 31 December 2018 R=B-NF+ZB=1-H
Borrowings &3 631.9 5411 21715 3932 37431
Trade and other payables MBS A ER 1,394.6 - - - 13946
Financial quarantee for credit facilites ~ SHEREERERMETS

granted (Note 37(a) ER(MIE) 820 - - - 820

Financial quarantee for mortgage facilities 5% THEEZR LA
granted to certain property buyers GRRERENBER

(Note 36(b) (kizE36b) 5166 - - - 3166
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 34) B —#REE (BizE) 1975 - - - 1975
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+ZB=1-H
Borrowings & 4322 4335 21101 4039 3319.7
Trade and other payables BN RAREN 2021 - - = 2021
Financial quarantee for credit facilites ~ SEREEBERIEH

granted (Note 37(a) ER(H376) 1008 - - = 1008

Financial quarantee for mortgage facilities 5% THEEZH LA

granted to certain property buyers ERRARMIEER

(Note 36(0) (B33416)) 5695 - - = %635
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 34 ER—ZREEVE(H:3) 262 - - - 262
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The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEFEBEARZ RE RREREER

safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going BIREEB 2N - BRARRERREHAD
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders BEAHEMERAEESRAE - Wik
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain FENEARRELMBA L ESRA o
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of

capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, RRFICABREARE  AEENGE
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid BORRLN2RESHE BEEFEH
to shareholders, raise new debt financing, issue new ME - BTG - B R RARERE
shares, share options and warrants or conduct share SETTEIFBARD -

buy-backs.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing AEBFBRNEABEEALERRES
its gearing ratio and cash flows requirements, taking MEBBRERHERERE  BAKE
into account of its future financial obligations and BEARARMBEERAE - AEEKE
commitments for this purpose. The Group defines BERLRRERBEHERRAERR
gearing ratio as total debt divided by total equity. B EREERRAEERBERMTM
Total debt is the aggregate of current and non- B RIFRBIERAERE - R EFINNER
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated SBEERBRIIT -

balance sheet and total equity is also as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2018 and 2017 RZBE-NEFERZZE-—+tF+H
were as follows: =T —RAZBBEERLENT :
2018 2017
—E-N\E —ET—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEBT
Current borrowings mENER 514.2
Non-current borrowings IERENE R 2,508.1
Total borrowings Ep k] 3,022.3
Total equity e fARR 15,956.2
Gearing ratio (total debt/equity ratio) BE& AR (G545,
R 4R 18.9%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHRRME

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBEBREE@m

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEfE
The table below analyses financial instruments TREABEEEHRATEINRZ SR
carried at fair value, by valuation method. The TERETHN - TREZBIFEMOT

different levels have been defined as follows:

= Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets — HAERANEEXEERNERT
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). B BB CRIEAR) (B14R) -

- Inputs other than quoted prices included —  REVERFAZHREUIITEE
within level 1 that are observable for the asset (BNEBER) sk (ANERER
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or EEE)BREEXBERSRA
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). THE (F24) »

-  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not —  WIHRATEETISHE (B IEER
based on observable market data (that is, RETSIATHE ) 2 EESBER
unobservable inputs) (level 3). AIEE (F34) -

The following table presents the Group's financial TRENAEEAR -Z—-N\F+_H

assets that are measured at fair value at 31 December =T —ARATEFECEREE -

2018.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
A Y] B35 ek
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT BEBT BEBT
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOCI BATEEEt2ABRIE

ZEREE - 10.7 10.7 21.4
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The following table presents the Group's financial
assets that are measured at fair value at 31 December
2017.

Assets EE
HLESHEE

Available-for-sale financial assets

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1. Instruments included in level
1 comprise primarily equity investments classified as
trading securities under financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in Level 2.
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Level 1
AR

HKS Million
BEAT

TRENAEEAR-Z—LF+_H
=t RRATEAEZSREE -

Level 2 Level 3 Total
Vi F3R o]
HK$ Million  HK$ Million  HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT BEAT
10.0 18.0 28.0
RERMGMEESRTIAZAEED
RIENEE BFTSRMSERTE - A
BEREREAIIH RHE - L4128
¥RER - BERGHEEHRERES
B BEREEERBRERRLEE Tﬁ/&¥
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If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is

included in Level 3.

The valuation technique and inputs used in the fair

value measurements within Level 2 and Level 3 are as

follows:

Available-for-sale financial assets (Level 2)

At ESmEE(E240)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Level 3)
AftHE SR EE(EMR)

Financial assets at FVOCI (Level 2)

BATEEEMEEERIR eREE(F2R)
Financial assets at FVOCI (Level 3)
BAHEEAMEERRTIR @REE(F3R)
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss (Level 3)
BATERRRRIIRZ 2MEE(E3R)
Financial liabilities at fair value through

profit or loss (Level 3)

BATEARRR)Rz2REEER)

Note: The Group has determined that the reported net

Valuation technique

fEER#

Quoted market prices for
similar instruments

FETAT5HRE

Net asset value Mo

BEFEMD

Quoted market prices for
similar instruments

FEETAZTHRE

Net asset value N

BEFEMD

Net asset value Mo

A HE

Discounted cash flow

TREEHE

asset value represents fair value at 31 December 2018

and 2017.

GEE

i — {2k Z B E A 8 A BRI IR S AT
BEMSEEAME  BUTASAS
3 o

FE2M R EIR AT EFAEMER 2 HE
B R ABIRIT

Significant inputs
BEXBARE

Observable quoted market
price

ATERTISHRE

Not applicable

iR

Observable quoted market
price

ATERMSHRE

Not applicable

TEH

Not applicable

T

Discount rate and expected
recoverable amount of
underlying project

BRI R R IR EAMARAIE B 2 ATk

R

AEBEE A 252 AEFERR =
T NFR=B-LF=ASt—
BZATHE-
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Additional information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):

EAEARERE 2 B AR (H3R)
Wit BATEZ BIVER

Significant unobservable inputs Range
EXBEBENEARE &E
Financial liabilities at fair value through Discount rate 10%
profit or loss MNete) iR
BATEEBERIEZCRMEEND Expected recoverable amount of Not applicable

underlying project

FRHERAR 2 R AR TER

Note: The valuations are performed and reported at each of
the Group's reporting dates to Group management.
The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair value.
The higher the expected recoverable amount of
underlying project, the higher the fair value.

There were no changes in valuation techniques
during the year.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the
date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017, there were no significant transfers of financial
assets between level 1, 2 and 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of the following financial assets and
liabilities approximate their carrying amounts:

. Trade and other receivables

. Amount due from an associate, net
J Amount due from a joint venture
o Cash and cash equivalents

o Short-term bank deposits

o Restricted cash

o Trade and other payables

o Borrowings

o Amount due to a shareholder

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2018

MR EE (®)
3.3 AR EMLFE)

NTEREERABEZ A TERERR
ERE

o RUSRIK R HAb YK

o B REERRFURFE
o  BR—MAEARFA

o HeRREFEY

o EHERTTER

o ERHIME

o BRI EAMEMNK

LI =

o EN—RBRFUR

TREJBEZT-NFRZZT—tF
ToA=t+—BILFEZHEIBIAS

and 2017. E

Financial Financial

Available- assetsat  liabilities at

for-sale Financial fair value fair value

financial assets at through through
assets FVOCI  profit or loss  profit or loss Total

BOTEEHM  RATEE W ROTER

IREE 2EBRESE. BERIRC BERIEZ
SREE tHEE HEE SRER @y
HKS Million ~ HKS Million ~ HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million  HKS Million
BEER BEER BEETR BEER BEER
At 1 January 2018 RZF-N\F-A-H 180 - - - 18.0

Reclassification on adoption of RNE R B REERE05

HKFRS 9 JENHE (18.0) 18.0 - - -
Return of capital EREY - (5.5) - - (5.9)
Net loss recognised in reserves REBTEIERTE - (1.8) - - (1.8)
At 31 December 2018 R=Z-\E+-A=1+-A - 10.7 - - 10.7
At 1 January 2017 RZE—tE-A-H 168 - 125 (290.5) (261.2)
Disposal HE - - (127) 2911 2784
Net gain recognised in profitand loss Mz 7 Wi 28 - - - 132 132
Net gain/(loss) recognised in reserves  HGEERER 2 IE / (BR)F8 1.2 = 02 (138) (12.4)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F+-A=1-H 180 = = = 180
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

The fair value of each investment property, and the
recoverable amount of prepaid land lease payments
portfolio as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, are
individually determined at each balance sheet date
by an independent valuer based on a market value
assessment. Knight Frank was engaged to carry out
the independent valuation of the Group's investment
property and prepaid land lease payments portfolio
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. This valuation
was carried out in accordance with the Valuation
Standards on Properties of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors which defines market value as “the
estimated amount for which a property should
exchange on the date of valuation between a
willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length
transaction after proper marketing wherein the
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently
and without compulsion”.
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Knight Frank has derived the valuation of the Group's
property portfolio by capitalising the rental income
derived from existing tenancies with due provision
for reversionary income potential and where
appropriate, by reference to market comparable
transactions. The assumptions are based on market
conditions existing at the balance sheet date.

For the prepaid land lease payments, management
determined the recoverable amount based on the
valuation report prepared by Knight Frank. Knight
Frank has valued the investment properties under
development/recoverable amount of prepaid land
lease payments on the basis that the properties will
be developed in accordance with the information
provided from management. It is assumed that
approvals for the development scheme will be
obtained without any onerous condition which would
affect the value of investment properties under
development/recoverable amount of prepaid land
lease payments. In arriving the opinion of value,
Knight Frank has made reference to comparable
transactions in the locality and has also taken into
account the construction costs that will be expended
to complete the development and the quality of
the completed development in the development
scheme.

Management has reviewed the Knight Frank
valuation and compared it with its own assumptions,
with reference to comparable sales transaction
data where such information is available, and has
concluded that the Knight Frank valuation of the
Group's investment property portfolio and prepaid
land lease payments is reasonable.
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If the valuation of the investment properties had
been 10% higher or lower than the value stated
on the valuation report, the fair value adjustment
for the year arising from the Group's investment
properties would have been increased or decreased
by HK$1,287.4 million (2017: HK$1,177.7 million).

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of
properties held for sales, properties under
development and prepaid land lease payments
according to their estimated net recoverable amount
based on the realisability of these properties, taking
into account of costs to completion based on past
experience and net sales value based on prevailing
market conditions. Provision is made when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be realised. The assessment
requires the use of judgement and estimates.
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Plant and equipment are reviewed by management
for impairment losses whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount is
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use of the plant and equipment. Management makes
judgements on whether such events or changes in
circumstances have occurred, and makes estimates in
determining the recoverable amount. In the situation
where the value in use of plant and equipment
cannot be assessed due to the uncertainties of the
operation model in the future, management has
assessed the respective recoverable amount solely
based on the fair value less costs to sell. Provision
is made when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
recovered.

The Group tests whether property, plant and
equipment, prepaid land lease payments and
interests in associates engaged in the renewable
energy businesses ("Renewable Energy Projects”)
have suffered any impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable in accordance
with the accounting policy in Note 2.12. The Group
reviews certain indicators of potential impairment
such as operating performance, actual electricity
dispatched, tariff of electricity and other general
market conditions.
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If an indication of impairment is identified, the need
for recognising an impairment loss is assessed by
comparing the carrying amount of the assets, to the
higher of (i) the fair value less cost to sell, and (ii)
the value-in-use of the cash-generating units. The
value-in-use of the cash-generating units represents
estimated future cash flows from the continuous use
of the assets, and requires complex assumptions and
estimates such as future electricity dispatched, tariff
of electricity and discount rates. The discount rates
used to discount the estimated future cash flows are
based on the relevant industry sector risk premium
and the gearing ratio.

During the year, the Group has performed an
impairment assessment on the Renewable Energy
Projects. The value-in-use calculation was based on
the key assumptions, including (i) average annual
tariff increment at approximately 2.0% (2017: 2.0%)
per annum based on management’s expectation on
market development and general inflation, and (ii)
projection of volume of electricity dispatched based
on the operational feasibility reports and historical
performances. The pre-tax discount rates applied to
the cash flow projections are 11.69% — 12.27% (2017:
11.43%-11.84%) per annum.
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Based on the impairment assessment, the
recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units
are higher than their respective carrying amounts.

With all other variables held constant, if there is
an average annual tariff reduction at 1.0% (2017:
1.0%) throughout the operating period, the profit
before taxation would have been decreased by
HK$3.6 million (2017: HK$5.6 million). Similarly, with
all other variables held constant, if the volume of
electricity dispatched is 10.0% (2017: 10.0%) less than
management expectation, the profit before taxation
would have been decreased by HK$21.8 million
(2017: HK$25.0 million).

The Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland
China. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determined is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for potential tax exposures based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will affect the income tax
and deferred tax provision in the period in which such

determination is made.
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The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement
to select a variety of methods (including but not
limited to discounted cash flow analysis) and make
assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at each balance sheet date.

The impairment on financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group's past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs
used are disclosed in Note 3.
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Segment information disclosed in the annual results
announcement has been prepared in a manner consistent
with the information used by the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of assessing
segment performance and allocating resources between
segments. In this regard, the Group is organised into the
following segments: Properties development (for sale or
lease upon completion of construction work), Property
investment and leasing, Renewable energy and Other
operations.

The Group's most senior executive management assesses
the performance of the operating segments based on
operating profit after interest income and expenses,
taxation and share of profits/(losses) of associates and
a joint venture. Corporate expenses mainly include the
employee expenses of the head office, interest income and
expenses arising from the holding companies and other
administrative expenses of the head office.

The Group's segment assets exclude financial assets
at FVOCI, available-for-sale financial assets which are
managed on a central basis. These are part of the
reconciliation to total balance sheet assets. Corporate
assets mainly include the cash at bank, property, plant and
equipment and other receivables held by the head office.
The assets of each reportable segment comprise the inter-
segment receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oHERE
Sales between segments are carried out on terms 2 BRI EREAR T 55 E M 2 AR EFE
equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 17 - MERBMEREINAEP 2 Was ToizH
transactions. The revenue from external parties reported FEBRERMAE S 2HRHE - REIR
to management is measured in a manner consistent with BREZ BB R AR TR RNEE 2 W -
that in the consolidated income statement. Total segment
revenue from external customers also represents the
Group's revenue.
The segment information for the reportable segments for BE-Z-N\FR-Z—+F+-A=+—H
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows: IFFEAEHRN B2 HEERAT -
Properties development
NEER
Shanghai Property Total
and investment  Renewable Other  reportable
Zhejiang  Shenyang Tianjin -~ Jiangmen  and leasing energy  operations  segments
Li§R ES B
i &R R A REE  BERR  HERB  2HeE
HKS Million ~ HK$ Millon ~ HKSMillon ~ HKS Milion ~ HKS Million ~ HKS Million ~ HKS$ Million  HKS Million
BE#n EE®R  RERn  FEEn  BEER  BEER BEER AEER
Year ended 31 December 2018 #2231
FTZAZT-ALER
Revenue from external customers RENREE WS 34 348.0 3440 87.1 338.0 1495 - 12700
Inter-segment revenue parlGa - - - - 04 - 43 47
Total revenue kELE 34 348.0 3440 87.1 3384 1495 43 12747
Operating profit it el 3989 1044 110 2.1 5344 39 - 12087
Finance income HBIA 01 31 35 09 68 32 - 176
Finance costs BARR - - - - (4.0) (28.8) - (328)
Share of profits less losses of associates ~ EMEBENAEFHER - - - - 6.1 833 - 89.4
Share of loss of a joint venture El—HAENAER 35 - - - (69.4) - - (65.9)
Profit before income tax FEHATER 4025 1075 1145 20 4739 914 - 12120
Income tax expense R (107.2) (25.4) (33.) (10.2) (108.3) (11.9) - (295.8)
Profit for the year REEET 295.3 821 809 18 365.6 805 - 916.2
Depreciation i - - 0.1) - (13) (710) - (724)
Amortisation B - - (20.0) - 24 (1.0) - (234)
Fair value adjustments on RENFATERE
investment properties 4024 - - - 294.1 - - 696.5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 SEIER@
Properties development
VELHE
Shanghai Property Total
and investment  Renewable Other  reportable
Zhejiang  Shenyang Tianjin -~ Jiangmen  and leasing energy  operations  segments
LR EE 28
L 25 x# il RBE  BEER  EtxE HBeE
HKS Milion ~ HKSMillon ~ HKSMillion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMillion ~ HK§Millon ~ HK Million  HKS Million
BEfn  BEET REET  REET  EEAT  BEAT  BEER  REMR
Year ended 31 December 2017 BEo2-tf
tZASt-BLFE

Revenue from external customers RENRZE 2 i 258 6140 542.2 2730 2028 1313 = 1,789.1
Inter-segment revenue DRk - - - - - - - -
Total revenue W 258 6140 5422 2130 2028 1313 - 1,789.1
Operating profit By 10437 1469 1529 122 1764 312 - 15693
Finance income HHIA 23 30 37 11 30 25 - 154
Finance costs BERK - 0.1 - 22 (5.0 (324) - (399
Share of profits less losses of associates ~ FEIEEE ARG IHER = = = = 157 814 = 971
Share of loss of a joint venture E-HALAREE 478 = = = = = = 478
Profit before income tax FrERaER 998.2 1498 156.6 1.1 190.1 885 - 15943
Income tax expense FaRi i (3025) (128 699) (279) (383) (1) = 415)
Profit/(loss) for the year REERA/ (B8 957 1370 8.8 (159) 1518 774 > 11328
Depreciation fE = = 01 = (12 67.0) = (683)
Amortisation B - - (194) - (13 (07) - (214)

Fair value adjustments on RAMELTERE
investment properties 10752 - - - 348 - - 1,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oIER@E
Properties development
NEER
Shanghai Property Total
and investment  Renewable Other  reportable
Zhejiang  Shenyang Tianjin -~ Jiangmen  and leasing energy  operations  segments
LBk VESES BE=
b 5 xE I REE  BEER  EtEE  HP4E
HKSMillion ~ HKS Million ~ HK§Million ~ HK§ Million ~ HK$Million ~ HK§ Million ~ HK$ Million  HKS$ Million
BEAT PEAT  BRE¥T  EERn  BEAT  BEMT  BEET AEAR
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE
t=A=t-A
Total assets HELE m9 10971 23076 003 163897 23895 04 228545
Total assets include: BEEEAT:
Interests in associates RISENTI 1B - - - - 4701 740.2 - 1,210.3
Interest in a joint venture R-HAENFER - - - - 16267 - - 16267
Total liabilities BfEEE 1885 444.8 1,396.1 149.8 5,681.0 779.9 - 8,640.1
As at 31 December 2017 RZE-+E
t=A=+-A
Total assets BEER 46529 14476 26509 iy 121730 2390 29 237027
Total assets include: EEERNE:
Interests in associates ‘B’\Hﬁm\ A ER - = = = 486.2 7648 = 12510
Interest in a joint venture W-HAE AR ES 5874 S o o 11929 S o 1780.3
Total liabilities BfER 2,088.1 8336 1,626.1 205.1 3,760.1 7260 - 92390
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

A reconciliation of profit for the year
segments to profit for the year of the Grou
follows:

of reportable A2 M2 REE RN RREE 2 AFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 o EER (@)

p is provided as MR

2018 2017
—E-NF —E—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET
Profit for the year of reportable segments ] 2§ % &8 2 7 4 & 4 F) 916.2 1,132.8
Unallocated amounts: RO EHE -
Corporate income/(expenses), net PEWRA (FX) %58 15.1 (68.6)
Gain on disposal of a financial asset HeERNATEEBRRYIEY
at fair value through profit or loss S REERE - 23.9
Gain on settlement of a financial HERAFEEBSERIEZ
liability at fair value through TREEWE
profit or loss - 131.2
Write-back of provision of other H A BT R R
payables - 25.1
Compensation income claimed and BUARTEE—EE XEE R
received from an insurance company REERNBIRRRIES
for a project completed in prior year FEBA 25.9 =
Profit for the year of the Group RNEE 7 AFERF 957.2 1,244.4
Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets A 2RO N EEREELBHENT
as follows:
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET
Total segment assets DEE ELEE 22,854.5 23,702.7
Head office assets BREREE 1,759.1 1,152.2
Intra group elimination EE AT (1,710.8) (1,607.2)
Available-for-sale financial assets T ESREE - 28.0
Financial assets at FVOCI RATHEEE MR EIERSIRZ
SRVEE 21.4 =
Total assets per consolidated balance HABERRRMIIEERR
sheet 22,924.2 23,2757
EBER(EZER)ERAR —T—\FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total

liabilities as follows:

5

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+tF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEAT BEET

Total segment liabilities DEE (EBEEE 8,640.1 9,239.0

Head office liabilities 4B B 207.7 139.5

Intra group elimination E BN EL T 8 (1,878.0) (2,059.0)
Total liabilities per consolidated FEEEABRMIIBEER

balance sheet 6,969.8 7.319.5

Non-current assets other than available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at FVOCI are mainly located in

the Mainland China.

Analysis of revenue by category:

AHHESREERRATEEAMEEBR
SRR Z ERMBENINZ IERBEE T BT
B -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET

Sales proceeds from properties HEEIEER R ZMEMSHRIE
held for sale 782.5 1,455.0

Rental income from investment REMEHESWA

properties 338.0 202.8
Renewable energy BAeR 149.5 131.3
1,270.0 1,789.1

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, revenue
from external customers is substantially attributable to the
China market and there is no revenue derived from a single

external customer exceeding 10% of total revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

6 OTHER INCOME 6  HfA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEER BEET
Property management fee income MEEBREWA 22.5 22.9
Rental income generated from REEHERGRZYM¥E S
properties held for sale N 0.6 2.1
Gain on disposal of property, HEWHE - BRRRE 2 WS
plant and equipment — net —FEE 0.3 1.0
Write-back of provision of trade and JREH AR 50 M L b B A R B [l
other payables - 320
Fair value loss on financial assets and BATEEBERYEZSH
financial liabilities at fair value EERESHEBEATAERSE
through profit or loss — net —FE - ©.m)
Gain on settlement of a financial liability — && RN FEEERERIIE Y
at fair value through profit or loss SR BERE - 131.2
Gain on disposal of a financial asset HERATFEERRERIIERZ
at fair value through profit or loss SREERG - 23.9
Net exchange gain b 5 Wi o R 53.1 -
Compensation income claimed and AR FEE—EDTKEBEER
received from an insurance company REE AR RNLER ZFE
for a project completed in prior year A 25.9 -
Others Hih 32.8 22.6
135.2 235.6
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHRRME

7  OPERATING PROFIT 7 RREGER
Operating profit was arrived at after (charging)/crediting EERME (k) EETFEE

the following items:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEER BEET
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) 1B EEFRZ (MiEX9) (104.8) (98.1)
Amortisation of prepaid land TR 13t 78 & R 8 (PEE15)
lease payments (Note 15) (23.1) (21.3)
Depreciation of property, M - ERRREWE(IT16)
plant and equipment (Note 16) (74.7) (71.2)
Cost of inventories FERA 4.7) (2.1
Cost of properties sold BEEMEMAR (479.2) (1,029.9)
Direct operating expenses arising from A BEES WA 2R EWEEL
investment properties that generate ZHELERY
rental income (53.8) (7.6)
Impairment losses on trade and JRE W BR R e EL At FE U R 2
other receivables R{EEE (10.2) -
Provision for impairment of trade FEURBR 3k 2 R (B B R
receivables (4.9) =
Auditor’s remuneration %A B &
— Audit services — R (4.8 4.7)
— Non-audit services — IR BRI (1.5 (1.9
Operating lease payments LT E IR (1.1 (3.1
Net exchange gain/(loss) IE N Wiz (B518) 5 53.1 (18.8)
Fair value loss on financial assets and AP EFEEERIIEZ S/
financial liabilities at fair value BERSHABEATERSE
through profit or loss — net — %5 - ©.1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

8 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

8 BB AEBERAE

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —+tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEAT
Finance costs: BhE KA ¢
Interest expenses on bank borrowings IRITIERF B (158.8) (137.5)
Interest expenses on amount due to FERN—RIREZIE FEEX
a shareholder (Note 37) (Pf#E37) (9.9 6.2)
Interest expenses on other loans HibEHA SR (13.5) (14.9)
(182.2) (158.6)
Less: amounts capitalised W DEMNMEz R 148.8 117.9
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, (334) w07
Finance income: 8T ONE
Interest income on bank deposits RITIFERF B UA 41.8 24.2
Interest income on shareholder loanto & T —fEla 4 a7 REREK
a joint venture FEYA - 7.9
R a8 321
BRI (BB A) —F58 8.4 (8.6)

Finance income/(costs) — net

Note: The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of

finance costs to be capitalised is the weighted average
interest rate applicable to the Group’s general borrowings
during the year, in this case 4.84% (2017: 3.66%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHRRME

9

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EEFAEX
2018 2017
—E-N\F T —+tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Wages, salaries and other benefits T& - HFeMEMEFR (101.1) (95.2)
Pension costs — defined contribution RIKEG AR — ERa M RETE
plan (Note) (FftE) (3.8) (3.0)
Write back of unused annual leave REAFRER 0.1 0.1
Charged to income statement, net BIEERRMRERE (104.8) (98.1)
Note: BsE

The Group uses the MPF scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000 (HK$25,000 prior to 1 June 2014). Contributions
to the scheme vest immediately. The Group’s contribution to
the employee pension schemes in the PRC is at a percentage
in compliance with the requirements of respective municipal
governments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

10 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 10 EEMERSAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest FR - AEELERSHFALBENE(ZZ
in the Group for the year include four (2017: four) directors —tF MR EF  BEZHESERKFE40
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented EIZAMRE - FART —B(ZFT—t
on Note 40. The emoluments payable to the remaining one F o —R)EMALTZESHESIT

(2017: one) individuals during the year are as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —ET—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEAT
Salary and other benefits e REAMRET 2.6 2.5
Discretionary bonus FETEAT 0.7 0.8
3.3 3.3
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MeSRAMWT -

No of individuals

AE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
Emoluments band (in HK dollar) R RIGEIT)
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T — 3,500,000/ 7T 1 1
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No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made
as the Group has no assessable profit for the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017. Mainland China income tax
includes corporate income tax which has been provided on
the estimated assessable profits of subsidiaries operating
in the Mainland China at 25% (2017: 25%). Withholding
tax was provided for undistributed profits of certain
subsidiaries and associates in the PRC at a rate of 5% or
10% (2017: 5% or 10%).

Mainland China land appreciation tax is provided at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 40% (2017: 30% to
40%) on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
of sale of properties less deductible expenditures
(including costs of land use rights and property
development expenditures).

Current income tax BERFT1S L
Mainland China income tax A B A TSR

Mainland China land appreciation tax  FE A+ 1L (EF

Deferred income tax (Note 33) EIEFTS R (MF5E33)
Charged to the income statement PRIz R

Note: The share of income tax expense of associates amounting
to HK$34.2 million (2017: HK$27.6 million) and the share of
income tax credit of a joint venture amounting to HK$2.3
million (2017: share of income tax expense of HK$11.8
million) are included in the Group's share of profits less
losses of associates and share of loss of a joint venture
respectively.
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HRAEERBE-_ZT—N\ER_T—+tF
TZA=t+—BLFELEERFEF - 5
ERBABNEBAELBE - REANHATEH
(BRECEMEH)IRBETENELHBR
Bl ZEETERBURT - HR25% (=T —+1F ¢
25%) 2 B RAEL BT - BB ERBETHEH
MBAR RS AR ZRDIREF - HE5%K
10%( =F —+F : 5%310%) 2 Ft & VB H #
1 -

B 3 IR E B T THE RN F30%E
40%(ZF—+1F : 30%£40%) 2 RET R
B L THERHE MRS RIERE TG
FX (B EMERARMERRMAI)

2018 2017

S —T—tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBIT

(65.4)
(121.7)

(187.1)

(283.4)
(470.5)

e« FEAREE QR Z T8 % X H & 34,200,000
TT(ZF —t4F 1 27,600,000 7T ) & & —
H& & AR ZFERIE R A2,300,0008 T (=
T—+F : FE(HET/SH X H 511,800,000
TT) © DRIET ARG E 2 FE(L A A BE TR
BEREGE—HAEATESE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

11

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax of the Group's profit before income tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted

11 FBEHIZH @

average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated UM

entities as follows:

REBMSHATG R 2 TR - SR TS
TR TEAN A HREEN IR R 25

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F e
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET
Profit before income tax and share of  FrEHAT R T EIEEER L AT
results of associates and el (=R —YNCIES =iy
a joint venture 1,246.0 1,665.6
Tax charge calculated at the domestic R EBERIER R 2 & T FTiE
rates applicable to profits in the AERRTE 2
respective countries FIEMR (295.0) (413.3)
Expenses not deductible for taxation — AIF0HE 2 57 H
purposes (19.1) (26.5)
Income not subject to tax BERHE 2 A 55.3 75.7
Utilisation of previously unrecognised R g AR 2 FHIEEE
tax losses 3.2 28.0
Withholding tax on dividends from B A A BB R EDREE 2 RS
subsidiaries and associates ZTEHF (16.4) (10.6)
Mainland China land appreciation tax  FE R+ HIEETR (37.6) (121.7)
Deferred tax charged on undistributed k5 ) M| 2 B T 5 B 15
profits (2.7) (2.1)
Tax expense HEZ (312.3) (470.5)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 23.7% (2017:

24.8%).

24.8%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12
(a) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year.

BRER

(a)

E=¥N

SREARFTVREAD TMEHAA
(32 R LA SF PO B AT 2 AR 2 A0
FOBGH -

2018 2017
ZB-N\F —ET—tF
Profit attributable to equity RN AIRER A AEIEET
holders of the Company (B8%n)
(HK$ Million) 734.1 898.8
Weighted average number of EEITEBRZ T
ordinary shares in issue (Million) (BE&) 528.8 528.8
Basic earnings per share BRERRN (FRE)
(HK cents per share) 138.8 170.0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12 EREBR @

(b)

Diluted (b) #8

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares

potential ordinary shares.

BREERN DB BABRRTELTBR
ZINETFHE - AR T EEE
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive BRI EABRMAE -

2018 2017
ZB-N\F —T—+tF
Profit attributable to equity holders AN A Bz 15 E A G T
of the Company (HK$ Million) (B8B%ET) 734.1 898.8
Effect of assumed conversion of R W& B A TEE1T 2 Ak
convertible notes issued by a REBZFE(BEEET)
subsidiary (HK$ Million) (2.5) =
Effect of assumed conversion of  R:& HiBH B A FIEIT 2 2K
warrants issued by a subsidiary B2 E(EEBT)
(HK$ Million) (0.4) =
Profit used to determine diluted AR EFEREERF 2 H%F
earnings per share (HK$ Million)  (B&#%7T) 731.2 898.8
Weighted average number of AEEREERA 2 LR INE
ordinary shares for calculation FHE(EE)
of diluted earnings per share
(Million) 528.8 528.8
Diluted earnings per share SRESRT (SRAB)
(HK cents per share) 138.3 170.0

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2017 did not assume the conversion of
convertible notes and warrants of the subsidiaries

anti-dilutive effect.

BE-T+H+-A=1+—BILFE
2 BRESERN Y BRRFANBLRR
ZABREERRREEEL R BAE
during the year since the conversion would have an BABMAREEYE -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEET BEET
Interim dividend paid, of HK13 cents EIRFERE - SREBRI3E
(2017: HKé6 cents) per ordinary share W(==—+5F : 658L) 317
Final dividend proposed, of HK13 cents #HRARHIALE. - FHCE @BAL138
(2017: HK11 cents) per ordinary share  {I( =2 —+4F : 11;4l) 58.2
On 20 March 2019, a final dividend of HK13 cents per NRIBE-NFE=A=-+H EFSEHREE
ordinary share payable in cash in respect of the year ended B \FE+ZA=+—HIEFEZREK
31 December 2018 is proposed by the Board and the B BRLAERKRERES 138 - BERER

amounts are not accounted for until they are approved
by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. As the proposed final dividend is
declared after the balance sheet date, such dividend is not
recognised as liability as at 31 December 2018.

On 23 August 2018, the Board has declared an interim
dividend of HK13 cents per ordinary share payable in cash,
total of HK$68.7 million was paid in September 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, a final dividend
of HK11 cents per ordinary share payable in cash, total
HK$58.2 million was paid in June 2018.
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BV ERIT 2 AR RIRRBF RS LA - AR
RE REREREEEABRARKRER
WA —ZE—\E+-_A=+—HWHAEE -

RZB-NFNAZ+=R EFEERF
RS SREBRIKERE13BW > A5
68,700,000/&7C - ER=F—\FNAXN °

HE-_Z—+tE+-_A=+—HIEE -
R EAUREIRSI1B Iz REIRE - A%
58,200,000 TR —Z— \FNAXMT -



INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14 KBEYHE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHRRME

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBT BEET

At 1 January n—A—H 12,280.5 9,141.5

Currency translation differences ME 5 =%F (648.6) 818.9

Additions RE 16.5 1,182.6
Transfer to property, plant and RN ==y

equipment - (11.8)
Transfer from property, plant and EEYE - SRR

equipment - 23.7

Transfer to prepaid land lease payments  #Z= 38+ E - (36.2)

Cost adjustment AR AL - (0.5

Fair value adjustments, net N ERE 696.5 1,162.3

At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 12,344.9 12,280.5

Notes:

L

(a)

At 31 December 2018, investment properties of HK$9,792.8
million (2017: HK$9,664.4 million) were pledged as securities
for the Group's borrowings (Note 31).

R—ZZE-—NF+=-A=+—8" &
8 9,792,800,000 % & ( = & — £ F
9,664,400,0007 7T ) Z I E W - BEVERAE
B AT S A2 AR (BIEE3T) ©

The Group's interests in investment properties at their b) AREREEMEESRAREEIAS
carrying values and the lease terms are analysed as follows: AT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$ Million HKS$ Million
HE®BRT BEET
In Mainland China, held on: RPBERNHEE :
Leases of between 10 to 50 years NF10ZE50F 2 HE 12,146.1 12,052.8
Leases less than 10 years LRI0FEZEE 109.5 151.6
In Hong Kong, held on: NEBRHE -
Leases of between 10 to 50 years NTFI10E50F 2 HE 89.3 761
12,344.9 12,280.5
Fair value hierarchy © AFESZH

An independent valuation of the Group’s investment
properties was performed by the valuer, Knight Frank
to determine the fair value of the investment properties
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. The following table
analyses the investment properties carried at fair value
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value
measurements.

REEREYENBIL(AETIERMGEE
BIAITETT  WEEREVMER T
“NER-E—tF+-A=+—HZ
DNFE - TRERAEAEZERBA
B (B ERAFEAEZRATE
SRR 2 REYZEEITON -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@] Fair value hierarchy (continued)

14 REYEE)
ERRC)

@ AFESHRE)

At 31 December

At 31 December

2018 2017
R-Z-N\F R-B—+F
+t=A=+—~H +=-A=+—8
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT AEET
Investment properties: REM®*
— Commercial properties under —REBNERDEEDE
development in Shanghai - 9,664.4
— Commercial properties in Nanxun,  —RE2 - bR 5 - KR
Beijing, Shenzhen, Tianjin and ES e EELES
Hong Kong - 2,616.1
— Commercial properties in Nanxun, — —REE ~ b5~ FYI - Ko -
Beijing, Shenzhen, Tianjin PEREENEEDE
Shanghai and Hong Kong 12,344.9 -

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date

of the event or change in circumstances that caused the e

transfer.

AEENBRRIREREHREHERENE
RBEEEZH  BRBARBHATES

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value. The fair value of the Group's investment properties
at 31 December 2018 and 2017 has been determined on
the basis of valuations carried out by an independent
qualified valuer not related to the Group, who holds a
recognised relevant professional qualification and has
recent experience in the locations and segments of the
investment properties valued. The Group employed Knight
Frank to value its investment properties. For all investment
properties, their current use equates to the highest and
best use. Discussion of valuation processes and results are
held between the Group's senior management and valuers
at least once every six months, in line with the Group's
interim and annual reporting dates. At each reporting date
the Group's senior management:

- verifies all major data inputs to the independent
valuation report;

= assess property valuations movements when
compared to the prior period valuation report;

- holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Changes in Level 3 fair values are also analysed at each
reporting date by the Group's senior management.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs

Fair values of completed commercial properties in
Shanghai, Nanxun, Shenzhen and Tianjin are generally
derived by using the income capitalisation method. This
valuation method is based on the capitalisation of the net
income and reversionary income potential by adopting
appropriate capitalisation rates, which are derived from
analysis of market transactions and valuers’ interpretation
of prevailing investor expectations. The prevailing market
rents adopted in the valuation have been referenced to
recent lettings, within the subject properties and other
comparable properties.

REBRNTEFEEREDSE - NEERZ
- N\FRZZE—+FT+ZA=+—HZRE
M2 A TEDREREENRBEZ BLE
B EEMETHEBNEMSE - ZMEED
FAHBRAIREERER  AHMAEENREY
FE BRI RE AT EI R - REBRIEHD,
HHKBYEETEENG - RAEREDE
mE - HEANEASRESRMREER -
BREASENTIHNFEREAE - A5H
Z ERERE RGBSR G/NE A THREE
MEMMBERER X - REHREAH - AN&E
ZERERE

- REBYGBEBRSHAEEARES
A

— TR ERBE MRS ERE LR
THED ;

— EBVHERNET® o

AEBZBREEETEESREBHAONE
SJAFEZE

RAEAEZBERNE ARBETHLFEET

b s RINRREZERKEEDE
MR HEEELFRARABREEE  WhE
TERTDERNBERAEE 2B R - K&
FERANFERERWATIAERL AR
L RTEBE ISR 5 RAEMATRITRE
HEZHEMSH - AEERRANRITHER
S TRIEZ S E R E AT LB A0 BT
BERMERTE
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Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (continued)

Fair value of completed commercial properties in Beijing
is generally derived by using the income capitalisation
method with reference to its profit rent originated from
the lease term interest and its rights in sub-letting and/or
transferring the lease term interest of the property.

Fair value of completed commercial property in Hong
Kong is generally derived by using the direct comparison
method. This valuation method is based on comparing
the property to be valued directly with other comparable
properties, which have recently transacted. However,
given the heterogeneous nature of commercial properties,
appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for
any qualitative differences that may affect the price likely to
be achieved by the property under consideration.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques for the
valuation for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Valuation Range of unobservable inputs
(probability-weighted average)
EEEZE)\HBEE(HEMRTIE)

Description technique(s)
RA BRI

Unobservable inputs
BEERBABE

Commercial propertiesin ~ Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate
Nanxun, Beijing, Shenzhen,  method

5% -8.25% (2017: 5% - 8%)

RAEXELEENBARBETHOPER
E(#)

RIERZ ERRAENEN R FEL BBERS
WABAREETE @ W2 EHBHMERERSHN
ERES AR DR, LR E TR B R
TR -

REBZERRAENENRFEL BHES
BEEREIAETE - WHETDEDEREEBE
HEYFEE T ETR SRR LR
Lo A - EREEMENSR(CIEE - BF
AR EEERA e EERSTOMER
EZERFLEEAR -

HE—_Z—\ER-Z—+tF+=-A=+—H
LI E 2 A EN G ERT & ZE) -

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
BiBERABBRATENEE

The higher the capitalisation
rate, the lower the fair value

Tianjin and Shanghai
RER R M- RE WAERE Fusldies 5%E8.25%( -5~ : 5%%6%) BRHEAE  ATERE
REBERNE
Average market rental RMB1.2-RMB7.9 (2017: RMB1.0-RMBB.5)  The higher the daily rental
per square meter per day value, the higher the fair
value
Rtk BYARARBI2TZEAREIIT BHAEEERS  ATEAS

(=
=

2% \NRBIOTEARBST)

Commercial propertiesin ~ Direct comparison ~ Market unit rate HK$19,500 (2017: HK$16,400) The higher the market unit
Hong Kong method per square feet rate, the higher the fair value
REEZEZNR BREILE msEfEE BFRER19500ETT mHELEERS  ATERR

(2215 164008T)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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15 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15 FEFLHBEER
The Group's interest in leasehold land and land use rights REBPEE 3t 2 (5 M 2 R HETE T
representing prepaid operating lease payments and their wEHER - HREFES T

net carrying values is analysed as follows:

2018 2018 2017 2017
—E-N\F —EB-N\F —T—tF —T—+F
HKS$ Million  HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEER BEER BEBT HAEATL
At 1 January RN—A—B 1,579.6 1,461.5
Currency translation differences [ER & =58 (79.2) 115.8
Additions B 2.1 24
Transfer from investment EEREE
properties - 36.2
Amortisation B
- Capitalised in properties —BRERFIEEKL
under development (7.3) (15.0)
- Charged to income —ERBREERNR
statement (Note 7) (P3E7) (23.1) (30.4) (21.3) (36.3)
At 31 December N—A=t—8 1,472.1 1,579.6
In Mainland China, held on: R B RS
Leases of over 50 years BRS0F HE 1,096.7 1,175.6
Leases of between NFI10E50F 2 AE
10 to 50 years 3754 404.0
1,472.1 1,579.6
Certain bank borrowings are secured by the Group's 7N &= [ BR 1 {5 47,500,000/ 7T ( — 2 — £ 4 -
prepaid land lease payments with carrying values of 14,700,000/ 7T ) 2 FE 1 T #h 30 E R R UAER
HK$47.5 million (2017: HK$14.7 million) (Note 31). BETHRITER(IESI) °
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16 ¥ - B RBRE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

Electric utility
Construction plantand  Other plant Land and
in progress equipment  and equipment buildings Total
HRIR  REERRE RUHERRE THREF &g
HK§ Milion ~ HKSMillion ~ HK$ Millon ~ HK$ Million  HK$ Million
BEET BEER ELE LY LY
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=F-NE+-B=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount ENEEYE 36.1 912.3 4.2 817 1,034.3
Currency tranlation differences ~ ER#E£% (14.3) (45.8) 0.4) 1.7 (62.2)
Additions RE 324.1 7.2 20 - 3333
Transfer fEE (24.9) 249 - - -
Depreciation bt - (70.6) (17) (2.4) (74.7)
Closing net book amount EREMSE 3210 828.0 41 716 1,230.7
At 31 December 2018 W=B-N\E+=B=t-8
Cost KA 3210 1,493.8 74.0 98.8 1,981.6
Accumulated depreciationand  ZHHFERE
impairment - (665.8) (69.9) 21.2) (756.9)
Net book amount REFE 3210 828.0 4.1 776 1,230.7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 Y% - WBERRE @
(continued)
Electric utility
Construction plant and Other plant Land and
in progress equipment  and equipment buildings Total
BEIR  HERRRE  HUBSRRE ThREF e
HKS Million HKSMilion — HKSMilion  HK$Million — HKS$ Million
BEET BEER BEET BEET BEET
Year ended 31 December 2017~ HZ=F—+&F+-A=+-RLEE
Opening net book amount ENEEYE 73 9107 38 94.2 10160
Currency translation differences ~ EjAE£% 18 66.8 04 21 711
Additions RE 293 05 19 - 317
Transfer fEE 09 09 = = =
Transfer to intangible asset EZREE (14) = = = (14)
Transfer to investment properties  EZRENE - - - 237) (23.7)
Transfer from investment BRKANZ
properties - - - 118 18
Depreciation ik = (66.6) (19 (27) (11.2)
Closing net book amount EREEHE 361 9123 42 81.7 10343
At 31 December 2017 RZB-t5+-A=1-H
Cost A 36.1 15413 712 100.6 1,755.2
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZsHTER(E
impairment - (629.0) (73.0) (189 (720.9)
Net book amount REFE 36.1 912.3 42 817 1034.3
Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the AR B AR f61,124,300,000 T (= F —+
Group's construction in progress, properties, plant and F 1 942,300,000/870) 2 ETHERTE - 9
equipment with carrying values of HK$1,124.3 million (2017: X W REBERMMIGE TRITEK
HK$942.3 million) (Note 31). (BF=E31) ©
The Group's interests in land and buildings at their carrying AL BRZREENR 2 + 3 RIBF 2 s b
values and the lease terms are analysed as follows: RIS -
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+5F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET
In Hong Kong, held on: REBRA
Leases of between 10 to 50 years 10250 2 HE 46.7 48.1
In Mainland China, held on: RPBEAMIEE
Leases of between 10 to 50 years NF10E0F 2 HE 30.9 33.6
77.6 81.7
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17 H\BEEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

Other
intangible
Goodwill assets Total
mE HauEEEE Mg
HK$ Million  HK$ Million  HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT BEBT
Year ended 31 December 2018 #®HZE—T—N\F
+=—A=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FEYERTEFE - 1.6 1.6
Currency translation differences B} & =% - (0.1) (0.1)
Additions B - 0.2 0.2
Amortisation feigs - (0.3) (0.3)
Closing net book amount FARETRE — 1.4 1.4
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-N\F
+=A=+—H
Cost (D% 409.5 24 411.9
Accumulated amortisation and Rt ERE
impairment (409.5) (1.0) (410.5)
Net book amount BREFE - 1.4 1.4
At 1 January 2017 R=Z—tF—H—8
Cost B 409.5 0.8 410.3
Accumulated amortisation and  ZEH# R RE
impairment (409.5) (0.6) 410.1)
Net book amount BREFE - 0.2 0.2
Year ended 31 December 2017 ®BZ=—Z—+4&
+=—HA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FEYEREFE - 0.2 0.2
Currency translation differences [ 3 & =58 - 0.1 0.1
Transfer from construction HEEEEIR
in progress - 1.4 1.4
Amortisation feigs - 0.1) 0.1)
Closing net book amount FREREFE - 1.6 1.6
At 31 December 2017 R-B—+F
+=A=+-8
Cost AN 409.5 2.3 411.8
Accumulated amortisation and ~ ZEH# s R RE
impairment (409.5) 0.7) (410.2)
Net book amount RS E = 1.6 1.6
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Properties under development BERPYERE
comprise:
Construction costs and capitalised BENARE M
expenditure
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT -+ HhAE &R

The properties under development are all located in the
Mainland China.

No properties under development (2017: Nil) are expected
to be completed and available for sale within next twelve
months. At 31 December 2018, no bank borrowings are
secured by the Group's properties under development
(2017: Nil) (Note 31).

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2018
is HK$2,752.2 million (2017: HK$2,685.3 million), of which
HK$727.4 million (2017: HK$760.2 million) is for China
Renewable Energy Investment Limited and HK$2,067.5
million (2017: HK$1,986.0 million) is attributed to Shanghai
Guangtian Real Estate Development Company Limited.
The profit allocated to non-controlling interests of China
Renewable Energy Investment Limited is HK$35.1 million
(2017: HK$35.7 million) and the profit allocated to non-
controlling interests of Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate
Development Company Limited is HK$190.2 million (2017:
HK$308.1 million) for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The ownership interests held by non-controlling interests
of China Renewable Energy Investment Limited and
Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate Development Company
Limited are 44.31% and 40% as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
46.05% and 40%). The non-controlling interests in respect
of these subsidiary companies are material to the Group.

2018 2017

—2-N\F —T—t%
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT
282.0

247.9

529.9

ERPYEZERPEAM o

WEFRAPAYE(ZZT—EF : 8)BEHR
AR+TZEARTK - BAIHEE - B
—E-N\F+ZA=+—H FXEEILIE
(ZZ2—+tF : 8)BRPYEDIERARGR
TER(FEE31) ©

R-ZB—NE+-_A=+—B =i
% 4858 5 2,752,200,000/8 T ( Z T — L4 -
2,685,300,00077t) + E 727,400,000/ 7T (=
T— 4 : 760,200,000/ 7C) AR E B LR
RE B A 7 R 2,067,500,00008 7T (- F—+
F : 1,986,000,0007% 70 ) 2R B £ &M F HE
HEBRAR - BE_T—)\F+=-_A=+—
BIEFE  HDETFHEBEEREERRAR
2 IEHE Hﬂ%*ﬁ’mﬁﬁ%s100000,%7z<_7
—- 4 : 35,700,000 7T) * MO TF LEE
HEMERZEERA TZ;E&H&% K ) A
190,200,000 7T ( = Z —-£4F : 308,100,000/%
) RZE—N\F+-_A=+—H0 +HB
AE?F?%E%BE"ﬁ&tiFgﬁﬂ}%i‘ﬂﬁﬁﬁé’*ﬁ
ANREERESBEZEEERD A
44.31%&40%(:2%:& 46.05% 2 40%) °
BRAZENBAR 2R ERETAEEmM S
BEKX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

19 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19 MEBRAE @
Material non-controlling interests (continued) BARFERER (8)
Set out below are the summarised financial information TXHEINAFHAEENFBERMEARIFE
(before inter-company eliminations) for each subsidiary g S )= VNSRS Y NG G g v
that has non-controlling interests that are material to the BERHEE o
Group.
Summarised income statement for the year ended BEt-A=+-RLEEZHEEREE

31 December

China Renewable Energy ~ Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate

Investment Limited Development Company Limited
TEBERRREERAR FEERARMERRERAR
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F —E-N\F —T—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
HEAR BEAT HEAT HEAT
Revenue Wezs 149.5 131.3 164.9 58.5
Profit for the year AEERF 63.0 60.9 475.4 770.3
Total comprehensive 2E(ER)/ WA LE
(loss)/income (28.6) 184.9 203.7 1,108.1
Dividends paid to BRI IR SRR B
non-controlling interests (8.9) (3.3 - -
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Summarised balance sheet as at 31 December R+-—BA=+—HRZEEEEREE

China Renewable Energy ~ Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate

Investment Limited Development Company Limited
FEBEERREERAA LEEREHERRERAE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F —B-N\F Tt
HK$ Million HKS$ Million  HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEET BEBT BEET
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,062.8 9.740.2
Current assets RENERE 426.8 2411
Total assets BEME 2,489.6 9981.3
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 384.1 3,346.0
Current liabilities TEAE 362.2 1,671.1
Total liabilities aELE 746.3 5,017.1
Summarised cash flows for the year ended 31 December BEt-A=+-BLFEZRLRERE
China Renewable Energy ~ Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate
Investment Limited Development Company Limited
FEBEERREERAA LEEREHERRERAE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—B-N\F “EtF —B-N\E “EtF
HKS$ Million ~ HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million  HK$ Million
BEBT BEET BEBT BEET
Net cash generated from BEXEBRERLFE
operating activities 153.0 21.1
Net cash used in investing RETEMAREFE
activities (192.3) (332.5)
Net cash generated from BRAEBDMERASTFE
financing activities 1271 312.2
Net (decrease)/increase in B4 RBESZEMCR
cash and cash equivalents DNVE:- i 87.8 038
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out on pages FEWB AR ZFBEHNFE235E2408 ©
235 to 240.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

20 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

20 REEQT &R

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ZT—+tF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBT BEET

Group's share of net assets AREEREEEETE 1,071.0 1,111.7
Amount due from an associate, net FEU —FiB A R RIBFEE 139.3 139.3
1,210.3 1,251.0

Amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest free
and not repayable within the next twelve months. The
carrying amount approximates its fair values. The balance

is denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

The following financial information, after making
adjustments to conform to the Group’s significant
accounting policies, represents the Group’s aggregate

H o HBEMRIAB TR -

share of revenue and results of associates, all of which are

unlisted, and is summarised as below:

FEW — R S R R FURR R - 28 RBA
AR EARNEER - REEZEAFER

THEBEN CERAEEE RS HEM A
B RRAEEAHREEBERR (2R
ERE) 2K REERRIT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$ Million HKS$ Million

BEET BEET

Revenue & 2521 238.7
Profit before income tax B AR F 123.6 1247

Income tax expense FSBis it (34.2) (27.6)
Profit for the year NEESH 89.4 97.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

20

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Material associates

20

Hong Kong Construction SMC Development Limited,
CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power Company Limited
and CECIC HKC Wind Power Company Limited are the
associates that are material to the Group.

Details of principal associates are set out on page 241.

Set out below are the summarised financial information

for the material associates. The information reflects the

amounts presented in the financial statements of the

associates adjusted for differences in accounting policies

between the Group and the associates.

Summarised income statement for the year ended

31 December

REE QT 2 RS (@)

BERBENT]

EBERBSHRARAT - hEEBR(E
BRANBEERARRPEHEEERAHEE
(RIDBRARAUAEETSBEA B L
NI

TEBENR ZHBRRNE241E -
TXHEINEAMERRZHBHENBE - B
AR RBRIER & A R B M T IRR 25 R

B Wt AR E RSN R 2 He R BORRE
BEEEHAE

BE+-A=+-HLFEZERREBE

Hong Kong Construction ~ CECICHKC (Gansu) Wind Power  CECICHKC Wind Power
SMC Development Limited Company Limited Company Limited Total
BiRRSR AR (HEIED nEREREIE
§RERLT §E5RLT (BhERLE i
018 plil) 2018 a1 2018 A1 2018 A1
8-\ CRE OCB-NE 0 CEF ZB-NE CRE ZE-F CTE
HKSMilion — HKSMillon — HKSMilion — HKSMilon  HKSMillon  HKSMilion  HKSMillon  HKS Milion
AEAn BEET  REMT  AEEn EEER BEET EEMn AEET
Retenue Y %3 88 2387 29 M43 1 5488 5138
Proftfor the year REREH 153 %3 126 158 6.3 894 196 25
Other comprehensive lossfncome. 2 (858 /MA (560) - 139 o4 W) 59 (1437) 1193
Total comprefensive income YEMAEE (27 03 6838 1772 24 1213 525 38
Dividends from the associates N A 16.1 - 3.2 186 52 5 765 761
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

20 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20 MAEE QT ZRERE@E)
Material associates (continued) BREE N T (&)
Summarised balance sheet as at 31 December Rt-A=+—HZEEEERREE
Hong Kong Construction ~ CECICHKC (Gansu) Wind Power  CECICHKC Wind Power
SMC Development Limited Company Limited Company Limited Total
ERRRSR hERER(HRIED hERERENRE
BEERLA YEERAA (F)BRA a8

2018 017 18 017 2018 017 18 2017
2E-NF ZE-tE BN Bt CB-NE ZEtE ZE-NF EtE
HKSMilion  HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion  HKSMilion — HKSMillon — HKSMilion — HKSMilion  HKS Miion

FEBT  GEAT  EEEn  BEET FEMR EEAT BEAR EEEL

Non-current assets hgAE 13787 14552 10410 11784 9914 11097 34111 37433
Curtent asets i1 171 1390 206 1821 291 20 6624 5481
Total assets BEug 15514 1592 12816 13605 12405 13367 40735 44
Non-current iabiliies FroaE 6886 698 - = - = 688.6 8968
Current liabilties L 38 99 734 530 5041 5637 10133 11266
Total liabilties BfEE 1244 1267 4734 530 504.1 537 17019 18234
Net assets AR 8270 875 8082 815 T34 MmO 23E 24680
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EAEBNEEABL A FESHEREY R
presented to the carrying amount of the Group's interests BB E SR T ¢

in its material associates:

Hong Kong Construction ~ CECICHKC (Gansu) Wind Power  CECIC HKC Wind Power

SMC Development Limited Company Limited Company Limited Total
BRERSR RERER(ERIES RERERRNRE
BRRRLT RERRAT (&) ARAT b

18 il 18 il 18 il 18 7
I i T e o
HKSMillon ~ HKSMillon ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMiln  HKSilion  HKSMiion ~ HKS Milln ~HKS Milion

EERn  EEET  BERn  BERL  EEER  EEAn ERER  BEAT

Closing net assets FRAERE 8270 875 8082 875 T34 Mo 26 280
Group'sshare ofnet asets [40%) TEEREEETE(Y) 308 %70 3 310 945 M2 %84 %72
Amount due from an associate, net JEl-HBaATAEE 1393 193 - = - = 193 193
Canying amount i a0 1843 3 310 45 W2 s 1Bs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

20

21

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Material associates (continued)

The Group has interests in a number of individually
immaterial associates. The following table analyses, in
aggregate, the share of profit and other comprehensive
income and carrying amount of these associates.

20 RERENT) 2R @)

EPN: N6

REER 2 EE R EARAOEEE N R A
g7 o TRABIEZEFHRE QAN ENREME
EWA S EREE RN DT -

2018 2017

—g-Nf —T—t%

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEER BEAT

Share of profit for the year FE(E AR EE % F 11.0 7.3

Share of other comprehensive FEREMEE(EE), A

(loss)/income (6.7) 9.2

Share of total comprehensive income  fE{5 2 E U A 858 4.3 16.5
Carrying amount of interests in KA NT R ERE

these associates 122.4 1245

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 21 R—BEEEQATzER

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEER BEET

Group's share of net assets REEELEEFRE 1,583.2 1,734.4

Amount due from a joint venture B —ME L RRFIE 43.5 459

1,626.7 1,780.3

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, amount due from a
joint venture is unsecured, interest free and not repayable
within the next twelve months. The carrying amount
approximates its fair value. The balance is denominated in
Renminbi.

There are no material contingent liabilities relating to the
Group's interest in the joint venture as at 31 December
2018 and 2017.

R-F—\FR-F—+t5+=A=+—8"
IR —RA AR REIEN - 2B REE
RAT+ A AREE - REERLATFER
B HRERUARKBEE o

RZZE—N\FER=ZT—+F+=-A=1+—1"
WEEBAEBAES LR 2R 2 EBANAR
BfE -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

21 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

The following financial information represents the Group's
aggregate share of results of the joint venture and is

summarised as below:

R—EEE QT 2R )

THHMBEHRRARESKREEEATZ
SERMIT

2018 2017

—2-Nf —T—t%

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEER BEET

Loss before income tax (68.2) (36.0)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fisife, /() 2.3 (11.8)
Loss for the year (65.9) (47.8)

Shanghai Jingang North Bund Real Estate Company
Limited is the joint venture of the Group.

Details of the joint venture are set out on page 242.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for the joint venture. The information reflects the amounts
presented in the financial statements of the joint venture
adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the

Group and the joint venture.

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

21 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 21

Summarised income statement for the year ended

31 December

R—E&

BN T RS (®)

BE+T-A=+-HLFEZESREE

Shanghai Jingang North Bund
Real Estate Company Limited

EEEBIAINEBEERAT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEER BEET
Revenue s 628.3 207.5
Depreciation and amortisation e Y (127.8) (75.3)

Fair value adjustments on REMERNTFERE

investment properties 18.4 188.5
Interest income B A 3.9 -
Interest expense FERZ (351.4) (199.7)
Loss before income tax BT F: Al jEs 18 (273.0) (143.9)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiiE e, () 9.1 (47.1)
Loss for the year REEEIR (263.9) (191.0)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income HEm2mEm(ER), mA (341.3) 378.0
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2HE(EE) WA EBRE (605.2) 187.0
Dividend from a joint venture —REEREIREZRE - -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

21 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 21

Summarised balance sheet as at 31 December

R—EEE QT 2R )

RT-A=+-—BZEEREXRAE

Shanghai Jingang North Bund
Real Estate Company Limited
bgEBi N EBEERRAR

2018 2017
—=E-N\F —Z—tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEET
Non-current assets IERBEE 17,910.3 17,502.9
Current assets MENVE B
Cash and cash equivalents BHLNIBEEEY 271.8 2,396.1
Others Hit 118.3 12.2
Total currentassets mEgAEeE 3900 24083
Non-current liabilities FERBAaE
Financial liabilities (excluding trade SEBE(TBIEEMNERR
and other payables and provisions) H S A R R4S ) 9,199.9 9,356.1
Others Hi 1,079.0 1,146.0
Total non-current liabilities SEmE B EERE 10,278.9 10,502.1
Current liabilities SEIAE 1,688.7 24715
Net assets BEFE 6,332.8 6,937.6

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in
its joint venture:

RAEER A B A TSR E ESIRNE
BEREEHENT

Shanghai Jingang North Bund
Real Estate Company Limited
RSB EBEEXRRIA

2018 2017

—E-N\F e

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEER BEAT

Net assets BEFE 6,332.8 6,937.6
Group's share of net assets (25%) REE LB EFEQ25%) 1,583.2 1,734.4
Amount due from a joint venture B —MAERRFIE 43.5 459
Carrying amount RRTEE 1,626.7 1,780.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

22 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS/

22 AMHESHREE RATVEEHM

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 2HERIERCSMEE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEER BEET
Available-for-sale financial assets AIHHESREE
Unlisted securities, at fair value BAFEZIELTES — 28.0

Financial assets at FVOCI
Unlisted securities, at fair value

BAFEZIE LTRSS

BATEERMEERSESIRZ

21.4 -

In prior year, the above investments were designated as
available-for-sale as the management intended to hold
them for medium to long-term. Upon the application of
HKFRS 9, they were reclassified to financial assets at FVOCI
as disclosed in Note 2.1.

RAREE  BEREABSTREFE Ltk
B HOIRFHHESREE - WERTEY
BmEERFN - EEREEMHHEERD
FEAEMEZERRYIR S REETNRE
2195 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 23 RERESzEMIA

Assets at Assets at Available-
amortised cost FVOCI for-sale Total
RAFE
REHERAR EEMZE
HEZEE BRIBZEE AHEE ko
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million
HEBT BHEEBT BHEBT BEBT
Assets as per consolidated GEEESERZEE
balance sheet
At 31 December 2018 RZF—-N\F+=A
S=E
Financial assets at FVOCI BATEEEMZE
(Note 22) BRIEseREE
(BEE22) - 214 - 214
Amount due from an associate, JE—REIKZ A RFIE
net (Note 20) SHHE(M5E20) 139.3 - - 139.3
Amount due from a joint R —FEA 4 ARZE(K
venture (Note 21) #21) 43.5 - - 43.5
Trade and other receivables B ER R E
under current assets (Note 25)  BE 3k R E-fh FE Uk
(FfF5E25) 369.4 - - 369.4
Other receivables under FERBEETRHEME
non-current assets I 67.6 - - 67.6
Restricted cash (Note 26) ZIRH3 4 (FEE26) 478.9 - - 478.9
Short-term bank deposits FEERITER(ME27)
(Note 27) 712.3 - - 712.3
Cash and cash equivalents HeRRLEEY
(Note 28) (MizE28) 1,889.6 - - 1,889.6
Total w3 3,700.6 214 - 3,722.0
At 31 December 2017 R=ZZT—+F+=A
E1—0E
Available-for-sale financial AHtHESREE
assets (Note 22) (BH7E22) - - 28.0 28.0
Amount due from an associate, fEl—RIE L&A RZIEE
net (Note 20) (Fi3E20) 139.3 = - 139.3
Amount due from a joint REl—FIASATIZE
venture (Note 21) (FfzE21) 459 = = 459
Trade and other receivables B EERNEIERT R
under current assets (Note 25) Ut (FifF25) 230.1 = - 230.1
Other receivables under FERBEETH
non-current assets HipEls 39.1 - - 39.1
Restricted cash (Note 26) ZREEE (P E26) 398.0 = = 398.0
Cash and cash equivalents He kAL EEY
(Note 28) (BizE28) 24974 = - 24974
Total k) 3,349.8 = 28.0 3,377.8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 23 RERESzERIA@M

(continued)

Other financial

liabilities at
amortised cost Total
REBHRARTTE
ZHthemEE ok
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Liabilities as per consolidated HEEEAERZAEE
balance sheet
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—-NE+=-A=+—8
Borrowings (Note 31) R (MI7E31) 3,245.3 3,245.3
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 34) et —% B8 2008 (HI3E34) 197.5 197.5
Trade and other payables (Note 32) FEATBR 2R N H A5 3R (Bt 3E32) 1,474.3 1,474.3
Total FEEE] 4,917 .1 4,917 .1
At 31 December 2017 RZF—+tF+=-HA=+—H
Borrowings (Note 31) R (FHIFE31) 2,796.1 2,796.1
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 34) e —% B8 2008 (HI:E34) 226.2 226.2
Trade and other payables (Note 32) JRE < BR 7 K LAt JE A< 3 (B 5E32) 2,187.0 2,187.0
Total 4AEE 5,209.3 5,209.3
24 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 24 {ESHERBZWE
At 31 December 2018, no properties held for sale (2017: RZB-N\F+-A=+—0  WEFEHER
Nil) was pledged as securities for the Group's borrowings BWME(ZT—+F B RERSEMERS
(Note 31). IR (FFEE3T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

25 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER

25 TN - BUIRA K EAAEURK

RECEIVABLES
2018 2017
—E-\F —F—LF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEBT
Non-current FERE
Prepayments and other receivables TR R R E A e Wk (BffREh)
(Note h) 84.3 194.1
Current RE
Trade receivables FEUBR TR 75.8 28.2
Less: provision for impairment B (11.3) (7.9
Trade receivables — net FEMRBR IR — F 48 64.5 20.3
Bills receivable fEU =% 4.0 6.4
Prepaid taxes ENETE 19.0 17.7
Prepayments, other receivables AR - BRI RS
and deposits 281.9 185.7
369.4 230.1
453.7 424.2
Notes: BEE
(@)  The ageing analysis of trade receivables by the Group's @) RER BRAKERREIBERFA SR
revenue recognition policy at year end, net of provision for ERBR 2 RBERZRERIR AT T
impairment, was as follows:
2018 2017
—2-N\F Tt
HK$ Million HKS$ Million
HEBT AEET
Less than 2 months LrA2@ A 34.2 18.2
2 to less than 6 months 22 LR6E A 15.0 1.5
6 to less than 12 months 6= L12(E A 12.3 0.6
12 months and more 1218 A KA E 3.0 -
64.5 20.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

25 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a) (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables by invoice date at
year end, net of provision for impairment, was as follows:

25 FEAR - BEWERREMERR @)

BE - (BB
@ (4

RER  REZAHE S RENBRERE
&2 RMRFERER AT AT

2018 2017

2= o

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEET AEBT

Less than 2 months LRA2EA 33.7 18.2
2 to less than 6 months 22 LRN6E A 15.0 1.5
6 to less than 12 months 62 LM2(E A 11.1 0.6
12 months and more 1218 A KA £ 4.7 =
64.5 20.3

(i)

For renewable energy business, the Group allows a
credit period of 30 days to its trade customers. Based
on the credit history of the customers, it is expected
that the amounts will be received eventually. They are
related to a number of independent customers for
which there is no recent history of default. The Group
does not hold any collateral in relation to these
receivables.

Other than renewable energy business, group
companies each has its own credit policies
depending on the requirements of their markets and
the businesses which they operate.

i) MEBERRERM S  AKERER
SEFPRMHAH0AZEEY - B
BEFHEELE  BHZSTRKRK
A URE o 5% RRIR BT I A R
RHZETEIEFPAR - AEEL
EFFA RZERNRANA B2 E
4

(i) BBLEERERI  FEXFGREE
HiSH R RMREEBHEE AN
EERK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

25 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 25 FAMR - BUYERFOR H fth BB UK (40)
RECEIVABLES (continued)
Notes: (continued) BieE (&)
(b)  Other than renewable energy business, there is no b) BRBERRERN AEKRERTFESHT
concentration of credit risk with respect to trade D RN B EE R 2 mE o

receivables, as the Group has a large number of customers.

(c) As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables of HK$11.3 (c) RZE—-NFE+_A=Z+—H8 B
million (2017: HK$7.9 million) were impaired and fully 11,300,000 70 (= F—+4F : 7,900,000/ 7T)
provided for. Z EBPRSRHIRRE N B 2 E L ARERE -

(d)  The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other (d)  ANERE 7 A AR R S At FE UG 2 BR T (B A
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: THEHEHE

2018 2017

—B-N\F —T—tF

HK$ Million HKS$ Million

BHEET BEET

Hong Kong dollars BT 4.1 1.8
Renminbi AR#E 449.6 422.4
453.7 424.2

(e)  Thereis a bank borrowing secured by certain of the Group's (e) AEBEEE TR - BRE{EA25,600,000
trade receivables with carrying values of HK$25.6 million B (ZZ—+%F : 4,400,000% 7T) B FA{ER
(2017: HK$4.4 million) (Note 31). TR Z IR (HRE3T) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

25 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 25 FEMNRK - BRI R H A FEWCR (@)
RECEIVABLES (continued)
Notes: (continued) BieE (&)
§) Movements on the provision for impairment of trade ) FEUSRR Z REREZEINT
receivables are as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
BHEET BEET
At 1 January R—H—R 7.9 7.3
Currency translation differences ERnEEE (0.7) 0.6
Additions 10 4.9 =
Receivables written off during F R AT AU E 2 R R
the year as uncollectible (0.8) =
At 31 December RNt+=-—A=+—8 11.3 7.9
(@0 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date (@ RREAHZESEERRALESHEK

is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Included in prepayments and other receivables were (h)
(i) deposits held for property resettlement schemes of
HK$24.5 million (2017: HK$27.7 million) and (ii) input value-
added taxation recoverable of HK$49.4 million (2017:
HK$18.4 million) arising from purchases of property, plant

and equipment.

R REE - AEBYEFSE EFERRE
R -

BT AT A 3R B L B UK A () 3E P 3 R B
st2|3 A 2374 24,500,000 T (— &2 —+
£ 1 27,700,000 7T ) K (ii) & Y it T3 E T
49,400,000 7t (=T —+ 4 : 18,400,000/
TT) c DREREME - MEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

26 RESTRICTED CASH

26 ZERHBRE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —FT—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET
Restricted cash represents: XRHIREIE
Escrow accounts relating to AERP PR ZIEYHE
deposits held for property RS
development projects 476.5 398.0
Deposits subject to regulatory SRR EEE R H2 7R
restriction 2.4 -
478.9 398.0

27 SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2018, the short-term bank deposits are
with original maturities of more than three months. The
interest rates on the short-term bank deposits range from

2.69% to 3.85% per annum.

Short-term bank deposits are denominated in the

following currencies:

27 REHBITER

R A2.69%%3.85% °

FEERITERIRA T EHB5E ¢

REZE-NF+ZA=+—H  BHRTER
ZREBERBB=1EA - ERRITFERZF

2018 2017

—g-Nn% —T—t%

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEAET BEET

Hong Kong dollars BT 43.6 -
US dollars =7 668.7 -
712.3 -

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28 HRERBREEEY
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEER BEET
Cash and cash equivalents comprises HeRRLEEBY
the following: BREATRE :
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHEES 1,329.7 1,922.6
Restricted cash and bank deposits ZREIR S RREBER
with original maturities of =R T ZRITIFR
less than three months 1,038.8 972.8
2,368.5 2,895.4
Less: Restricted cash o FREIRS (478.9) (398.0)
1,889.6 2,497 .4
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET
Cash and cash equivalents, deposits BERBEEEY - RIEAA
with original maturities of =fEAR AT ZF%
less than three months and RERHRS
restricted cash
(a) Placed in banks in the PRC: (a) RABIRIRITHE -
— denominated in Renminbi —UANRELEE 1,610.8 2,293.1
— denominated in Hong Kong dollars — AT 39.3 41.7
— denominated in US dollars —AETTHEE 3.2 5.6
(b) Placed in banks in Hong Kong: (b) REBSETEE
— denominated in Renminbi —UAR#EEE 9.9 6.0
— denominated in Hong Kong dollars —ABTEHE 306.1 348.8
— denominated in US dollars —AETHEE 399.2 200.2
2,368.5 2,895.4

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 28 WRERBESZEY @)

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were REEB 2 ERAEET :
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\% e 3
Us$ HKS RMB Us§ HK$ RMB
E BT AR¥ e AL ARE

Bank deposits with original ~ REIHIEA=1@A

maturities of less than T2 B17ER

three months 2.39%-3.75% 1.45%-3.05% 0.30%-3.04% 239%  1.05%-1.45%  0.30%-3.60%
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date & Ez&mEERE R EXFM RS
is the carrying value of the cash and bank balances stated K SRITHESRBREI(E o
above.
Cash and bank deposits with original maturities of less FROERD RS RRIFAA=@EANUT
than three months of HK$1,653.3 million (2017: HK$2,340.4 2 $R1T1731,653,300,000/8 70 ( —Z T —+ 4 :
million) are held in the Mainland China and are subject 2,340,400,00078 7T ) & & Hb SNE B HIl 1B AT IR
to local exchange control regulations, under which the R o i e E mm e - HhEAmE
balances could not be exported freely out of China. HES  BRERE AR B sk bR
The repatriation of fund out from the Mainland China is 7T e

possibly conducted by way of dividends or other means as
complied to the regulations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR
29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 B
Number Ordinary
of shares shares
RHEE ZER
(Million) HK$ Million
BE BEBT
Authorised SEE
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 R-ZT—+F—HF—H
and 31 December 2018 —E—+E+-A=+—8H
;r=ZT—-N\F+=A
=a—[E 1,200.0 300.0
Issued and fully paid ERITREE
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017  R-Z—+%—F—H
and 31 December 2018 —ET—+F+ZA=1+—H
E=ZF—-N\F+=A
=+—H 528.8 132.2

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

30 RESERVES 30 fEE

Financial

Share Property assets at

premium  Capital Contributed Other  revaluation  Exchange FVOCl  Retained

(Note) reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BAVE
RH2E

RHEE B2

(W) BRBE SARS  HUEE VEEMRE ENRRE CREEEE REER &5
HK$ Million  HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million  HK$ Million  HKS Million  HKS$ Million ~ HKS Million ~ HK$ Million  HKS Million
BEEn PARET  AEEn  AEER  FEER  FEEn  BEEn  BEERn BEER

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-\§-F-BEH 84979 6559 524.7 8.1 627 14298 92 19504 131387
Currency translation differences  AEBI EHIBREFESE

arising from translation of LERBEEE

financial statements of

foreign operations

~ subsidaries -H@aa - - - - - (544.8) - - (544.8)

-associates and ajoint venture  ~BEERAFIR—IAELH - - - - - (1348) - - (134.8)
Dividend paid BIRRE - - (126.9) - - - - - (126.9)

Changes in ownership interestsin & TR REHHBARZ
subsidaries that do not resultin -~ & EREEERER
alossof control arising from & F 424
the following factor

- exercise of a listed -if-FLTHEBARL
subsidiary's warrants TiEE - - 26 - - - - - 24
- acquisition of non-controlling ~ ~WEE—TEHEAEZ
interests of a subsidiary SRS - - (18.9) - - - - - (189)
Profitfor the year AERER - - - - - - - 7341 7341
Balance at 31 December 2018 R=E—-N\E+-f
=t-R&R 84979 655.9 4015 8.1 62.7 750.2 92 26845 13,070.0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

30 RESERVES (continued)

30 fREE@

Financial ~ Available-

Share Property assetsat  forsale
premium Capital Contributed Other  revaluation  Exchange FVOCI investments  Retained
(Note) ~ reserve  suplus  reseve  reseve  reseve  reserve  feseve  eamings Total
BATE
HE2E
Rk Bajlke  AfHE
() BARE SARR  AtGk DEERGE  EXGE CREERE  REER  REEH o8
HKS Million  HK$ Million ~ HK§ Million  HK$ Millon ~ HK$ Million  HKS Million  HKS Million ~ HKS Millon ~ HKS Million  HKS$ Million
BEET BEET REET BEER  AEET  REET  EEfT  BEET  REET  BEAET
Balance at 1 January 2017 R-F—+%&
-f-BER 84979 6559 601.0 8.1 104 5141 - 60 10016 11,3450
Curencytranslation ~ BEEHERGHER
differences arising from ~ FIEE B AE
tranglation of financial ~ E&
statements of foreign
operations
~ subsidiaries -HEAa - - - - - 7643 - - = 7643
- associates and a NI
joint venture —HAREAT = = - - - 1514 - - - 1514
Dividend paid 2iRkE = = (740 = = = = = = (740)
Investments available for A HERE
sale
-Ganinfarvalue  ~ATENE - - - - - - - 32 = 32
Gain on property mEERNE
revaluation - - - - 53 - - - - 523
Changesinownership TSR REHHE
interestsin asubsidiary A EEREEEE)
thatdonotresultina  EREHXZLHE
loss of control arising
from the following factor
~ exercise of alisted ~ff-RLTHE
subsidiary's warrants Al AIRIER - - 23 = = = = = = 23
Profit for the year NEEER = = = = = = = = 8988 8988
Balance at RZE—+E
31 December 2017 TZR=1t-Bf# 84979 6559 547 8.1 627 14298 - 92 19504 131387
Reclassification on FEBaRREER
adoption of HKFRS) ~ £9% 7 EH
Note 21(3) M1 - - - - - . 92 02 . .
Balance at 1 January 2018 =% —/\F—F—H
fa 84979 6559 547 8.1 627 14298 92 - 19504 131387
Note: s
The application of the share premium account is governed by the BDRERZ ARTERE—NN\—DRREBEETAR
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). TEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

31 BORROWINGS 31 &R
2018 2017
—E-N\E —FT—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBET BEAT
Non-current IR ED
Bank borrowings SRITIER 2,463.2 2,174.5
Finance lease liabilities mEHERE 30.6 54.1
Loans from non-controlling JEERRRR R E
shareholders 274.5 279.5
2,768.3 2,508.1
Current R
Bank borrowings RITHER 453.3 260.2
Finance lease liabilities mEHERE 20.7 19.8
Loans from non-controlling FEERIRRE R
shareholders 3.0 8.0
477.0 288.0
Total borrowings (EE7E L0 3,245.3 2,796.1

In 2018 and 2017, the Group's bank borrowings, except
for a bank borrowing with an outstanding balance of
HK$25 million (2017: Nil), are secured by the investment
properties, prepaid land lease payments, property, plant
and equipment and trade receivables of the Group (Notes
14,15, 16 and 25), certain of which are also secured by
the corporate guarantee provided by the Company or its
subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

31 BORROWINGS (continued) 31

(@) At the balance sheet date, the Group’s bank

&R (@)

WEER - AEEZRITERZ B

(a)

borrowings were repayable as follows: Ul
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET
Within one year —FR 453.3 260.2
In the second year FE 382.2 281.9
In the third to fifth year FE=FFRF 1,978.3 1,841.2
After the fifth year & 102.7 51.4
2,916.5 2,434.7
Wholly repayable within five years AR AFERZEHEE 2,616.5 2,253.5
Wholly repayable after five years 7ZBRAFEEEEER 300.0 181.2
2,916.5 2,434.7
(b) The exposure of the Group's borrowings to interest b) AEEERNEEBZFEEHREME K
rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at é%\’ﬂi%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ—l— :
the balance sheet date are as follows:
2018 2017
—E-\F —F—tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEETT
6 months or less 6B AZIAT 2,708.5 22915
6 — 12 months 6Z1218 A 306.2 216.5
3,014.7 2,508.0
ERAER(ZR)ERAR —T—\FFR
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The Group has finance lease liabilities at the balance
sheet date as follows:

Gross finance lease liabilities MEHEaELRE
— minimum lease payments —&EBERE

Within one year —FNA

In the second year FEFE

In the third to fifth year F=ZFERF

Future finance charges on
finance leases

Present value of finance lease
liabilities

The present value of finance lease FMEMEGBEZRMENT :

liabilities is as follows:

Within one year —FNRN
In the second year E_F
In the third to fifth year FE-EZFERF

As at 31 December 2018, loans from non-controlling
shareholders of HK$277.5 million (2017: HK$287.5
million) are unsecured, of which HK$184.0 million
(2017: HK$193.8 million) carries interest at three
to five years’' People’s Bank of China ("PBOC")
lending rate per annum and the remaining balance
of HK$93.5 million (2017: HK$93.7 million) is interest
free.

The loans that are not expected to be repayable
within twelve months are classified as non-current
liabilities. The balance is mainly denominated in
Renminbi.

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

BMEHEZRRBEER

MEHEREZRE

(@

REER  AEBEZREHEREN
T

2018 2017

e —E—t
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT

23.9
24.6
33.9

82.4

19.8
21.8
2.3

73.9

R—BE-NE+=-R=+—8"
277,500,000/ 7T.(=F—4F : 287,500,000
BTL) 2 SRR E SRR - B
184,000,000/ 7T.( —F—+4 : 193,800,000
AL ZRPEARKIT((HEARR
T ==AFERFFERTE - MeRE
93,500,000/ 7T.( = F—-+4F : 93,700,000/
TORAIBRE. °

FETRRER+ —EANEEL K
WAOBAIRDAM - BEEBUAR
WEHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

31 BORROWINGS (continued) 31 ER@E

(e) The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date (e)

were as follows:

REFHZEBBEMEMT

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—+F
HK$ RMB HK$ RMB
BT AR BT N
Bank borrowings RITRER 3.5%4.2%  4.9%-6.55% - 49%-6.55%
Finance lease liabilities MEREERE - 5.75% - 5.75%
Loans from non-controlling  JE#RRE &
shareholders - 4.9% - 4.9%
()  The carrying amounts of the borrowings are H ERZEREERTIESE
denominated in the following currencies:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET
Hong Kong dollars BT 188.0 3.0
Renminbi AR 3,057.3 2,793.1
3,245.3 2,796.1
(@ The Group has the following undrawn borrowing (@ AEEETIADABREEFTEAR
facilities mainly for project development purpose: EHERE :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEER BEET
Fixed rate expiring beyond R—F & EIHREE R =8
one year - 196.7
Floating rate TFENAIE
— expiring within one year — R —FAEIE 25.0 160.0
— expiring beyond one year — A —E1& B H] 451.4 764.4
476.4 1,121.1

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

32 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

32 BARRRHEMENRK

2018 2017

—E-N\E —FT—+F

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEER BEET

Trade payables FERTEER 18.4 17.1
Retention payables FERHRE R 93.3 140.1
Properties sale deposits received BRIk HERS 79.7 164.3
Other payables and accruals HibpE R R EET B A 1,282.9 1,865.5
1,474.3 2,187.0

(@)  The ageing analysis of trade payables at year end was

as follows:

@ RFER BNRRZEERINET

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEER BEET

Less than 2 months DrA2(E A 7.1 5.3
2 to less than 6 months 2E LRGIE A - 0.6
6 to less than 12 months 6 L2E A 0.7 4.1
12 months and more 1288 KA E 10.6 7.1
18.4 17.1

(b) The carrying amounts of the trade and other

b) ENRFAREMENTZREERZRAT

payables are denominated in the following EHEIIE :
currencies:

2018 2017
—2-Nf —T—t%
HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEET BEET
Hong Kong dollars BT 50.8 65.3
Renminbi AR 1,423.5 2,121.7
US dollars e - _
1,474.3 2,187.0
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The deferred income tax liabilities recognised and

movements are as follows:

Fair value
adjustments
oninvestment  Depreciation
properties  allowance
REmE2
AYERE ERR
HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million
BEAR BERT
At1 January 2018 RZE-\$-A-A
Currency translation differences  ER#EZ£E
Charged/(credited) toincome  REHEZIR /(£2)
statement (Note 11) (BiaEn)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\ETZA=t-H
At1 January 2017 R=F—t%5-A-A 10323 377
Currency translation differences R #E =% 9.7 37
Charged/(credited) to income  REHEFIR /(H2)
statement (Note 11) (BiaEn) 285.8 16.1
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tE+ZA=1-H 14178 575

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefits through the future taxable profits is
probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of HK$163.7 million (2017: HK$165.5 million) in
respect of tax losses of HK$936.5 million (2017: HK$946.3
million) to carry forward against future taxable income.
These tax losses have no expiry dates except for the tax
losses of HK$105.7 million (2017: HK$115.5 million) which
will expire at various dates up to and including 2023 (2017:
2022).

The amount due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest
bearing at 3.5% per annum over one-month Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate on outstanding amount and was
repayable on demand. The balance is denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

ERRZELERSHABEREEBNT

Adjustments
on prepaid
land lease
Taxloss  payments  Other items Total
Bt
HEER  HERAE EftiEE a8
HKS Million ~ HK$ Millon ~ HK$ Million  HK$ Million
BEER BEER BEET BEER
(26) 3019 152 13845
(02 230 (36) 1226
- (20.5) 20 2834
(28) 3044 136 17905

fis g F] BE 5 B R PR FE R B F) 6 8 Bl 2 B E FI
@ E - AlepEE s RIEEERRELEME
A E o A% B I £ 3t T 18 B 18 936,500,000
BT (=T —+L4F : 946,300,000/ 7T ) HERIE
FEFRS T & E163,700,00008 T0( — B —+4F :
165,500,000/ 70 ) AJ fE45 82 - FADAKEE A &
ERBIUNA - ZEHEHBBYETEHE - E
105,700,0007% 7t ( = Z —-£4F : 115,500,000/
TLIZHRBEEEREZE S -_=F(B2EZ
ENZE—+tF: T - —F) I ZEAR T
/Hﬂ °

e —RRRFAREIER - ARERBESHE
B — {8 A& B RITR ZEH S35 FH =5t
B WRRERER - SREEABITEHE -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

35 COMMITMENTS 35
(@) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure at the balance sheet date but

AE
(a) BEAEE
REEBEAERMREEZEAAY

not yet incurred is as follows: LU
2018 2017
—2-N\EF e
HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEET BEET
(i) Capital commitments () FEEZEFRFIE
undertaken by the Group
(a) Property, plant and (a) W%t - HLB KRS
equipment
— Contracted but not —BRIKEREE
provided for 283.7 513.7
(b) Property development (b) MEERIAR
projects
- Contracted but not —BERIKEAREE
provided for 159.9 69.1
443.6 582.8
(ii) Capital commitments (i) &ERa]Z BEAANE
undertaken by the joint venture
Property development project YEERIER
— Contracted but — BRI ERERE
not provided for
—the Group's share —REEEN - 189.5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

35 COMMITMENTS (continued) 35 EE@E)
RIBEEIRE 2 RIE

RIBER L0 RET 2 A HHREH
B2 RRKEHSEEMT -

(b) Commitments under operating leases (b)

The aggregate future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of
land and buildings are as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —EB—+F

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BHEERL BEET

No later than 1 year —FR 0.3 0.5
Later than 1 year and BB —ERAERN

no later than 5 years - 0.3

0.3 0.8

(c) Future minimum rental receivable (0 RREEEWESE
The future aggregate minimum rental receivable RIEN A HEH A ST E 2 R RRIE W
under non-cancellable operating leases is as follows: He@EmET

2018 2017

—g-Nn% N

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEER BEET

No later than 1 year —ER 332.7 207.8
Later than 1 year and BE—FREFA

no later than 5 years 664.4 355.0

Later than 5 years BT F 130.0 36.6

1,127.1 599.4

REERBELHERREME LA
BOVFRP—=+=4 THEEEE
BEDHAKRER  ERPTE GG
EFEE  HE—REEF LHURKR
m5HEE - AAHSEREEHE=T
—NER-ZE—tF+-A=+—AL
FEFNER

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The lease runs for an initial period
of one to thirteen years, with an option to renew
the lease when all terms are renegotiated. Lease
payments are usually increased annually to reflect
market rentals. No contingent rent was recognised in
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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The Group's investment property located in
Shenzhen, the PRC is subject to housing facility fund
pursuant to < AV ERFRETERDETIBIEN>
adopted on 1 November 1994. Contingent liabilities
of RMB75.8 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$86.3 million) (2017: RMB75.8 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$90.9 million)) arising in this
respect have been assessed by management with
reference to the legal opinion previously obtained.
Management have requested relief from the relevant
local government authorities on the grounds that
certain amounts of maintenance costs were already
spent for the purposes as specified under the
requirement of housing facility fund, hence no further
provision for the fund is considered necessary.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group arranged bank
financing for certain property buyers and provided
guarantees of HK$516.6 million (2017: HK$569.5
million) in relation to the repayment obligations
for those buyers. The Group had not suffered from
any loss resulting from the above guarantees in
the past, which was mainly because the guarantees
concerned were only a transitional arrangement
for property buyers prior to the completion of
mortgage registration and were pledged against
property rights, in addition to the fact that they
will be released once the mortgage registration is
completed. Considering the above factors, the Board
is of the view that the possibility of default by buyers
is minimal, thus the financial guarantees measured at
fair value is immaterial.
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BER—ANOE+—A—BHEAZ
RIS B R EFEEMESEEG) -
AEBURP BRI Z —BIREMES
RREEAAREERES - ERER
RBEBRAMBZEEERE « AR
I E % 2 3R 8 & A AR ¥ 75,800,000
7T (4945 17486,300,000/8 7T ) (=T —+
£ AR #75,800,0007T (4 1 E R
90,900,000/ 7T)) - AREREBEER
AEEEAESREMAIEE B O
ETRERACHE  BEECRHEBRE
WEAKEAREEREX - AR AL
BEESIE#E— P -

RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—H K&
ERMEzEBENETERLHRITH
B URZEFERNEREERM
Z 1R 516,600,000/ 7T ( ZF — + F :
569,500,000/ 7T ) ° A& EBE W R E
BRERRZEMRK - T2ZARNEH
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Other than the transactions and balances disclosed BRUEVBREREMBOBEZ RS REH
elsewhere in these financial statements, the material N FRER@E AR ZHUT
related party transactions during the year were:

At 31 December 2018, a subsidiary of the Group RZZE—N\F+=—A=+—H F£E
provided guarantee in respect of a facility granted —fHMBARRR T —HEE AR 25
to an associate of HK$82.0 million (2017: HK$100.8 ERbE R 2 #£1R 582,000,000 7L ( =
million). Z—+ % : 100,800,0007%7T) °

The transaction did not constitute a connected BEX S TERBIESSBAS S
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Rules AR ATIES FHEB( BB S
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 1AAETE 7 ERS -

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing

Rules”).

At 31 December 2018, no interest income (2017: R-T—N\&E+-_HA=+—H ~£H
HK$7.9 million) was recognised by a subsidiary of the WER— B AT EREKS S AT
Company on the outstanding amount due from its BBHERINEWA(CE—+4F
joint venture (Note 21). 7,900,000/ 7T ) (FfiE21)

The transaction did not constitute a connected BRAX AT EXRE ETRBIE14A
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing BEERZLHEERS -

Rules.

Key management solely represents directors of the FTEERREREERARRES - B
Company. The compensation paid or payable to key FEMNTFEIEEREKEZMENT :

management is shown as below:

2018 2017

—B-N\F —E—+F

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBT BEET

Director’s fees BEENE 1.3

Salary and other benefits e REAMER 21.7
Employer’s contribution to RS2 B EHK

pension scheme 0.1

23.1

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



During the year, interest expenses on amount due
to a shareholder amounted to HK$9.9 million (2017:
HK$6.2 million) with an outstanding interest expense
payable of HK$2.5 million as at 31 December 2018
(2017: HK$6.2 million).

On 23 January 2017, a subsidiary of the Company
entered into a loan facility agreement with Creator
Holdings Limited (a company indirect wholly-owned
by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric), under which the subsidiary of
the Company might borrow up to HK$300.0 million
until 31 December 2018. The terms of the loan are
set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The transaction did not constitute a connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

On 25 August 2017, the Company entered into
a standby loan facility agreement with Creator
Holdings Limited (a company indirect wholly-owned
by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric), under which the Company
might borrow up to HK$1,000.0 million until 31
December 2018. The loan is unsecured, interesting
bearing at 2.8% per annum over one-month Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate on principal amount
and was repayable on demand. As at 31 December
2018, there has been no outstanding loan balance (31
December 2017: nil).

The transaction did not constitute a connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, an
aggregate of 120,000,000 new shares of a listed
subsidiary of the Group were subscribed by the
Group upon the exercise of bonus warrants, at the
subscription price of HK$0.23 with the total gross
payment of HK$27.6 million.

The transaction did not constitute a connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Profit before income tax

Finance income

Depreciation and amortisation

Fair value adjustments on
investment properties

Write-back of provision of trade
and other payables

Net exchange (gain)/loss

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment — net

Fair value gain on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss — net

Gain on settlement of a financial
liability at fair value through
profit or loss

Gain on disposal of a financial
asset at fair value through
profit or loss

Finance costs

Impairment losses on trade and
other receivables

Provision for impairment of
trade receivables

Share of profits less losses of
associates

Share of loss of a joint venture

Operating profit before working
capital changes

Increase in properties under
development

Increase in prepaid land lease
payments

Decrease in properties held
for sale

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

(Increase)/decrease in other non-
current receivables and trade
and other receivables

Decrease in other non-current
payables and trade and other
payables

Cash generated from operations

2018

—E-N\F
HK$ Million
BHEBT

FR{S T AT 3 7

B A

PrEE R

KEYE L AN EFR

FEA BRI E AL T 3R

BERE

EH (Was),Eia s

HEWE  BEREHEZ

s — 558

BAFEEBERYIERY

CREERSHBEATE

W ss —F58

HEERNTETEERRIEZ

SRaERE

HERAFEEERERYE

SR EE RS

BhE P AN

FEUBR R R E A FE U R 2

REEE

MR TR R B B i
FEERE 2 N R RN RUE

e —FRA%E AT
BEECHEAIRE Eﬂ
EEGEk/E S
TR LA S FIE
1R E G2 mERD
FERD, ()
H A0 IEME FEUL TR UA R FE AR 3R
R E b FEHR (38 ), F

E M IEmEN R A R BT BR K
R E RN SR

REXBAERE

ERAZR(ZR)ERAT

2017
—F—+tF
HK$ Million
BEBL
1,714.9
(32.1)

92.6
(1,110.0)

(32.0)
18.8

(1.0)
0.1

(131.2)

(23.9)
40.7

(70.6)
1,566.8

—T—)\FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

38 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

38 HSMERERERMTT (&

STATEMENT (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) ®EEFEBEEZHER
financing activities
Amount
dueto a
Borrowings  shareholder Total
EN—2F
(EEN BR=E et
HK$ Million  HK$ Million  HK$ Million
BHEBT BHEBT BEBT
As at 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—HA—H (2,796.1) (226.2) (3,022.3)
Cash (inflows)/outflows BECRA),/ it
- principal, net —AK& - FE (611.6) 25.0 (586.6)
Cash outflows b2 Ryl
— interest payment — X fAFE - 13.6 13.6
Foreign exchange [ 3 A
adjustment 159.3 - 159.3
Other non-cash movements H#h3EIR & & &) 3.1 (9.9) (6.8)
As at 31 December 2018 R=T—N\F
+-—A=+—H (3,245.3) (197.5) (3,442.8)
As at 1 January 2017 RZT—tF—A—H (2,944.4) - (2,944.4)
Cash outflows/(inflows), net B&imt GrA) - F58 353.8 (220.0) 133.8
Foreign exchange [ AR
adjustment (211.4) = (211.4)
Other non-cash movements H#bIEH 4 & &) 59 6.2) 0.3
As at 31 December 2017 R-E—+%E+=H4
=+—H (2,796.1) (226.2) (3,022.3)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

39 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

39 ARREERBERERAEEE

Balance sheet of the Company RAREEEGER
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
MIEE BHEBT BEAT
ASSETS EE
Non-current asset EREBEE
[esmenis fsdeslelaries ] I 1544 197e5
Current assets REVEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries =N ¢ 8,949.7 9.414.3
Other receivables b FEUR 0.3 0.3
Cash and cash equivalents R RRESZEY 1.9 96.7
Totalcurrentassets  haBHEEes® 0000000 89519 95113
Total assets BEEMARE 9,106.3 9.668.8
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves KAREEFEA
attributable to equity holders EhERR&HE
of the Company
Share capital B AR 132.2 132.2
Reserves (Note) (M) 8,970.3 9,533.0
Totalequity wmegE 91025 NS TN
LIABILITY afE
Current liability REBAE
Other payables H A e R 3.8 3.6
el ¢ afes 3.5 D
Total equity and liability EEkAEEE 9,106.3 9,668.8

OEl Kang, Eric =)
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel RER
Directors E

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§ 229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

39 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 39 AATEEEEBERRHEEZIHE)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: Reserve movement of the Company Mzt . ARRIREBEES)

Retained
earnings/
Share  Contributed Exchange  (Accumulated

premium surplus reserve losses) Total
REER/

REOEE - ON:: E e (RHER) ]

HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million  HK$ Million

EL EL BEAT HEAT HEAT

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZF-\F-A—-B#H 8,497.9 656.7 276.0 102.4 9,533.0

Currency translation differences EihEzs - - (484.4) - (484.4)

Dividend paid 2kRa - (126.9) - - (126.9)

Profit for the year KERRT - - - 48.6 486

Balance at 31 December 2018 RZB-\E+-A=+-B&H 8,497.9 529.8 (208.4) 151.0 8,970.3

Balance at 1 January 2017 RZE—+F-A—BiH 84979 7307 (168.7) 55 9,054.4

Currency translation differences ERREES - - 4447 - 4447

Dividend paid RAN]) - (74.0) = = (740)

Profit for the year ’EERF - - - 1079 1079

Balance at 31 December 2017 RoB—+F+-A=t—-R&H 84979 656.7 2760 1024 95330

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

The remuneration of every director and chief executive

officer is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

40 ESBERFEBITBRABZEANRERS

BEERITREZNMESIT

BE-T—\F+-AZ+—HILEE

Employer's

contribution

Discretionary ~ to pension
Fees Salary? bonuses® scheme? Total

BiREHE
Name i3 ik Fa B 2EIHR ik
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TARL THL TR THARL
OFEl Tjie Goan SR - - - - -
OFEl Kang, Eric* Elx 175.0 12,221.6 1,251.9 36.0 13,684.5
LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel TER 100.0 2,789.1 326.3 18.0 32334
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy BHER 175.0 2,520.3 294.3 36.0 3,025.6
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel UK 175.0 2,193.9 256.6 36.0 2,661.5
CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico ERE 240.0 - - - 240.0
CHENG Yuk Wo BHA 240.0 - - - 240.0
Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior ~ Z&#i5 240.0 - - - 240.0
1,345.0 19,724.9 2,129.1 126.0 23,325.0

* Chief Executive Officer i FTBAEE

The amounts represented emoluments in respect of

services provided in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking.

f HeBERAREEEEARBLENBE AT
EHAERR TR AF -

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017:

40 EEBERFEBITBRABZEANRERS

(#)
BE—Z—tF+-A=+—HULFE:
Employer's

contribution
Discretionary ~ to pension

Fees Salary* bonuses® scheme Total

RS
Name ez e e WeL  cEEfR e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET FET FHL TAL
OFEI Tjie Goan SR - - - - -
OEl Kang, Eric* =h* 175.0 12,1161 1,201.9 36.0 13,529.0
LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel HEG 100.0 26934 450.0 18.0 32614
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy HER 1750 2,495.2 239.3 36.0 29455
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel P 175.0 21254 309.1 36.0 2,645.5
CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico ERE 240.0 = = = 240.0
CHENG Yuk Wo &M 240.0 - - - 2400
Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior  ZEslig 240.0 - - - 240.0
1,345.0 19,4301 2,200.3 126.0 23,1014

* Chief Executive Officer

The amounts represented emoluments in respect of

services provided in connection with the management of

the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, Mr. OEIl
Tjie Goan voluntarily waived annual director’s fee of
HK$100,000 (2017: HK$100,000).

During the year, other benefits and remunerations in
respect of accepting office as director were paid to or
receivable by the directors in respect of their services
as directors (2017: same as 2018). During the year, no
emoluments were paid or receivable by the directors in
respect of director’s other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2017: Nil).

The retirement benefits paid to directors during
the year ended 31 December 2018 by a defined
contributions plan as disclosed in Note 10 in respect
of their services as a director of the company and its
subsidiaries is HK$126,000 (2017: HK$126,000). No
other retirement benefits were paid to or receivables
by the directors in respect of their services as
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries or
other services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2017: Nil).

During the year, no payments or benefits in respect
of termination of directors’ services were paid or
made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are
any payable (2017: Nil).

BE-Z-N\E+-_A=+—HLEE &
TRTE BREMEFEE SIS 100,000 T(=
T—+4£ 100,000/ 7T) °

FN - BEEERETEEMRHENRBES
NREREREERRERESFNEMBN RS
W(—Z—+%F: BT N\FHER) - FA
EENEREEARSEMNB AR EHMEH
ZEMRBm AR EAMNE(—F—t
FoE|E)-

BHE-_Z-\F+-A=+—HBIF
B RAREBHEI10ME 2 R5E
HFRRETHRAES OB FREE
ARAREMBRREENRKENR
126,000 7T (ZF —+F : 126,000
JT) o MERRERERD R REN B
REEFYRREFRHEEGEARRAAHE
MEARERERNEMREMESS
BN EMERAREN(—F— 5
&) -

FN - BEREERIEEREMER
X X A E = X N SRR AR AR
Mo REEAENTRIA(CT—LF
&) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR R MR

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES (continued)

(iii)

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, no consideration was provided to
or receivable by third parties for making available
directors’ services (2017: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans
or other dealings in favour of the directors, their
controlled bodies corporate and connected entities
(2017: Nil).

Director’'s material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year (2017: Nil).
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE
TEWEAT  BEATR-MAEAR

Listed below are the principal subsidiaries, associates and a joint

venture which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect

the result and/or net assets of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Place of incorporation/

TREJEZRREAEEBE_T

AN

:+— BUFEEER SEEFEEFEZTEM

NCIIR Hﬁ%@ PN E=R YN

1 FENBLF

RABRARES -

operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group's effective
Name legal entity* Principal activities Paid up regstered capital equity interest
i/ R
% EeRRER IEEH BRARE/ BHERER ARERERAES
218 17 2018 a1
R-NE Bt TN R
() Investment holding
RESR
APC Wind Power Pte Limited Singapore Investment holding SGD10 SGD10 55.69% 53.95%
i3 REER 1057 105 mRT
China Renewable Energy Investment ~ Cayman Islands/PRC Investment holding HK$25,061,575 HKS23 646,924 55.69% 53.95%
Liitec!* Rehs/mE RERR 25,061 57557 B892
hEELRRARRAT
China Renewable Energy (Nanxun) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS1 HKS! 55.69% 53.95%
Limited" /98 RERR %7 17T
hEELER (BB ERAA
China Renewable Energy (Songxian) ~ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS1 HKS! 55.69% 53.95%
Limited" /98 RERR %7 17T
hEELER(SE) RO
China Harvest Holdings Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1,000,000 HK$1,000,000 100% 100%
HERERAT /98 RERR 1,000,000%7 10000007
HKC (China) Management Company ~ PRCWholly foreign-owned  Provision of management 558,000,000 598,000,000 100% 100%
Limited” enterprise senvicesin the PRC 8,000,000£% 800000057
FERR(TE)ERARLA hENEERLR Rl
HKC Investment Limited" Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS77,113,850 HKS77,113,850 100% 100%
ERRRRARRAR Bh/4 G 71,113,8507 7111385077
HKC (Nanxun) Holdings Limited" Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS2 HKS2 100% 100%
EhER(ER) eI ERERAT BE /4 REER 27 Vi
HKC Property Investments (China) Brtish Virgin slands/PRC ~ Investment holding Usst USst 100% 100%
Limitec ABRLER/M REER 17 1%

EERAMERA(PE)BRAT

BEER(ZR)ERAR —F

—\FFH
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE

TENBLE  BEQXAR—BEEQH

1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) FEME L E @)
Place of incorporation/
operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group's effective
Name legal entity* Principal activities Paid up regstered capital equity interest
i/ BEaR
£ EEREER IZEH BRARA/ BHERER AREERRARE
018 017 2018 i)
2B St DN CRAR
(a)  Investment holding (continued)
REER(E)
HKC Shenyang Hunan Investments Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS$!1 HKS1 100% 100%
Limited Bh/4 REER %7 17T
BERRERERRARRAR
HKE (Da He) Holdings Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS$!1 HKS1 55.69% 5395%
BT ERERAR BE /4 REER %7 17T
HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited”  Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS4 HKS4 55.6%% 53.95%
B BT REERLA BE /4 REER 4T bR
HKE (Gansu) Wind Power Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS$1 HKS! 55.69% 53.95%
ERTR(ERRRARAT EE/98 REER %7 i
Hong Kong Construction (Interior Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$10,000 HK§10,000 100% 100%
Contracting) Limited a%/48 REmR 10,0007 1000047
ERRR(FEIR)ARAT
Hong Kong Construction Tianjin Tuan Po Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$462,000,000 HK$462,000,000 100% 100%
Hu Investment Limited BE/0E REER 462,000,000%7 462,000,005
ERRRRREANREARAR
Hong Kong Construction (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong Investment holding HK$150,000,000 HK$150,000,000 100% 100%
Limited i35 REER 150,000,000% 7 150,000,000%7
EARR(ER) IRERLA
Hong Kong New Energy (SiZi Wang Qi) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS2 HKS2 55.69% 53.95%
Wind Power Limited* F5/08 RERR T WT
EATRR(NT IR RRARAT
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qill) - Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS1,000 HK§1,000 55.69% 53.95%
Wind Power Limited* BB/ ER 1,000%% 100087

ERTR(DT TE_ R RRARAE
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE
FTEMBEAR  BEQXTAR—BEERQT

1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) TENB AT @)
Place of incorporation/
operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group's effective
Name legal entity* Principal activities Paid up regstered capital equity interest
i/ AR
£ EEREER IZEH BRARA/ BHERER AREERRARE
018 017 2018 i)
Z8-)% EtE N ERE
(a)  Investment holding (continued)
REER(E)
HKC (Shanghai Guangtian) Holdings ~ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS$1 HKS1 100% 100%
Limitect BE/4 REmR %7 i
BRER(LARR)ARARAR
Karoony Investment Limited" Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$10,000,000 HK$10,000,000 100% 100%
Eh/1E RRAR 10,000,007 1000000037
Noble Quest Enterprises Limited British Virgin lands/ Investment holding USS1 Usst 100% 100%
Hong Kong RERR 127 %0
ABRLES/ B
Sinoriver International Limited Brtish Virgin slands/PRC  Investment holding Usst USst 55.6%% 53.95%
PIERERAT ABRLER/HE REER 17 1%
Sinoriver International (Wind Power) ~ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS20 HK$20 55.69% 53.95%
Limited" BE/98 RER %R Nt
ISR (BE)ERAT
The Legation Quarter Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$82,105,263 HK$82,105,263 804% 709%
ReREALERARAT T B 82,105,263%7 82,105.2637870
(o) Property investment
LES S
Hong Kong Construction (China) PRC Wholly foreign-owned  Investment in shopping S885,500,000 S$85,500,000 100% 100%
Engineering Company Limited* enterprise mall of South Ocean 85,500,000% 7 85,500 000% 70
ERRR(VE)IRERLA REEEELE Centre, Shenzhen,
the PRC
REMERITEA
hLHES
Karbony Real Estate Development PRC Wholly foreign-owned  Investment in offices, and US$155,000,000 US§155,000,000 100% 100%
(Shenzhen) Company Limited® enterprise shopping mall of Shun 155,000,000% 7 155 00000057
FREHERE (R ARAR REBEALE Hing Square, Shenzhen,
the PRC
REPERITERES
W AZRER

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE
FTEMBEAR  BEQXTAR—BEERQT

1  PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation/

1 EEHBAR @R

operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group's effective
Name legal entity* Principal activities Paid up regstered capital equity interest
i/ AR
£ FRERED TERR BRARA/ BHERER AREERRARE
018 017 2018 i)
Z8-)% EtE N ERE
(b} Property investment (continued)
NERE(R)
Sky Universe Limited Briish Virgin Islands/ Property holding of US$1 US$1 100% 100%
Hong Kong 9/F, Tower 1 South Seas 127 151
ABRLES/BE Centre, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
RRUREENEADE
B IEE R
FRSTERGR) RRERAT PRC Wholly foreign-owned ~ Investment in property for US$18,200,000 /5$18,200,000 804% 109%
enterprise restaurants and retails in 18,200,000%7 18.200000% 7
RENEEALR Beijng, the PRC
RERESAmNES
£EREE
Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate PRC Sino-foreign equity  Real estate development RMB2,300,000,000 RMB2,300,000,000 60% 60%
Development Company Limited” joint venture in Hongkou District in AR%2,300,000,0007 AR2,300,000,000%
LERARUEREERAT hERIRELR Shanghai, the PRC
K98 LETINE
RERtE
() Property development
NERR
Huzhou Nanxun Intemational Building ~ PRC Wholly foreign-owned  Development and 15$48,000,000 548,000,000 100% 100%
Market Center Company Limited” enterprise operation of a bulding 48,000,000%7 4800000057t
SNEEER R AR AR hEINEERRE materials centre in
Huzhou, the PRC
REENERR
BEREIHRL
Tianjin Jingang Real Estate Investment  PRC Limited liablity Real estate development in RMB500,000,000 RMB500,000000 100% 100%
Company Limited” company Nankai Distrct in Tianjin, AR#500,000,0007% ARH500,000,0007
RAMERERREARAT hERRERAT the PRC

238
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE
FTEMBEAR  BEQXTAR—BEERQT

1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 1 TENB AT @)
Place of incorporation/
operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group's effective
Name legal entity* Principal activities Paid up regstered capital equity interest
i/ AR
£ EEREER IZEH BRARA/ BHERER AREERRARE
018 017 2018 i)
Z8-)% EtE N ERE
() Property development (continued)
NEER(E)
Tianjin Eka Properties Company Limited"  PRCWholly foreign-owned  Real estate development HK$452,200,000 HK§452200,000 100% 100%
REZBERERLF enterprise in Tuanbo Lake of Jinhai 452,200,000%7 452,200,003
TENEBALE County in Tianjin, the
PRC
RAERETHEHE R
RERE
Tianjin Ruigang Enterprise Management  PRCWholly foreign-owned  Real estate development in HK$230,000,000 HK$690,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited® enterprise Tianjin, the PRC 230,000,000 % 690,000,00077
REDRELFERERAT hEEEELE RERETRERE
SRER(B5)ERAA PRC Wholly foreign-owned  Real estate development at HK$928,000,000 HK$928,000,000 100% 100%
enterprise Ningbo Road in Heping 928,000,007 928,000,000
hENEERRE District in Shenyang, the
PRC
R ERETATRENA
HERtE
BARR(IRNNERRARAT PRC Wholly foreign-owned  Real estate development in RMB260,000,000 RMB260,000,000 100% 100%
enterprise Jiangmen, the PRC AE%260,000,000% AE260,000,0007
hENEEELE RAEIFTRERLE
(d)  Renewable energy
BERE
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) Company  PRC Sino-foreign equity  Wind Power project in HK$100,000,000 HK$100,000,000 47.89% 46.40%
Limited** joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC 100,000,000:37 100,000,000
BB AT ERAR hEREELE RAERRT A NEERR
Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) PRC Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind Power project in HK$150,100,000 HK$150,100,000 48.27% 48.76%
Company Limited" joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC 150,100,000:37 150,100,000% 7
FRRNRE (R ARAR hEREELE BRI B NEERR
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE
FTEMBEAR  BEQXTAR—BEERQT

1  PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation/

1 EEHBAR @R

operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group's effective
Name legal entity* Principal activities Paid up regstered capital equity interest
i/ BEaR
£ EEREER IZEH BRARA/ BHERER AREERRARE
018 017 2018 i)
Z8-)% TEtE SN ERE
() Renewable energy (continued)
BERE()
Huzhou HKE Energy Liited"* PRC Wholly foreign-owned  Distributed Solar project in RMB15,000,000 RMB5,000,000 55.69% 5395%
A RERAR enterprise Nanxun, Zhejiang, A& %15,000,0007 AR#6,000,0007
hEERELE the PRC
RAEFTEEZ A
AERER
Songxian HKE Wind Power Limited ~ PRC Wholly foreign-owned  Wind Power project n RMB174,000,000 RMB149,000,000 55.69% 53.95%
BEARBEARLR enterprise Songyian, Henan, the AR174,000,000% AE149,000,0007
hEEEELE PRC
RETEEE
PENEELE
ARRMALT IR ARAR PRC Wholly foreign-owned  Wind Power project n RMB166,480,000 RMB166,480,000 55.69% 5395%
enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner AER166,480,0007 AEH166,480,0007
hENEERLR Mongolia, the PRC
REBRRANTIEL
BN%EER
e RN T IR ARAA PRC Wholly foreign-owned  Wind Power project n RMB172,526,500 RMB172,526,500 55.69% 5395%
enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner AR#172,526,5007 ARE72526,5007
HENERERE Mongolia, the PRC
RABREERT TR
BNEEAR
() Property services
LES
Shenzhen Kumagai Property PRC Sino-foreign equity  Provision of property HKS$60,000,000 HK$60,000,000 100% 100%
Management Company Limited" joint venture management service 60,000,000 7 60,000,00077c
MIEANXERERLT hERRELE RUNZEERE
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE

TENBLE  BEQXAR—BEEQH

2 PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES 2 EBERNT
Place of Group's effective
Name Issued share capital/registered capital incorporation/operation equity interest
&8 BRIRE/HRES EHANES 2 AREZRRR RS
2018 2017 218 2017
“R-NF I e CE-NE CRtE
(a)  Property investment
VES
Hong Kong Construction SMC Development Limited* HK$10,000,000 HK$10,000,000  Hong Kong/PRC 40% 40%
BERRERSRARLA 10,000,000%5 1000000087 &%/%&
(b} Renewable energy
BERE
CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power Company Limited*” RMB589,620,000 RMB589,620,000 PRC 22.28% 21.58%
heER(HR R NREARAR AR#589,620,0007 ARH589,6200007 8
CECIC HKC Wind Power Company Limited™* RMB545,640,000 RMB545,640,000 PRC 22.28% 21.58%
hERERENRE (R ARAF AR#545,640,0007 ARB456400007 8
CECIC HKE Wind Power Company Limited"! RMB323,260,000 RMB323,260000 PRC 1671%  16.19%
hERERE N RE (R ARAR! AE#323,260,0007 ARH323,26000070 e

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE
TEHEAT  BEAAR-HMAEAT

3 A JOINT VENTURE 3 —BEeE LT
Form of business structure/  Place of Group's effective
Name Kind of legal entity establishment/operation equity interest
£ EBRRFREEERER  IMALSERE AEEZBRRASES

2018 2017
—g-NF —TiF

Property investment

MERE
Shanghai Jingang North Bund Real Wholly foreign-owned PRC 25% 25%
Estate Company Limited*? enterprise FiE
bEeBItNEEEER AR SNEBE K
Notes: BsE
¢ Unofficial English transliterations or translation for 0 JEFR B T o B (R Y
identification purposes only
* Interest held by subsidiaries + MM BEATISE
k China Renewable Energy Investment Limited is listed on the b B A AL RIS A S R A B AT E T
Stock Exchange of which the stock code is 987. BR 17 L35 5987 o
4 The above legal entities are limited liability company, unless 2 B EHEFIEN - il EmEaER AR .

otherwise stated.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hFERBRERBE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—2-\f ZT+tf ZER"F ZT-nFf CTMmF
HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million  HK$ Million  HK$ Million  HK$ Million
BHEBT HEBTL BHEBTL BEBTL BEBTL
Consolidated income statement FEBREE
Revenue Wiz 1,270 1,789 1,640 1,273 881
Profit/(loss) before income tax FrERiATEF/ (BE) 1,269 1,715 1,189 (571) 218
Income tax expense iyt (312) 471) (600) 9 (169)
Profit/(loss) for the year REEHN,/ (B18) 957 1,244 589 (580) 49
Non-controlling interests JEIE R (223) (345) (203) 82 (136)
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity A THEREAE AL
holders of the Company wE (ER) 734 899 386 (498) 87)
Dividends sy 127 74 = = =
Consolidated balance sheet BABEEER
Net current assets REBETE 2,058 1,576 1,946 2,167 2,666
Non-current assets FEREEE 18,547 18,679 15,304 15,724 16,610
Non-current liabilities ERHEE (4,651) (4,299 (3,623) (4,049) (4,180)
Net assets including BEFE (DA EERER)
non-controlling interests 15,954 15,956 13,627 13,842 15,096
Share capital R 132 132 132 132 116
Reserves e 13,070 13,139 11,345 11,628 12,587
Non-controlling interests JEpR R 2,752 2,685 2,150 2,082 2,393
Total equity BReE 15,954 15,956 13,627 13,842 15,096
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“2-\f ZT+tf ZERF ZT-nFf ZTMmF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT o o
Earnings/(loss) per share? BRER /(BB
- basic 7 1.388 1.700 0.730 (1.002) (0.193)
—diluted -8 1.383 1.700 0.728 (1.032) (0.228)
Dividend per share? SRR
- attributable to the year —FEREN 0.24 0.14 = = =
Return on total equity” S EEp ke 6.0% 7.8% 4.3% (4.2%) 0.3%

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§



Notes:

# Earnings/(loss) per share and dividend per share were restated to
reflect the share consolidation.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the special general meeting held on 6 October
2016, every twenty-five (25) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in
the issued and unissued share capital of the Company were
consolidated into one (1) consolidated ordinary share of HK$0.25
each in the issued and unissued share capital of the Company
effective on 7 October 2016.

4 Return on total equity represents profit/loss for the year expressed
as a percentage of the closing total equity for the year concerned.
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

FEYPF—EX

(as at the date of the annual report)
(RAFHRAH)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - completed

REVWFE-SEN

(Approx.)
(Approx.)  Attributable
GFA GFA
Location Existing use Shareholding (sq.m.) (sq.m.) Term of lease
(X&) (K#)
BEAER EEEEAER
hE ARifAZ i (7K (E5K) HES
The shopping mall, all car parking spaces and Offices and shops 100% 31,000 31,000 Medium
1/F, 2/F and 58/F offices, BAERAERE i
Shun Hing Square, Di Wang Commercial Centre,
No. 5002 Shennan Road East, Luohu, Shenzhen,
the PRC
T BRI 7 28 31 R P SR 500258,
BREESHIEERLONENES -
FEEERRIE  ZERSBENRAE
The shopping mall and all car parking Shops 100% 6,300 6,300 Medium
spaces, South Ocean Centre, Bk ik
Dongmen Road Central, Shenzhen, the PRC
BRI MR RE R LB B RERES
Various shops, Shops 80.4% 17,100 13,700 Short
No. 23 Qianmen, Dong Dajie, [l 25
Dongcheng, Beijing, the PRC
AR Bl R R B RIFIR A 235 0 5 55
Various shops in Zone B &C, Shops 100% 97,000 97,000 Medium
Construction Materials Market, BE i

Nanxun Economic Development District,
Huzhou City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
R BT AN TR SRR ERER
EEMHEHBE RCENSHESE

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
FEYR-EBEX

(as at the date of the annual report)
(RAFHRAH)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - completed (continued) REWE-EER @)

(Approx.)
(Approx.) Attributable
GFA GFA
Location Existing use Shareholding (sq.m.) (sq.m.) Term of lease
(K#) (K#9)
BEAER EAEELAEE
ks gl g (EAK) (E5K) HES
Three apartment units, various shops and Shops and residential 40% 35,300 14,100 Medium
all car parking spaces of CITIC Plaza, BEREE ik
No. 233 Tianhe Road North, Tianhe District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, the PRC
R EEREENTRAR KT B335
HERGHIEEEEN - ZEERRMEEES
Units 1to 7 on 28th Floor, Offices of City Centre, Offices 100% 1,487 1,487 Medium
Junctions of Xikang Road and Chengdu Road, N ik
Heping District, Tianjin, the PRC
fIRREXRETANTRERRENHERA
BEROBERAETREN
The shopping mall, office tower 1 and 2 of Shanghai Offices and shops 60% 191,000 114,600 Medium
Landmark Center, BRAERAERE ik
No. 88 Sichuan North Road, Hongkou District,
Shanghai, the PRC
fur R B AT O )1 3 5885
DEEERLNBES  —ERZENNE
The shopping mall, office tower of Sinar Mas Plaza, Offices and shops 25% 253,000 63,250 Medium
locaed in the Northern side of the BAERAERE ik
International Passenger Transportation
Cruise Terminal of Hongkou District,
Shanghai, the PRC
i e M DR ERBREEL AR ERESN
B RNE
Various portions of 9th floor of Tower 1, Offices 100% 425 425 Medium
South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, PAR el
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
MR EAN R BREETSHR R L — RN E TR
341,862
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

FEVE-BER

(as at the date of the annual report)
(RAFHRAH)

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BEDYIE
— for sale purpose —FHERR
(Approx.)
(Approx.)  (Approx.) Attributable
Share- Stage of Expectedyear ~ Site area GFA GFA
Location Intended use  holding  completion of completion (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
(K#)
(R#) (K#) 3
ik BEEE BEAERE amE
e RERR BiE EREE EHRESD (5K (E7K) (EHK)
A parcel of land along the eastern  Residential 100% Planning stage - 804,000 836,000 836,000
shore of Tuanbo Lake, Jinhai 2 REIRE
County, Tianjin, the PRC
fIRREXEME S
EaRAREE B
Two parcels of land (Zone A, C2)  Residential 100% Construction stage 2019-2020 26,000 81,000 81,000
located at Ningpo Road, Heping  and shops and Planning stage “E-HER
District, Shenyang, the PRC EEREE TEREBRRRSREE —E-TE
IR EEE AT E
BREzMELHA  QF)
917,000

FEER(EZER)ERAA —F— \FF§
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(as at the date of the annual report)
(RAFHRAH)

Location Intended use
% RERz
Various shops in Zone B &C, Shops
Construction Materials Market, 515

Nanxun Economic Development
District, Huzhou City, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC

fr e BT A MM
HELERER
BERSBMEER
BERCERHZREH

Various residential units in Tianjin Eka ~ Residential
Garden, South of Hongaj South Road, £

Nanki District, Tiajin, the PRC

IR EXETERE

AERRIAR R 2R

LEERE

Various residential units and shops ~ Residential
in Jiangmen Eka Garden, Jianghai and shops
District, Jiangmen, Guangdong REREE

Province, the PRC

fIRHEEREIMmLER

IFEBREE SREERER

Various residential units (Zone B, Residential
B1-B4, B6-B11, Zone C1,C5-C)in %
Shenyang Eka Garden, Ningpo Road,

Heping District, Shenyang, the PRC

frRPEEE AT E

ERBEGLETE

(BEB1-B4 - B6-B11 -+ C1EC5-Ch)

LEBRE

HKC (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

Shareholding

i

100%

100%

100%

100%

(Approx.)
Site area
(sq.m.)

(x8)
HEER
(¥5%)

68,000

54,000

95,000

41,000

(Approx.)
GFA
(sq.m.)

(x80)
REAER
(F5%)

83,000

150,000

189,000

183,000

(Approx.)
GFA remain
unsold as at

31 December
2018

(sq.m.)
(R#)R

“E-N\%

+ZA=1+-H

HREEZ

BEAER

(EFHX)

24,100

28,400

24,200

26,600

(Approx.)
Attributable
GFA remain
unsold as at

31 December
2018

(sq.m.)

(K& EAER

“E-N\%F

+=R=1-H

HREEZ

BRAER

(EHX)

24,100

28,400

24,200

26,600

103,300



HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BBER (BR) BRAH

9/F.,Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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